Structure of Hecke algebras arising from types

Jeffrey D. Adler, Jessica Fintzen, Manish Mishra, and Kazuma Ohara

Abstract

Let G denote a connected reductive group over a non-archimedean local field F of residue characteristic p, and let C denote an algebraically closed field of characteristic $\ell \neq p$. If ρ is an irreducible smooth C-representation of a compact, open subgroup K of G(F), then the pair (K, ρ) gives rise to a Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$. For a large class of pairs (K, ρ) , we show that $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ is a semi-direct product of an affine Hecke algebra with explicit parameters with a twisted group algebra, and that it is isomorphic to $\mathcal{H}(G^0(F), (K^0, \rho^0))$ for some reductive subgroup $G^0 \subset G$ with compact, open subgroup K^0 and depth-zero representation ρ^0 of K^0 .

The class of pairs that we consider includes all depth-zero types, and we recover as a special case of our results the depth-zero Hecke algebra description of Morris. In a second paper, we will show that our class also contains all of the types constructed by Kim and Yu, and hence we obtain as a corollary that arbitrary Bernstein blocks are equivalent to depth-zero Bernstein blocks under minor tameness assumptions.

The pairs to which our results apply are described in an axiomatic way so that the results can be applied to other constructions of types by only verifying that the relevant axioms are satisfied. The Hecke algebra isomorphisms are given in an explicit manner and are support preserving.

Last updated: August 18, 2024

MSC2020: Primary 22E50, 22E35, 20C08, 20C20. Secondary 22E35

Keywords: p-adic groups, smooth representations, Hecke algebras, types, Bernstein blocks, mod- ℓ coefficients The first-named author was partially supported by the American University College of Arts and Sciences Faculty Research Fund.

The second-named author was partially supported by NSF Grants DMS-2055230 and DMS-2044643, a Royal Society University Research Fellowship, a Sloan Research Fellowship and the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement no. 950326).

The third-named author was partially supported by a Fulbright-Nehru Academic and Professional Excellence Fellowship and a SERB Core Research Grant (CRG/2022/000415).

The fourth-named author is supported by the FMSP program at Graduate School of Mathematical Sciences, the University of Tokyo and JSPS KAKENHI Grant number JP22J22712.

Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	Overview of the main results	3		
	1.2	Some prior and related work	5		
	1.3	Sketch of the proofs of the main statements	7		
	1.4	Structure of the paper	9		
	1.5	Guidance for the reader	10		
2	Preliminaries 1				
	2.1	Notation	11		
	2.2	Hecke algebras and endomorphism algebras	12		
3	Structure of the Hecke algebra				
	3.1	The affine space	16		
	3.2	Affine hyperplanes	18		
	3.3	Quasi- G -covers	19		
	3.4	Family of quasi-G-covers and a group structure on the Hecke algebra support $\ . \ . \ .$	20		
	3.5	Intertwining operators and a basis of the Hecke algebra $\hfill \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$.	26		
	3.6	Relations in the length-additive case	37		
	3.7	The structure of the indexing group $\hfill \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	39		
	3.8	Simple reflections and quadratic relations	42		
	3.9	The coefficients in the quadratic relations in characteristic zero $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	51		
	3.10	The description of the Hecke algebra $\hdots \hdots \hdot$	54		
	3.11	Anti-involution of the Hecke algebra	58		
	3.12	(Non) uniqueness of the Hecke algebra isomorphism $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	60		
4	Con	nparison of Hecke algebras	61		
	4.1	The set-up	61		
	4.2	Compatible families of quasi- G -covers $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	63		
	4.3	\mathcal{K} -relevance vs. \mathcal{K}^0 -relevance	64		
	4.4	Hecke algebra isomorphism $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	67		
	4.5	Preserving the anti-involutions	73		
	4.6	Application: Equivalence of Bernstein blocks	74		

5	Hecke algebras of depth-zero pairs		
	5.1	Construction of depth-zero pairs	76
	5.2	Affine hyperplanes	77
	5.3	The structure of Hecke algebras attached to depth-zero pairs $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	78
List of axioms Selected notation		82 83	

85

References

1 Introduction

The category of all smooth complex representations of a p-adic group G decomposes as a product of indecomposable, full subcategories, called Bernstein blocks, each of which is equivalent to modules over a Hecke algebra under minor tameness assumptions. Therefore knowing the explicit structure of these Hecke algebras and their modules yields an understanding of the category of smooth representations. The famous example of the Iwahori–Hecke algebra has already been described in the 1960s, and the structure of the above Hecke algebras for GL_n have been known since the 1990s, and all of them played an important role in representation theory. However, comparatively little has been known about the structure of these Hecke algebras in the general setting above. In this paper, we provide an explicit description of a large class of such Hecke algebras as a semi-direct product of an affine Hecke algebra with a twisted group algebra. The Hecke algebras that we treat are endomorphism-valued functions on the *p*-adic group that transform on an appropriate compact, open subgroup K via a sufficiently nice irreducible representation ρ . By [FOAM], these Hecke algebras include among others the prior-mentioned Hecke algebras of Bernstein blocks that exist under minor tameness assumptions. Moreover, we obtain an isomorphisms between Hecke algebras attached to our general pairs (K, ρ) with Hecke algebras attached to much simpler pairs of reductive subgroups of G, e.g., pairs (K^0, ρ^0) with ρ^0 a depth-zero representation. In the special case of Bernstein blocks, this provides an isomorphism between a Bernstein block of positive-depth and a depth-zero Bernstein block. The Hecke algebra of the latter was essentially already known by Morris [Mor93], while the positive-depth Hecke algebras for general p-adic groups remained a mystery until now. To be precise, Morris' work only provides the Hecke algebras attached to (potentially non-singleton) finite products of depth-zero Bernstein blocks, but we also obtain a description of the Hecke algebras for single Bernstein blocks in the present paper.

The general axiomatic set-up of this present paper allows for the possibility of applying the results to, for example, Hecke algebras attached to Bernstein blocks arising from other (including future) constructions of pairs (K, ρ) that do not rely on the above minor tameness assumptions. Moreover, we allow arbitrary algebraically closed fields of characteristic different from p as our coefficients.

1.1 Overview of the main results

To explain our results in more detail, let F denote a non-archimedean local field, G a connected reductive group over F, and C an algebraically closed field of characteristic different from p.

To a pair consisting of a compact, open subgroup K of G(F) and an irreducible smooth Crepresentation (ρ, V_{ρ}) of K, we attach the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ of compactly supported
functions $\varphi : G(F) \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{C}}(V_{\rho})$ that satisfy $\varphi(k_1gk_2) = \rho(k_1) \circ \varphi(g) \circ \rho(k_2)$ for all $k_1, k_2 \in K$ and $g \in G(F)$. The algebra structure arises from the convolution recalled in Section 2.2. These
algebras are closely related to smooth representations of G(F) as follows. The category of smooth C-representations decomposes into a product of indecomposable, full subcategories. In the case
that $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$, one calls these subcategories *Bernstein blocks*, and under additional mild tameness
assumptions, this decomposition takes the form

$$\operatorname{Rep}(G(F)) = \prod_{(K,\rho)} \operatorname{Rep}^{(K,\rho)}(G(F)),$$

where the product is taken over appropriate pairs (K, ρ) such that each block $\operatorname{Rep}^{(K,\rho)}(G(F))$ is equivalent (via an explicit equivalence recalled in Section 4.6) to the category of unital right modules over $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$:

$$\operatorname{Rep}^{(K,\rho)}(G(F)) \simeq \operatorname{Mod-} \mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$$

([Ber84, BK98, Yu01, KY17, Fin21a, Fin21b]). The pairs (K, ρ) in the above Bernstein decomposition were constructed by Kim and Yu ([KY17, Fin21a]) and are a special case of what Bushnell and Kutzko ([BK98]) called \mathfrak{s} -types.¹

The pairs (K, ρ) that we consider in this paper are described in terms of four axioms, Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, that distill the key properties of the \mathfrak{s} -types constructed by Kim and Yu that are used to prove our main results below about the structure of the attached Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$. Working with general pairs that satisfy only these four axioms means that our results will be applicable in a much broader setting than just for the \mathfrak{s} -types constructed by Kim and Yu. This is expected to include among others future constructions of \mathfrak{s} -types in the non-tame setting.

We now fix a pair (K, ρ) that satisfies our axioms. The first main result, Theorem 3.10.10, describes the structure of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ via an explicit isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q),$$
(1.1.1)

where $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ is an affine Weyl group that is a normal subgroup of a larger symmetry group $\Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, q: S \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ is a parameter function on a set S of simple reflections generating $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, \mathcal{H}(W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, q)$ denotes the corresponding affine Hecke algebra, and $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}]$ denotes the group algebra of $\Omega(\rho_M)$ twisted by a 2-cocycle $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$. Both of these latter algebras, and the meaning of their semi-direct product, are recalled in Notation 3.10.8.

The second main result (see Theorems 4.4.8 and 4.4.11 and Corollary 4.5.2) is the existence of a full-rank reductive subgroup $G^0 \subseteq G$ and an irreducible representation ρ^0 of $K^0 := K \cap G^0(F)$ with $\rho = \rho^0 \otimes \kappa$ for some smooth representation κ , where we view ρ^0 also as a representation of K via an inflation map described in Axiom 4.2.1(2), such that we obtain an explicit, support-preserving isomorphism of Hecke algebras

$$\mathcal{H}(G^0(F), (K^0, \rho^0)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho)).$$
(1.1.2)

¹For the experts, in this introduction, we use " \mathfrak{s} -type" to mean "a type corresponding to a single Bernstein block". The \mathfrak{s} does not refer to a specific block.

In the case where the pairs (K, ρ) and (K^0, ρ^0) are both \mathfrak{s} -types, this leads to an equivalence of categories (Theorem 4.6.3):

$$\operatorname{Rep}^{(K,\rho)}(G(F)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Rep}^{(K^0,\rho^0)}(G^0(F)).$$
(1.1.3)

The possibilities for the triple (G^0, K^0, ρ^0) are described in an axiomatic way, via Axioms 4.1.2, 4.2.1, and 4.3.1. In the case of the \mathfrak{s} -types constructed by Kim and Yu, one can always choose a triple (G^0, K^0, ρ^0) with ρ^0 of depth zero. In fact, in this case, one option for the triple is already part of the input of the construction by Kim and Yu, twisted by a quadratic character introduced by [FKS23]. Since under minor tameness assumptions every Bernstein block has an \mathfrak{s} -type of the form constructed by Kim and Yu, this allows one to reduce a plethora of problems about representations of *p*-adic groups to the depth-zero setting.

While we have chosen an axiomatic treatment distilling the key properties that are really necessary for our proofs so that the results can be applied to a variety of different constructions of types, including future ones, and different settings, including coefficients of positive characteristic, we also show in the short Section 5 that all depth-zero \mathfrak{s} -types as well as the depth-zero types corresponding to parahoric subgroups satisfy the axioms. Thus our first main result in that case recovers and generalizes a result of Morris ([Mor93]). The proof that all \mathfrak{s} -types constructed by Kim and Yu satisfy our axioms is deferred to [FOAM] as it involves the extension of the quadratic twist introduced by [FKS23] to a group of representatives for the whole support of the Hecke algebra and a careful analysis of the Heisenberg–Weil representations. This uses a different style of arguments and is of independent interest.

1.2 Some prior and related work

While our works are the first to provide an explicit description of Hecke algebras attached to such a broad class of generalizations of types of arbitrary reductive groups, which include in particular types for all Bernstein blocks if $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$, the group G splits over a tamely ramified extension and p does not divide the order of the absolute Weyl group of G, mathematicians have studied and used such Hecke algebras since the 1960s and obtained results about their structure in special cases.

A famous example of the Hecke algebras that we consider is the Iwahori–Hecke algebra attached to the Iwahori subgroup and the trivial complex representation thereof. The Iwahori–Hecke algebra was described in 1965 by Iwahori and Matsumoto for adjoint, split semisimple groups ([IM65]) and their work was fundamental for further developments in the area.

If G is split and semisimple, and one replaces the trivial character of the Iwahori subgroup I by a depth-zero character χ , then Goldstein [Gol90] computed the Hecke algebras attached to (I, χ) , showing that such an algebra is isomorphic to the Iwahori–Hecke algebra of a smaller group. In a vast generalization, Morris ([Mor93]) described in 1993 all the Hecke algebras attached to pairs (K, ρ) where K is a parahoric subgroup of G(F) and ρ is an irreducible, cuspidal representation of the quotient of K by its pro-p unipotent radical, i.e., (K, ρ) is a depth-zero type for a finite union of Bernstein blocks by the work of Moy and Prasad ([MP94, MP96]) and, independently, of Morris ([Mor99]).

Knowing the Hecke algebras of types of Bernstein blocks allows one to study the representations in the Bernstein block via modules of the corresponding Hecke algebra. An example of this approach is Lusztig's famous work ([Lus95, Lus02]) in which he classified all unipotent representations of adjoint simple algebraic groups that split over an unramified extension by classifying the representations of the corresponding Hecke algebras using their explicit structure. Unipotent representations are a special class of depth-zero representations, and Lusztig's work provides an important case of an explicit local Langlands correspondence. The restriction to adjoint groups was later removed by Solleveld ([Sol23]), again using the explicit structure of the affine Hecke algebras attached to types of Bernstein blocks consisting of unipotent representations.

Beyond depth-zero representations, building on the work of a lot of mathematicians on special cases over several decades, Bushnell and Kutzko ([BK93a]) provided a description of all of the Hecke algebras attached to types for all Bernstein blocks for the group GL_n in parallel to constructing these types. Their description of the Hecke algebras played an important role for the construction of the types themselves as well as for proving the exhaustiveness of their construction of supercuspidal representations. Using results from Bushnell and Kutzko on supercuspidal representations of SL(n)([BK93b, BK94]), Goldberg and Roche ([GR02, GR05]) provided a complete collection of types for all Bernstein blocks of SL(n) and described the structure of the resulting Hecke algebras. Sécherre and Stevens ([SS08]) achieved the same for all inner forms of GL(n), and Miyauchi and Stevens ([MS14]) provided types for all classical groups assuming that $p \neq 2$ and described the Hecke algebras corresponding to types associated to maximal proper Levi subgroups. For general split reductive groups, Roche ([Roc98]) described types and the corresponding Hecke algebras for all principal series Bernstein blocks under mild hypotheses on p.

For reductive groups G that split over a tamely ramified field extension, Kim and Yu ([KY17]) provided a construction of types based on Yu's construction of supercuspidal representations ([Yu01, Fin21a]) that provides types for all Bernstein blocks if p does not divide the order of the absolute Weyl group of G ([Fin21b]). These types are a special case of the setting in which the results of the present paper apply, as we show in [FOAM].

Recently, Solleveld ([Sol22]) has taken a different approach to understanding Bernstein blocks of arbitrary connected reductive groups by studying modules over the endomorphism algebras $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\Pi)$ of a progenerator Π of a Bernstein block. Under an assumption of the existence of a nice 2-cocycle ([Sol22, Corollary 9.4]), he proved that the category of finite-dimensional right modules over $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\Pi)$ is equivalent to the category of finite-dimensional right modules over a twisted affine Hecke algebra (but these algebras are not isomorphic). Solleveld also studied the endomorphism algebra of a smaller progenerator Π_1 of a Bernstein block. Under the assumption that the supercuspidal representation of the supercuspidal support of the Bernstein block is multiplicity free when restricted to the subgroup of compact elements, which he calls "Working hypothesis 10.2" and which is often but not always satisfied, Solleveld described the endomorphism algebras $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\Pi_1)$, which under minor tameness assumptions is isomorphic to the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ attached to an \mathfrak{s} -type (K, ρ) that we consider in this paper. Solleveld described $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\Pi_1)$ as a "twisted" semi-direct product of (a more general version of) an affine Hecke algebra and a twisted group algebra. While this description looks on first glance similar to ours, a key difference is that the cocycle $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ of our twisted group algebra is \mathcal{C}^{\times} -valued and our twisted group algebra is a subalgebra of the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$. Solleveld's 2-cocycle in contrast takes values in his affine Hecke algebra and therefore the resulting twisted group algebra is a not a subalgebra in general and the multiplication structure is more complicated than a usual semi-direct product. For depth-zero representations, Ohara ([Oha24a]) has shown that in the case where Solleveld's Working hypothesis 10.2 applies, the coefficients of the quadratic relations in Solleveld's affine Hecke algebras agree with our coefficients. In the case of classical groups, the above endomorphism algebras of progenerators had previously been described by Heiermann ([Hei11]).

While results about the structure of Hecke algebras, analogous to our result (1.1.1), have been achieved previously in many different situations, as described above, results analogous to (1.1.2) have to our knowledge previously only been obtained in very special cases and for GL_n ([BK93a]), principal series Bernstein blocks of split reductive groups ([Roc98]), and supercuspidal Bernstein blocks ([Oha24b]).

1.3 Sketch of the proofs of the main statements

We define the two isomorphisms (1.1.1) and (1.1.2) explicitly by defining explicit basis elements of the Hecke algebras $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ and $\mathcal{H}(G^0(F), (K^0, \rho^0))$ that will get mapped to each other and to the corresponding basis elements of $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, q)$ under the isomorphisms. The difficult task consists of doing this in a way that preserves the algebra structures.

To provide a few more details, let us note that the pairs (K, ρ) and (K^0, ρ^0) come with Levi subgroups $M \subseteq G$ and $M^0 \subseteq G^0$ satisfying $M^0 \subseteq M$, which in the setting of \mathfrak{s} -types record Levi subgroups appearing in the supercuspidal supports of the corresponding Bernstein blocks, and with a point x_0 in the Bruhat–Tits building of G that is contained in the image of the Bruhat–Tits building of M^0 . We also recall that $K^0 = K \cap G^0(F)$ and $\rho = \rho^0 \otimes \kappa$.

The bases for the Hecke algebras are indexed by K- and K^0 -double cosets, respectively, that satisfy appropriate intertwining properties, and we show that these indexing sets agree and are isomorphic to a quotient $W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of a subgroup $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of the normalizer $N_{G^0}(M^0)(F)$ of M^0 in G^0 that preserves the image of x_0 in the reduced Bruhat–Tits building of M^0 , see Proposition 3.4.12. This set-theoretic isomorphism endows the indexing set with a group structure, which we prove is isomorphic to a semi-direct product $\Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ whose normal factor is an affine Weyl group, see Propositions 3.7.6 and 3.7.4.

The basis elements of the Hecke algebras $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ and $\mathcal{H}(G^0(F), (K^0, \rho^0))$ are then defined by reinterpreting the two Hecke algebras as $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_K^{G(F)} \rho)$ and $\operatorname{End}_{G^0(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K^0}^{G(F)} \rho^0)$, and composing two different intertwining operators. In order to define the (spaces for the) intertwining operators, we introduce a whole family of pairs $(K_x, \rho_x = \rho_x^0 \otimes \kappa_x)$ and (K_x^0, ρ_x^0) for x in an open, dense subset \mathcal{A}_{gen} of an appropriate affine subspace \mathcal{A}_{x_0} of the Bruhat–Tits building of G on which the group $\Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ acts. The affine space underlying the affine Weyl group $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ is a quotient of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , see Proposition 3.7.4. The families are set up in a way such that $(K, \rho) =$ (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) and $(K^0, \rho^0) = (K_{x_0}^0, \rho_{x_0}^0)$. We define the basis element $\Phi_w \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_K^{G(F)} \rho) \simeq$ $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ attached to $w \in \Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ to be the composition of the two intertwining operators

$$\Theta_{w^{-1}x_0|x_0}^{\operatorname{norm}} \colon \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x_0}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x_0}) \to \operatorname{ind}_{K_{w^{-1}x_0}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{w^{-1}x_0}) \quad \text{and} \quad c_{w^{-1}x_0,w} \colon \operatorname{ind}_{K_{w^{-1}x_0}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{w^{-1}x_0}) \to \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x_0}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x_0})$$

$$(1.3.1)$$

where the first intertwining operator, $\Theta_{w^{-1}x_0|x_0}^{\text{norm}}$, is constructed via a normalized integration, see Section 3.5, in particular Lemma 3.5.2 and Definition 3.5.9, and the second intertwining operator, $c_{w^{-1}x_0,w}$, results from choosing an element T_n in the one-dimensional \mathcal{C} -vector space $\text{Hom}_{K_{nx_0}}({}^n\rho_{x_0}, \rho_{nx_0})$ for n a lift of w in $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ and ${}^n\rho_{x_0}$ the n-conjugate of $\rho_{x_0} = \rho$, see Definition 3.5.18 and (3.5.22) for details. The analogous definitions are made for G^0, K^0, ρ^0 , adding a superscript "0" as appropriate.

In order to show that the basis elements defined for an appropriate choice of $\{T_n\}$ and $\{T_n^0\}$ lead to the desired algebra isomorphisms (1.1.1) and (1.1.2), we equip the indexing group $\Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ with a length function $\ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ that is trivial on $\Omega(\rho_M)$ and is the standard length function on the affine Weyl group $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ arising from a choice of generators S. We then have to check that the isomorphisms (1.1.1) and (1.1.2) preserve the multiplication of two basis elements Φ_w and $\Phi_{w'}$ in the case where $\ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(ww') = \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(w) + \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(w')$, which we call the *length-additive case*, and the case of multiplying Φ_s with itself for $s \in S \subset W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$, which we refer to as the *quadratic relations*. To achieve both cases, we analyse the two intertwining operators separately as well as their interaction.

To prove the required properties for the first intertwining operator we introduce a more general operator $\Theta_{y|x}$: $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x) \longrightarrow \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(\rho_y)$ that is defined for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and prove a variety of compatibility properties of these operators, see, for example, Lemma 3.5.2, Proposition 3.5.5, and Lemma 3.8.15 for more detailed statements. Moreover, a key step for proving the isomorphism (1.1.2) consists of relating the operator $\Theta_{y|x}$ defined for G directly with the corresponding operator $\Theta_{y|x}^0$ defined for G^0 , which we achieve in Lemma 4.3.6. This result relies on a compatibility of the representations κ_x (recall: $\rho_x = \rho_x^0 \otimes \kappa_x$) for varying nearby points x, which is formalized in Axiom 4.3.1(5). In the setting of types constructed by Kim and Yu, this means a compatibility of various Heisenberg–Weil representations, which is proven in [FOAM, Corollary 3.6.14] and requires one to twist the initial construction of Kim and Yu by a quadratic character introduced in [FKS23].

The second family of intertwining operators $c_{w^{-1}x_0,w}$ depends on the choice of elements $\{T_n\}$, which are only determined up to scalars and which lead to a cocycle $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ on $\Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$, see Notation 3.6.1. We prove that we can choose the elements $\{T_n\}$ such that the only part of the resulting cocycle $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ that matters is its restriction to $\Omega(\rho_M)$ (see Proposition 3.10.7). This is the cocycle that appears in the twisted group algebra $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}]$. Moreover, we show that the choices $\{T_n\}$ for G and the choices $\{T_n^0\}$ for G^0 can be made in a compatible way that leads to the same cocycles and therefore to the desired Hecke algebra isomorphism (1.1.2). This step uses an extension of (the restriction of) κ to $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, which is provided by Axiom 4.1.2(2). Checking this axiom in the setting of the twisted construction of Kim and Yu is one of the key results of [FOAM], see [FOAM, Proposition 4.3.4], which is based on [FOAM, Theorem 2.7.2]. Verifying the quadratic relations also requires again the compatibility of the κ_x for nearby points x mentioned above and forms one of the key steps of the present paper.

We note that we said that the pairs (K, ρ) and (K^0, ρ^0) need to each satisfy a few axioms, Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, in order for us to conclude (1.1.1), and a few additional axioms describing the compatibility between the two pairs, Axioms 4.1.2, 4.2.1, and 4.3.1, in order to achieve (1.1.2). In fact, in order to obtain (1.1.2) we require (K, ρ) to only satisfy Axiom 3.4.1 and we prove in Section 4 that the remaining axioms are automatically satisfied by knowing them for (K^0, ρ^0) . In practice, checking the axioms for (K^0, ρ^0) might be significantly easier than for (K, ρ) . As an example, we show in the rather short Section 5 that depth-zero \mathfrak{s} -types (K^0, ρ^0) satisfy Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. In [FOAM], we then apply our results from Section 4 to deduce that also all the positive-depth \mathfrak{s} -types (K, ρ) constructed by Kim and Yu ([KY17, Fin21a]) satisfy Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2

Our approach to proving the isomorphism (1.1.1) was heavily inspired by the work of Morris

([Mor93]) who dealt with the case where (K^0, ρ^0) is a complex, depth-zero type with K^0 being a parahoric subgroup. In particular, we use similar intertwining operators to those of Morris. However, to prove that the resulting basis elements of the Hecke algebras satisfy the desired relations, Morris defines a version of the first intertwining operator $\Theta_{w^{-1}x_0|x_0}$ for w contained in a larger group than the indexing group $\Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$. Our approach in contrast consists of defining the first intertwining operator not for a larger group, but, instead, of defining intertwining operators $\Theta_{y|x}$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, i.e., also for points x and y that do not lie in the $\Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ -orbit of x_0 . Although we only need the intertwining operator $\Theta_{w^{-1}x_0|x_0}$ to define the basis element Φ_w for $w \in \Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$, these general intertwining operators $\Phi_{y|x}$ allow us to prove the desired properties about Φ_w in Sections 3.5 and 3.8. We believe that this approach makes our arguments look cleaner, and at the same time allows us to treat a more general setting than the one that Morris dealt with. And it provides us with the set-up in which we can prove our second main result, (1.1.2).

1.4 Structure of the paper

We have tried to state all assumptions that apply in each subsection at the beginning of the subsection so that it is easy to see what assumptions are in place where. Moreover, in the main results and in propositions that get used later within the paper, we have repeated the assumptions that are in place to provide clarity for the reader and allow for easier backtracking through the results and to make it easier to follow our proofs. We have also tried to state all of the axioms as early as possible in each subsection so that a reader interested in simply knowing what axioms they need to verify to apply the results can reach the statements of the axioms as quickly as possible. A list of axioms is provided on page 82. We have also created a list of notation (page 85).

We give a brief overview of the following sections of this paper.

In §2.1 we fix some notation, and in §2.2, we recall the definition of a Hecke algebra as a convolution algebra of functions and its relation with the second interpretation as an endomorphism algebra, because we will use both points of view.

In Section 3, we prove the structure theorem (1.1.1) for the Hecke algebra associated to a pair (K, ρ) that satisfies Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2 defined there. For this, we first construct an explicit vector-space basis $\{\varphi_w\}$ of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ indexed by the group $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ under the assumptions of Axioms 3.4.1 and 3.4.3 as follows. In §3.4, we introduce the family (K_x, ρ_x) mentioned above indexed by \mathcal{A}_{gen} . In §3.5, for $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, we define the intertwining operators $\Theta_{w^{-1}x_0|x_0}^{\operatorname{norm}}$ and $c_{w^{-1}x_0,w}$ (see (1.3.1)) and define the element Φ_w of $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x_0}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x_0}))$ as their composition. We then define the basis element $\varphi_w \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ to be the element corresponding to Φ_w via the isomorphism $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho)) \simeq \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x_0}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x_0}))$ given in §2.2. Based on discussions about the intertwining operators in §3.5, we investigate the relations involving the elements φ_w in the length-additive case. In §3.7, we prove that the indexing group $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ is isomorphic to the semi-direct product $\Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ mentioned above under the assumption of Axiom 3.7.1. In §3.8, we introduce Axiom 3.8.2, and under this axiom, we prove quadratic relations for the elements φ_s corresponding to simple reflections $s \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$. When the characteristic ℓ of \mathcal{C} is zero or a banal prime, the coefficients of the quadratic relations are explicitly calculated in §3.9. In §3.10, we prove the structure theorem (1.1.1) by proving appropriate braid relations and combining them with the discussions from previous subsections. In §3.11, we assume

that the coefficient field C admits a nontrivial involution. Under this assumption, we prove that we can take the isomorphism in (1.1.1) such that it preserves anti-involutions on both sides. In §3.12, we classify the support-preserving isomorphisms in (1.1.1).

In Section 4, we prove the Hecke algebra isomorphism (1.1.2) for a pair (K, ρ) consisting of a compact, open subgroup K of G(F) and an irreducible representation ρ of K and a similar pair (K^0, ρ^0) for a reductive subgroup G^0 of G that are related according to Axioms 4.1.2, 4.2.1, and 4.3.1. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2 for the pair (K^0, ρ^0) but only assume Axiom 3.4.1 for the pair (K, ρ) . We prove in §4.4 that the other axioms for (K, ρ) automatically follow in this case. Thus, by applying the results in Section 3 to the pairs (K^0, ρ^0) and (K, ρ) , we obtain the descriptions of the Hecke algebras as semi-direct products of affine Hecke algebras with twisted group algebras. The results of §4.3 imply that the affine Weyl groups and the subgroups of length-zero elements for (K^0, ρ^0) and (K, ρ) agree. In §4.4, we prove the Hecke algebra isomorphism (1.1.2). We have already shown that each of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ and $\mathcal{H}(G^0(F), (K^0, \rho^0))$ is isomorphic to a semi-direct product of an affine Hecke algebra (where the underlying affine reflection groups are the same) with a twisted group algebra (where the underlying groups are the same). We complete the argument by showing that, if certain choices are made carefully, then the parameters of the two affine Hecke algebras match up, as well as the two cocycles that implement the twisting of the two group algebras. In \$4.5, under the assumption that \mathcal{C} admits a nontrivial involution, we prove that we can take the isomorphism in (1.1.2) such that it preserves anti-involutions on both sides. As an application, in $\S4.6$, we prove the equivalence of Bernstein blocks in (1.1.3). Moreover, we also prove that when restricted to irreducible objects, the equivalence of Bernstein blocks preserves temperedness, and preserves the Plancherel measure on the tempered dual up to an explicit constant factor (see Theorem 4.6.4).

In Section 5, we determine the structure of all Hecke algebras arising from depth-zero pairs (K, ρ) . We review the construction of such pairs in §5.1, and describe the system of hyperplanes that applies to this case in §5.2. In §5.3, we obtain the structure of the Hecke algebras (Theorem 5.3.6) by showing that depth-zero pairs satisfy those axioms from Section 3 necessary to allow us to apply Theorem 3.10.10.

1.5 Guidance for the reader

If a reader is interested in our results only in the case of types as constructed by Kim and Yu, we suggest the following approach to the paper: Start with [FOAM, Section 4] and read until [FOAM, Section 4.2] to learn the definitions of the objects G, M, x_0 , \mathfrak{H} , K_M , ρ_M , K_x , $K_{x,+}$, ρ_x and G^0 , M^0 , K_{M^0} , ρ_{M^0} , K_x^0 , $K_{x,+}^0$, ρ_x^0 . Afterwards, we encourage the reader to read Section 3 and 4 of the present paper but to replace in their mind the abstract objects G, M, x_0 , \mathfrak{H} , K_M , ρ_M , K_x , $K_{x,+}$, ρ_x and G^0 , M^0 , K_{M^0} , ρ_{M^0} , K_x^0 , $K_{x,+}^0$, ρ_x^0 with the explicit objects introduced in [FOAM, Section 4]. We have provided a lot of cross-references between [FOAM, Section 4] and Sections 3 and 4 of this paper to ease this approach.

For a reader who is interested in our general results and who is already familiar with either the construction of Kim and Yu or depth-zero types, we have added after the introduction of each abstract object an explanation or reference regarding what these objects are in these specific settings, and we provide references to where the axioms are proven in these settings. Such a reader might also benefit from skimming or reading [FOAM, Section 4] until [FOAM, Section 4.2] (for the types as constructed by Kim and Yu) and/or Section 5 until Section 5.2 (for the depth-zero setting) in parallel to reading Sections 3 and 4 of the present paper.

For a reader using the axiomatic set-up to prove similar results in other settings, we have provided a complete list of axioms on page 82 with references to where the axioms can be found. Moreover, we have tried to state the axioms as early as possible in their subsections to allow the reader to receive the desired information, i.e., the axioms to check, as quickly as possible.

Acknowledgments

Various subsets of the authors benefited from the hospitality of American University, Duke University, the University of Bonn, the Hausdorff Research Institute for Mathematics in Bonn, the Max Planck Institute for Mathematics in Bonn, the Indian Institute for Science Education and Research (Pune), and the University of Michigan. The authors also thank Alan Roche, Dan Ciubotaru, and Tasho Kaletha for discussions related to this paper, and Maarten Solleveld for feedback on an earlier version of this paper. This project was started independently by three different subgroups of the authors, and the fourth-named author thanks his supervisor Noriyuki Abe for his enormous support and helpful advice. The fourth-named author is also grateful to Tasho Kaletha for the discussions during his stay at the University of Michigan in 2023.

2 Preliminaries

2.1 Notation

Let F be a non-archimedean local field endowed with a discrete valuation ord on F^{\times} with the value group \mathbb{Z} . For a finite field extension E of F, we also write ord for the unique extension of this valuation to E^{\times} . We write \mathcal{O}_E for the ring of integers of E, and let $\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}_F$. Let p denote the characteristic of the residue field \mathfrak{f} of F.

Let \mathbb{R} and \mathbb{C} denote the fields of real and complex numbers, respectively. Let \mathcal{C} denote an algebraically closed field of characteristic $\ell \neq p$. Except when otherwise indicated, all representations below are on vector spaces over \mathcal{C} . We fix a square root $p^{1/2}$ of p in \mathcal{C} . For an element $c = p^n \in \mathcal{C}$ with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we write $c^{1/2} := (p^{1/2})^n$.

For a torus S that is defined and splits over F, we let $X^*(S)$ denote the character group of S and $X_*(S)$ the cocharacter group of S.

For a connected reductive group G defined over F, we write Z(G) for the center of G and A_G for the maximal split torus in Z(G). For a reductive subgroup M of G, we denote by $N_G(M)$ (resp. $Z_G(M)$) the normalizer (resp. centralizer) of M in G.

We denote by $\mathcal{B}(G, F)$ the enlarged Bruhat-Tits building of G, and for a maximal split torus Sof G, we denote by $\mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$ the apartment of S in $\mathcal{B}(G, F)$. We also write $\mathcal{B}^{\text{red}}(G, F)$ for the reduced building of G and $\mathcal{A}^{\text{red}}(G, S, F)$ for the apartment of S in $\mathcal{B}^{\text{red}}(G, F)$. For $x \in \mathcal{B}(G, F)$, we denote by $[x]_G$ the image of x in $\mathcal{B}^{\text{red}}(G, F)$. We might also write [x] instead of $[x]_G$ if the group G is clear from the context. We write $G(F)_x$ and $G(F)_{[x]}$ for the stabilizers of x and [x]in G(F). We denote by $G(F)_{x,0}$ the group of \mathcal{O} -points of the connected parahoric group scheme of G associated to the point x, and by $G(F)_{x,0+}$ the pro-p radical of $G(F)_{x,0}$. The reductive quotient of the special fiber of the connected parahoric group scheme above will be denoted by G_x . Thus, $\mathsf{G}_x(\mathfrak{f}) = G(F)_{x,0}/G(F)_{x,0+}$. (We will use this font convention more widely. Thus, for a Levi subgroup M of G, and $x \in \mathcal{B}(M, F)$, we have the \mathfrak{f} -group M_x .)

If P is a parabolic subgroup of G, then let U_P denote the unipotent radical of P. We define the set $\mathcal{U}(M)$ as

$$\mathcal{U}(M) = \{ U_P \mid P \subseteq G \text{ is parabolic with Levi factor } M \}$$

Suppose that K is an open subgroup of a locally profinite group H. For a smooth representation (ρ, V_{ρ}) of K, we denote by

$$(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{H}(\rho), \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{H}(V_{\rho}))$$

the compactly induced representation of (ρ, V_{ρ}) . Here, we realize $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{H}(\rho)$ as the right regular representation on

 $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{H}(V_{\rho}) = \{f \colon H \to V_{\rho} \colon \text{compactly supported modulo } K \mid f(kh) = \rho(k)(f(h)) \ (k \in K, h \in H)\}.$

Suppose that K is a subgroup of a group H and $h \in H$. We denote hKh^{-1} by ${}^{h}K$. If ρ is a representation of K, we write ${}^{h}\rho$ for the representation $x \mapsto \rho(h^{-1}xh)$ of ${}^{h}K$. If an element $h \in H$ satisfies

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K\cap^{h}K}({}^{h}\rho,\rho)\neq\{0\}$$

we say that h intertwines ρ . We write

$$I_H(\rho) = \{h \in H \mid h \text{ intertwines } \rho\}.$$

We also write

$$N_H(K) = \left\{ h \in H \mid {}^{h}K = K \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad N_H(\rho) = \left\{ h \in N_H(K) \mid {}^{h}\rho \simeq \rho \right\}.$$

For a representation (ρ, V_{ρ}) of a group H, we identify ρ with its representation space V_{ρ} by abuse of notation. For any vector space V, we write id_V for the identity map on V.

Throughout the paper, we let G be a connected reductive group defined over F.

2.2 Hecke algebras and endomorphism algebras

Let K be a compact, open subgroup of G(F) and let (ρ, V_{ρ}) be an irreducible smooth representation of K. We recall the definition of the Hecke algebra associated to the pair (K, ρ) . Let $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ denote the space of compactly supported functions

$$\varphi \colon G(F) \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{C}}(V_{\rho})$$

satisfying

$$\varphi(k_1gk_2) = \rho(k_1) \circ \varphi(g) \circ \rho(k_2)$$

for all $k_1, k_2 \in K$ and $g \in G(F)$. We put an associative *C*-algebra structure on $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$, from now on called the *Hecke algebra associated to the pair* (K, ρ) , as follows. Suppose that φ_1 and φ_2 are functions in $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$. We define the function $\varphi_1 * \varphi_2 \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ as

$$(\varphi_1 * \varphi_2)(g) = \sum_{h \in G(F)/K} \varphi_1(h) \circ \varphi_2(h^{-1}g)$$

for $g \in G(F)$ (see [Vig96, §8.6]). We note that since φ_1 is compactly supported, the sum on the right-hand side is a finite sum. We also note that when the characteristic ℓ of C is zero, then this multiplication is equivalent to the standard convolution operation

$$(\varphi_1 * \varphi_2)(g) = \int_{G(F)} \varphi_1(h) \circ \varphi_2(h^{-1}g) \, dh,$$

where dh denotes a Haar measure on G(F) which is chosen so that K has measure one. (However, the isomorphism class of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$ does not depend on the choice of measure.) If the group K is clear from the context, we drop it from the notation and write $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ for $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho))$.

Remark 2.2.1. The definition of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ above is different from the definition of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ in [BK98, Section 2]. More precisely, our $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ is denoted by $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho^{\vee})$ in [BK98, Section 2], where ρ^{\vee} denotes the contragredient representation of ρ . We also note that our $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ is written as $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ in [KY17, Section 8] and [Yu01, Section 17].

For $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$, we write $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi)$ for the support of φ . For $g \in G(F)$, $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$, and $k \in K \cap {}^{g}K$, we have

$$\rho(k) \circ \varphi(g) = \varphi(kg) = \varphi(g(g^{-1}kg)) = \varphi(g) \circ \rho(g^{-1}kg) = \varphi(g) \circ {}^g\rho(k),$$

and hence

$$\varphi(g) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K \cap {}^{g}\!K}({}^{g}\!\rho, \rho).$$

Therefore we obtain that $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi) \subset I_{G(F)}(\rho)$ for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$. For $g \in G(F)$, we define the subspace $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)_g$ of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ as

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho)_g = \{\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho) \mid \operatorname{supp}(\varphi) \subset KgK\}.$$

The subspace $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)_g$ is zero if $g \notin I_{G(F)}(\rho)$, and it depends only on the double coset KgK, and not on the choice of the coset representative g. As a vector space, we have

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho) = \bigoplus_{g \in K \setminus I_{G(F)}(\rho)/K} \mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho)_g.$$
(2.2.2)

According to [Vig96, Section 8.5], there exists an isomorphism of C-algebras

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho)).$$
(2.2.3)

We write the isomorphism above explicitly. For $v \in V_{\rho}$, we define $f_v \in \operatorname{ind}_K^{G(F)}(V_{\rho})$ as

$$f_{v}(g) = \begin{cases} \rho(g)(v) & (g \in K), \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}). \end{cases}$$

Then for $\Phi \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho))$, the corresponding element $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ is defined by

$$\varphi(g)(v) = (\Phi(f_v))(g) \tag{2.2.4}$$

for $v \in V_{\rho}$ and $g \in G(F)$. Conversely, for $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$, the corresponding element

$$\Phi \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\big(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho)\big)$$

is defined by

$$\left(\Phi(f)\right)(g) = \sum_{h \in G(F)/K} \varphi(h) \left(f(h^{-1}g)\right)$$

for $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho})$ and $g \in G(F)$.

For a subgroup K' of G(F) containing K, we identify the compactly induced representation $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(\rho)$ with the K'-subrepresentation of $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho)$ on the space

$$\left\{ f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho}) \, \Big| \, \operatorname{supp}(f) \subset K' \right\},$$

where $\operatorname{supp}(f)$ denotes the support of f. More generally, for a subset K' of G(F) such that $K \cdot K' = K'$, we define a subspace $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(V_{\rho})$ of $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho})$ as

$$\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(V_{\rho}) = \left\{ f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho}) \, \middle| \, \operatorname{supp}(f) \subset K' \right\}.$$

In particular, we regard (ρ, V_{ρ}) as a K-subrepresentation of $(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho), \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho}))$ via the isomorphism

$$\rho \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K}(\rho)$$

defined via

$$V_{\rho} \ni v \longmapsto f_v \in \operatorname{ind}_K^K(V_{\rho}).$$

Lemma 2.2.5. Let $g \in K \setminus I_{G(F)}(\rho)/K$. Let $\Phi \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho))$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$ correspond to each other via the isomorphism in (2.2.3). Then the element φ is supported on KgK if and only if

$$\Phi\left(V_{\rho}\right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{KgK}(V_{\rho}).$$

Proof. According to the construction of the isomorphism in (2.2.3), we have

$$\varphi(h)(v) = (\Phi(f_v))(h)$$

for all $h \in G$. Hence, the function φ is supported on KgK if and only if for any $v \in V_{\rho}$, we have

$$\operatorname{supp}\left(\Phi(f_v)\right) \subset KgK,$$

that is, $\Phi(f_v) \in \operatorname{ind}_K^{KgK}(V_{\rho}).$

For a subgroup K' of G(F) containing K, we define a subalgebra $\mathcal{H}(K',\rho)$ of $\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho)$ as

$$\mathcal{H}(K',\rho) = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho) \mid \operatorname{supp}(\varphi) \subset K' \right\}.$$

According to Lemma 2.2.5, the subalgebra $\mathcal{H}(K',\rho)$ corresponds to the subalgebra $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho))_{K'}$ of $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho))$ defined as

$$\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho)\right)_{K'} = \left\{ \Phi \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho)\right) \mid \Phi\left(V_{\rho}\right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(V_{\rho}) \right\} \\ = \left\{ \Phi \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho)\right) \mid \Phi\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(V_{\rho})\right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(V_{\rho}) \right\}$$

via the isomorphism in (2.2.3). Similar to (2.2.3), we also have an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}(K',\rho) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}_{K'}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(\rho)), \qquad (2.2.6)$$

and one can check easily that the following diagram commutes:

where res denotes the restriction map defined by

$$\Phi \longmapsto \Phi \big|_{\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(V_{\rho})}.$$

In particular, the restriction map is an isomorphism. We regard $\operatorname{End}_{K'}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(\rho))$ as a subalgebra of $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho))$ via the inverse of this isomorphism.

We will also need a slightly more general setup. For this, let H be a locally profinite group and let K_1, K_2 be open subgroups of H. Let ρ_1 , resp., ρ_2 , be a smooth representation of K_1 , resp., K_2 . For an open subgroup K' of H containing K_1 and K_2 , we define a subspace $\operatorname{Hom}_H\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^H(\rho_1), \operatorname{ind}_{K_2}^H(\rho_2)\right)_{K'}$ of $\operatorname{Hom}_H\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^H(\rho_1), \operatorname{ind}_{K_2}^H(\rho_2)\right)$ by

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{H}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{H}(\rho_{1}), \operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{H}(\rho_{2})\right)_{K'} = \left\{ \Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{H}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{H}(\rho_{1}), \operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{H}(\rho_{2})\right) \left| \Phi\left(V_{\rho_{1}}\right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{K'}(V_{\rho_{2}}) \right\} \right. \\ = \left\{ \Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{H}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{H}(\rho_{1}), \operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{H}(\rho_{2})\right) \left| \Phi\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{K'}(V_{\rho_{1}})\right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{K'}(V_{\rho_{2}}) \right\} \right.$$

Lemma 2.2.8. The restriction map $\Phi \mapsto \Phi|_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^{K'}(V_{\rho_1})}$ gives an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{H}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{H}(\rho_{1}),\operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{H}(\rho_{2})\right)_{K'} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{K'}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{K'}(\rho_{1}),\operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{K'}(\rho_{2})\right)$$

Proof. Combining Frobenius reciprocity with the transitivity of compact induction, we obtain an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{H}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{H}(\rho_{1}),\operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{H}(\rho_{2})\right) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{H}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K'}^{H}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{K'}(\rho_{1})),\operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{H}(\rho_{2})\right)$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{K'}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{1}}^{K'}(\rho_{1}),\operatorname{ind}_{K_{2}}^{H}(\rho_{2})|_{K'}\right).$$

Under this isomorphism the subspace $\operatorname{Hom}_H(\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^H(\rho_1), \operatorname{ind}_{K_2}^H(\rho_2))_{K'}$ of $\operatorname{Hom}_H(\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^H(\rho_1), \operatorname{ind}_{K_2}^H(\rho_2))$ corresponds to the subspace $\operatorname{Hom}_{K'}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^{K'}(\rho_1), \operatorname{ind}_{K_2}^{K'}(\rho_2))$ of $\operatorname{Hom}_{K'}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^{K'}(\rho_1), \operatorname{ind}_{K_2}^H(\rho_2)|_{K'})$, and the induced isomorphism $\operatorname{Hom}_H(\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^H(\rho_1), \operatorname{ind}_{K_2}^H(\rho_2))_{K'} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{K'}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_1}^{K'}(\rho_1), \operatorname{ind}_{K_2}^{K'}(\rho_2))$ agrees with the restriction map. \Box

3 Structure of the Hecke algebra

We recall that G is a connected reductive group defined over F. In this section, we will provide a description of the Hecke algebra attached to an appropriate compact, open subgroup $K_{x_0} \subset G$ and an appropriate representation $(\rho_{x_0}, V_{\rho_{x_0}})$ of K_{x_0} as a semi-direct product of an affine Hecke algebra and a twisted group algebra, see Theorem 3.10.10. We describe the pairs (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) that we consider through several axioms introduced in this section. These are Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2 below. The pairs that we consider include among others the case where (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) is a type for a single Bernstein block as constructed by Kim and Yu ([KY17, Fin21a]) or a depth-zero type attached to either a single Bernstein block or the case where K_{x_0} is a parahoric subgroup, which is the case studied previously by Morris ([Mor93]).

Readers interested in depth-zero types might find it useful to first read Sections 5.1 and 5.2, readers interested in the types constructed by Kim and Yu might find it helpful to first read Sections 4.1 and 4.2 in [FOAM], in order to keep these special cases as examples in mind when reading the axiomatic set-up below. Those interested only in the set-up in [FOAM] might even completely replace the below axiomatic objects by the explicit objects introduced in [FOAM, Section 4] in their head.

3.1 The affine space

In this subsection, we will introduce an affine subspace \mathcal{A}_{x_0} of $\mathcal{B}(G, F)$, which will be used to index pairs of compact, open subgroups K_x and irreducible smooth representations ρ_x of K_x below. More precisely, we will consider a family $\{(K_x, \rho_x)\}_{x \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}}$ of compact, open subgroups K_x of G(F)and irreducible smooth representations ρ_x of K_x indexed by an appropriate subset \mathcal{A}_{gen} of generic points in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} (see Sections 3.2 and 3.4). The family $\{(K_x, \rho_x)\}_{x \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}}$ will be used to define basis elements of a Hecke algebra (see Definition 3.5.23). In Proposition 3.7.4 below, we will also define an affine root system $\Gamma(\rho_M)$ on a quotient $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , whose affine Weyl group underlies the affine Hecke algebra appearing in our description of the Hecke algebra attached to (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) in Theorem 3.10.10.

To define the affine space \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , we fix a Levi subgroup M of G. If we want to describe the Hecke algebra attached to a type for a Bernstein block of a \mathbb{C} -representation, then M is a Levi subgroup of the supercuspidal support of the Bernstein block. We recall that we write A_M for the maximal split torus of the center Z(M) of M. Let $\mathcal{B}(M, F) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{B}(G, F)$ be an admissible embedding of enlarged Bruhat–Tits buildings in the sense of [KP23, §14.2], which exists by [KP23, Section 9.7.5]. We regard $\mathcal{B}(M, F)$ as a subset of $\mathcal{B}(G, F)$ via this embedding. Let $x_0 \in \mathcal{B}(M, F)$. We define the subset \mathcal{A}_{x_0} of $\mathcal{B}(M, F)$ by

$$\mathcal{A}_{x_0} = x_0 + \left(X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \right).$$

More precisely, $x_0 + (X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R})$ is an affine subspace of every apartment containing x_0 (since A_M is contained in every maximal split torus of M), and the image of this affine space in $\mathcal{B}(M, F)$ is independent of the choice of apartment. We fix an $N_G(M)(F)$ -invariant inner product $(\ ,\)_M$ on $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. (Such an inner product exists, because the action of $N_G(M)(F)$ factors through a finite group.) Hence, the space \mathcal{A}_{x_0} is a Euclidean space with the vector space of translations $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. We define the subset $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ of G(F) by

$$N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} = \{ n \in N_G(M)(F) \mid nx_0 \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \}.$$

Lemma 3.1.1. Let S be a maximal split torus of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. Then we have

$$N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} = \left(N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} \cap N_G(S)(F) \right) \cdot M(F)_{x_0,0}.$$

Proof. Let $n \in N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$. Since $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$, and $nx_0 \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \subset \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$, we have $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F) \cap \mathcal{A}(G, n^{-1}Sn, F)$. Hence, there exists an element $m \in M(F)_{x_0,0}$ such that $m(n^{-1}Sn)m^{-1} = S$. Thus, we obtain that

$$n = nm^{-1} \cdot m \in \left(N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} \cap N_G(S)(F) \right) \cdot M(F)_{x_0,0}.$$

Lemma 3.1.2. Let $n \in N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$. Then we have $nx \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$ for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$.

Proof. Let S be a maximal split torus of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. According to Lemma 3.1.1, we have

$$N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} = \left(N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} \cap N_G(S)(F) \right) \cdot M(F)_{x_0,0}.$$

Since mx = x for all $m \in M(F)_{x_0,0}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$, it suffices to show that $nx \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$ for all

$$n \in N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} \cap N_G(S)(F)$$

and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$. We write $x = x_0 + a$ for some

$$a \in X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \subset X_*(S) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}.$$

According to [KP23, Proposition 6.2.4], we have

$$nx = n(x_0 + a) = nx_0 + (Dn)a_1$$

where Dn denotes the image of n in the finite Weyl group $N_G(S)(F)/Z_G(S)(F)$, which acts on the vector space $X_*(S) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. Since n normalizes M and $a \in X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$(Dn)a \in X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$$

Thus, the assumption $n \in N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ implies that

$$nx = nx_0 + (Dn)a \subset \mathcal{A}_{x_0} + (X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}) = \mathcal{A}_{x_0}.$$

For later application it will be useful to state the result for an arbitrary point $x'_0 \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$.

Corollary 3.1.3. Let $x'_0 \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$. If an element $n \in N_G(M)(F)$ satisfies $nx'_0 \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$, then we have $nx \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$ for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$.

Proof. This follows from Lemma 3.1.2 by replacing x_0 by x'_0 .

According to Lemma 3.1.2, $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ is a subgroup of G(F), and the action of G(F) on $\mathcal{B}(G, F)$ induces an action of $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} . For $n \in N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ and a subset X of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , we write $n(X) = \{nx \mid x \in X\}$.

3.2 Affine hyperplanes

Let \mathfrak{H} be a possibly empty, locally finite set of affine hyperplanes in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} that do not contain x_0 . The complement of these hyperplanes in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} decomposes into connected components and the compact open subgroup K_x that we will attach each point x in the complement will be constant on those components. The image on the quotient $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} of an appropriate subset $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} \subseteq \mathfrak{H}$ of $\mathcal{K}\text{-relevant}$ hyperplanes will form the set of vanishing hyperplanes of the affine root system $\Gamma(\rho_M)$ mentioned above in Section 3.1 (see Definition 3.5.6 and Proposition 3.7.4). In the setting of depth-zero types discussed in Section 5, the set of affine hyperplanes \mathfrak{H} that we want to consider is described in §5.2. In the setting of positive-depth types as constructed by Kim and Yu, the set of affine hyperplanes \mathfrak{H} that we want to consider is described in [FOAM, Section 4.2]. We define the subset \mathcal{A}_{gen} of generic points of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} by

$$\mathcal{A}_{ ext{gen}} = \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \smallsetminus \left(igcup_{H \in \mathfrak{H}} H
ight).$$

For $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, we define the subset $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y}$ of \mathfrak{H} by

 $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{ H \in \mathfrak{H} \mid x \text{ and } y \text{ are on opposite sides of } H \}.$

Since \mathfrak{H} is locally finite, we have $\#\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} < \infty$. We write $d(x,y) = \#\mathfrak{H}_{x,y}$.

Lemma 3.2.1. Let $x, y, z \in A_{gen}$. Then we have

$$d(x,y) + d(y,z) \ge d(x,z)$$

Moreover, the following conditions are equivalent:

(a)
$$d(x,y) + d(y,z) = d(x,z).$$

(b)
$$\mathfrak{H}_{x,y}, \mathfrak{H}_{y,z} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}.$$

(c)
$$\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{y,z} = \emptyset.$$

Proof. For any $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$, exactly one of the following occurs:

- We have $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{x,y}$.
- We have $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{y,z}$.

Hence, we have $d(x, y) + d(y, z) \ge d(x, z)$, and equality holds if and only if $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y}, \mathfrak{H}_{y,z} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$. We will prove that conditions (b) and (c) are equivalent. Suppose that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y}, \mathfrak{H}_{y,z} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$. Then, for any $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{x,y}$, we also have $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$. Since the points x and y are on opposite sides of H, and the points x and z are on opposite sides of H, we obtain that the points y and z are on the same side of H. Hence, we have $H \notin \mathfrak{H}_{y,z}$. Thus, we conclude that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{y,z} = \emptyset$. On the other hand, suppose that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{y,z} = \emptyset$. Then, for any $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{x,y}$, the points y and z are on the same side of H. Hence, the points x and z are on opposite sides of H, that is $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$. Thus, we conclude that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$. Similarly, we can prove that $\mathfrak{H}_{y,z} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$.

3.3 Quasi-G-covers

Let K_M be a compact, open subgroup of $M(F)_{x_0}$ and let (ρ_M, V_{ρ_M}) be an irreducible smooth representation of K_M . For example, the pairs (K_M, ρ_M) considered in [FOAM, Section 4] include the supercuspidal types constructed by Yu ([Yu01]) twisted by a quadratic character that arises from the work of [FKS23].

Notation 3.3.1. We denote by $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$ the subgroup of $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ given by

$$N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} = N_{G(F)}(\rho_M) \cap N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}.$$

Definition 3.3.2. Let K (resp. K_M) be a compact, open subgroup of G(F) (resp. M(F)) and let ρ (resp. ρ_M) be an irreducible smooth representation of K (resp. K_M). We say that (K, ρ) is a *quasi-G-cover* of the pair (K_M, ρ_M) if for every parabolic subgroup $P \subseteq G$ with Levi factor M, we have that the pair (K, ρ) is *decomposed* with respect to (M, P) (in the sense of [BK98, Definition 6.1]). Equivalently, for every $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) We have the decomposition

$$K = (K \cap U(F)) \cdot (K \cap M(F)) \cdot (K \cap \overline{U}(F)).$$

(2) We have $K_M = K \cap M(F)$, the restriction of ρ to K_M is ρ_M , and the restriction of ρ to the groups $K \cap U(F)$ and $K \cap \overline{U}(F)$ is trivial.

Remark 3.3.3. Let M be a Levi subgroup of G and $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$. Then, according to [Bor91, Proposition 14.21 (iii)], the product map

$$U(F) \times M(F) \times \overline{U}(F) \to G(F)$$

is a homeomorphism onto an open subset of G(F). Hence, Condition (1) of the definition of a quasi-G-cover is equivalent to the condition that the product map

$$(K \cap U(F)) \times (K \cap M(F)) \times (K \cap \overline{U}(F)) \to K$$

is a homeomorphism of topological spaces. In particular, any element of K can be written uniquely as a product of three elements in $K \cap U(F), K \cap M(F)$, and $K \cap \overline{U}(F)$, respectively.

Remark 3.3.4. If (K, ρ) is a *G*-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) in the sense of [BK98, Definition 8.1], then (K, ρ) is a quasi-*G*-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) by definition.

Quasi-G-covers will allow us to compare intertwiners of representations of compact, open subgroups of G(F) with intertwiners of representations of compact, open subgroups of M(F). More precisely, we have the following lemma that will be used to study the support of Hecke algebras.

Lemma 3.3.5. Let K_1 and K_2 be compact, open subgroups of G(F), and let $K_{M,1}$ and $K_{M,2}$ be compact, open subgroups of M(F). Let ρ_1 , ρ_2 , $\rho_{M,1}$, and $\rho_{M,2}$ be irreducible smooth representations of K_1 , K_2 , $K_{M,1}$, and $K_{M,2}$, respectively. Suppose that the pair (K_i, ρ_i) is a quasi-G-cover of the pair $(K_{M,i}, \rho_{M,i})$ for i = 1, 2. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K_1 \cap K_2} (\rho_1, \rho_2) = \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{M,1} \cap K_{M,2}} (\rho_{M,1}, \rho_{M,2}).$$

Proof. We fix $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$. Since (K_i, ρ_i) is a quasi-G-cover of $(K_{M,i}, \rho_{M,i})$, we have

$$K_i = (K_i \cap U(F)) \cdot K_{M,i} \cdot (K_i \cap \overline{U}(F)),$$

the representation ρ_i is trivial on $K_i \cap U(F)$ and $K_i \cap \overline{U}(F)$, and we have $\rho_i|_{K_{M,i}} = \rho_{M,i}$ for i = 1, 2. Thus we obtain

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{1}\cap K_{2}}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2}\right) &= \operatorname{Hom}_{\left(K_{1}\cap K_{2}\cap U(F)\right)\cdot\left(K_{M,1}\cap K_{M,2}\right)\cdot\left(K_{1}\cap K_{2}\cap \overline{U}(F)\right)}\left(\rho_{1},\rho_{2}\right) \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{M,1}\cap K_{M,2}}(\rho_{1},\rho_{2}) \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{M,1}\cap K_{M,2}}(\rho_{M,1},\rho_{M,2}). \end{split}$$

Corollary 3.3.6. Let K be a compact, open subgroup of G(F) and ρ be an irreducible smooth representation of K. Suppose that (K, ρ) is a quasi-G-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) . Then we have

$$N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \subset I_{G(F)}(\rho).$$

Proof. Let $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$. Since the pair (K, ρ) is a quasi-*G*-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) and *n* normalizes the group *M*, the pair $\binom{n}{K}, \binom{n}{\rho}$ is a quasi-*G*-cover of $\binom{n}{K}, \binom{n}{\rho_M}$. Then Lemma 3.3.5 implies that

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{K\cap^{n}K}({}^{n}\rho,\rho) = \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{M}\cap^{n}K_{M}}({}^{n}\rho_{M},\rho_{M}).$

Since $n \in N_{G(F)}(\rho_M)$, the right-hand side is non-trivial. Hence, we obtain that the left-hand side is also non-trivial, that is, $n \in I_{G(F)}(\rho)$.

3.4 Family of quasi-G-covers and a group structure on the Hecke algebra support

We will define and study basis elements of the Hecke algebra attached to a quasi-G-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) below. To do this, we study not just one quasi-G-cover, but rather a family of quasi-G-covers of (K_M, ρ_M) indexed by \mathcal{A}_{gen} with some additional data and properties. More precisely, consider a family

$$\mathcal{K} = \left\{ \left(K_x, K_{x,+}, \left(\rho_x, V_{\rho_x} \right) \right) \right\}_{x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{ren}}},$$

where each K_x is a compact, open subgroup of G(F), each $K_{x,+}$ is a normal, open subgroup of K_x , and each (ρ_x, V_{ρ_x}) is an irreducible smooth representation of K_x . We will refer to such a family as a family of quasi-G-cover-candidates. Let $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ be a subgroup of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$ containing $A_M(F)$. Eventually (starting with Corollary 3.4.14) we will assume that $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ is sufficiently large, more precisely large enough to satisfy Axiom 3.4.3 below. For now we first only assume that \mathcal{K} and $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ satisfy the following:

Axiom 3.4.1.

- (1) The restriction of ρ_x to $K_{x,+}$ is θ_x -isotypic for some character θ_x of $K_{x,+}$.
- (2) The action of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} preserves the set \mathfrak{H} . In particular, $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ stabilizes the the subset \mathcal{A}_{gen} of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} .
- (3) For every $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, we have

$$K_{nx} = nK_x n^{-1}$$
 and $K_{nx,+} = nK_{x,+} n^{-1}$.

- (4) For every $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and for all $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$, we have
 - (a) the pair (K_x, ρ_x) is a quasi-G-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) ,
 - (b) $K_x = K_M \cdot K_{x,+},$
 - (c) $K_{x,+} = (K_{x,+} \cap U(F)) \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap M(F)) \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap \overline{U}(F)).$

Moreover, the group $K_{x,+} \cap M(F)$ is independent of the point $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$.

(5) For $x, y, z \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that

$$d(x,y) + d(y,z) = d(x,z),$$

there exists $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F) \subseteq K_z \cap U(F)$$

and

$$K_z \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F).$$

In particular, for any $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$, there exists $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F)$$
 and $K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)$.

Once we assume this axiom for a family of quasi-G-cover-candidates \mathcal{K} , we also refer to \mathcal{K} as a family of quasi-G-covers.

Remark 3.4.2. The last paragraph of Section 5.1, see p. 77, summarizes the families that we consider in Section 5, and the last paragraph of [FOAM, Section 4.1], see p. 43 in [FOAM], summarizes the families that we consider in [FOAM]. These cases include the types for single depth-zero Bernstein blocks and those for positive-depth Bernstein blocks as constructed by Kim and Yu (twisted by a quadratic character following Fintzen, Kaletha and Spice), respectively. Axiom 3.4.1 for the families considered in Section 5 is vertified in Lemma 5.3.1, and Axiom 3.4.1 for the families considered in [FOAM] is verified in [FOAM, Lemma 4.3.2].

Recall that the support of the Hecke algebras attached to the pairs (K_x, ρ_x) for $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ is given by $I_{G(F)}(\rho_x)$. According to Corollary 3.3.6 and Axiom 3.4.1(4a), we have

$$N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \subset N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \subset I_{G(F)}(\rho_x)$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$. Since $I_{G(F)}(\rho_x) = K_x \cdot I_{G(F)}(\rho_x) \cdot K_x$ by definition, we also have the inclusion

$$K_x \cdot N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cdot K_x \subset I_{G(F)}(\rho_x).$$

In order to access the support of the relevant Hecke algebras via $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, which will allow us to enrich the support with a group structure in Corollary 3.4.14 and Definition 3.4.15, we will also suppose starting from Corollary 3.4.14 that this inclusion is in fact an equality, i.e., that the following axiom holds.

Axiom 3.4.3. We have

 $K_x \cdot N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cdot K_x = I_{G(F)}(\rho_x)$

for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$.

In the depth-zero setting of Section 5 this axiom holds by Proposition 5.3.2, and in the setting of [FOAM] this axiom holds by [FOAM, Proposition 4.3.5].

Remark 3.4.4. To prove Lemma 3.4.5–Lemma 3.4.13 below, we only need Axiom 3.4.1, but we believe that having all axioms in one place will help the reader find them more easily.

We record some consequences of Axiom 3.4.1 that we will use throughout the paper.

Lemma 3.4.5. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$. Then we have

$$K_x \cap U(F) = K_{x,+} \cap U(F)$$

for all $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$.

Proof. According to Axiom 3.4.1(4a), we have

$$K_x = (K_x \cap U(F)) \cdot K_M \cdot (K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)).$$

On the other hand, according to Axiom 3.4.1(4b,4c), we have

$$K_x = K_M \cdot K_{x,+}$$

= $K_M \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap U(F)) \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap M(F)) \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap \overline{U}(F))$
= $(K_{x,+} \cap U(F)) \cdot K_M \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap \overline{U}(F)).$

Then the lemma follows from Remark 3.3.3.

Lemma 3.4.6. Let $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$. Then we have

$$K_x \cap K_{y,+} = K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+}$$

Proof. We fix $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$. By using Axiom 3.4.1(4), we obtain that

$$K_x \cap K_{y,+} = (K_x \cap K_{y,+} \cap U(F)) \cdot (K_x \cap K_{y,+} \cap M(F)) \cdot (K_x \cap K_{y,+} \cap \overline{U}(F))$$

and

$$K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+} = (K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+} \cap U(F)) \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+} \cap M(F)) \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+} \cap \overline{U}(F)).$$

Then the claim follows from Lemma 3.4.5 and the fact that $K_{x,+} \cap M(F) = K_{y,+} \cap M(F)$. \Box

Lemma 3.4.7. Let $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$ and $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

 $K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F)$ and $K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)$.

Then the inclusions $K_y \cap U(F) \subset K_{y,+} \subset K_y$ induce bijections

$$(K_y \cap U(F)) / (K_x \cap U(F)) \simeq K_{y,+} / (K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+}) \simeq K_y / (K_x \cap K_y)$$

Proof. According to Axiom 3.4.1(4a), we have

$$K_x = (K_x \cap U(F)) \cdot K_M \cdot (K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)) \quad \text{and} \quad K_y = (K_y \cap U(F)) \cdot K_M \cdot (K_y \cap \overline{U}(F)).$$

Then the assumptions of the lemma imply that

$$(K_y \cap U(F)) / (K_x \cap U(F)) \simeq K_y / (K_x \cap K_y).$$

Since $K_y \cap U(F) = K_{y,+} \cap U(F) \subset K_{y,+}$ by Lemma 3.4.5, the claim follows from Lemma 3.4.6. \Box

Lemma 3.4.8. Let $x, y \in A_{gen}$. Then the order of the quotient $K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)$ is a power of p. In particular, this integer is invertible in C.

Proof. According to Axiom 3.4.1(5), there exists $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that $K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F)$ and $K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)$. Then the claim follows from Lemma 3.4.7 and the fact that $K_y \cap U(F)$ is a pro-*p*-group.

Lemma 3.4.9. Let $x, y \in A_{gen}$. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K_x \cap K_y}(\rho_x, \rho_y) \neq \{0\}.$$

In particular, we have

$$\theta_x|_{K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+}} = \theta_y|_{K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+}}.$$

Proof. Since (K_x, ρ_x) and (K_y, ρ_y) are quasi-G-covers of (K_M, ρ_M) , Lemma 3.3.5 implies that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K_x \cap K_y}(\rho_x, \rho_y) = \operatorname{End}_{K_M}(\rho_M) \neq \{0\}.$$

The last claim follows from the assumption that the restriction of ρ_x to $K_{x,+}$ is θ_x -isotypic and the restriction of ρ_y to $K_{y,+}$ is θ_y -isotypic.

Lemma 3.4.10. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. Then the pair $(K_{nx}, {}^n\!\rho_x)$ is a quasi-G-cover of the pair $(K_M, {}^n\!\rho_M)$.

Proof. Since the pair (K_x, ρ_x) is a quasi-*G*-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) and *n* normalizes the group *M*, the pair $({}^{n}K_x, {}^{n}\rho_x)$ is a quasi-*G*-cover of $({}^{n}K_M, {}^{n}\rho_M)$. Then the lemma follows from the facts that ${}^{n}K_x = K_{nx}$ and ${}^{n}K_M = K_M$.

Lemma 3.4.11. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $n \in N(\rho_M)^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_M}$. Then we have

$$\theta_x(n^{-1}kn) = \theta_{nx}(k)$$

for all $k \in K_{nx,+}$.

Proof. According to Axiom 3.4.1(4a), the pair (K_{nx}, ρ_{nx}) is a quasi-*G*-cover of the pair (K_M, ρ_M) . On the other hand, according to Lemma 3.4.10, the pair $(K_{nx}, {}^n\rho_x)$ is a quasi-*G*-cover of the pair $(K_M, {}^n\rho_M)$. Since $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \subset N_{G(F)}(\rho_M)$, Lemma 3.3.5 implies that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K_{nx}}({}^{n}\rho_{x},\rho_{nx}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{M}}({}^{n}\rho_{M},\rho_{M}) \neq \{0\}$$

Since the restriction of ${}^{n}\rho_{x}$ to $K_{nx,+}$ is ${}^{n}\theta_{x}$ -isotypic, and the restriction of ρ_{nx} to $K_{nx,+}$ is θ_{nx-} isotypic, we deduce the claim.

Axiom 3.4.1 also allows us to prove the following proposition that will be used to study the support of the Hecke algebra attached to (K_x, ρ_x) .

Proposition 3.4.12. Let $x \in A_{gen}$ and assume Axiom 3.4.1. Then the inclusion

$$N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \subset I_{G(F)}(\rho_x),$$

induces an injection

$$N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M \right) \to K_x \backslash I_{G(F)}(\rho_x) / K_x$$

To prove Proposition 3.4.12, we first record the following general lemma:

Lemma 3.4.13. Let $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$. Then we have

$$N_G(M)(F) \cap \overline{U}(F) \cdot U(F) = \{1\}.$$

Proof. Let $n \in N_G(M)(F)$, $u \in U(F)$, and $\overline{u} \in \overline{U}(F)$ such that $n = \overline{u}u$. For any $m \in M(F)$, we have

$$nmn^{-1} = \overline{u}umu^{-1}\overline{u}^{-1} = \overline{u}u(mu^{-1}m^{-1})(m\overline{u}^{-1}m^{-1})m.$$

We write

$$m' = (nmn^{-1})m^{-1} \in M(F)$$
 and $u' = u(mu^{-1}m^{-1}) \in U(F)$.

Then we have

$$m'(m\overline{u}m^{-1}) = \overline{u}u'.$$

Since the natural map

$$M(F) \times \overline{U}(F) \times U(F) \to G(F)$$

is injective, we have m' = 1. Hence, we obtain that *n* commutes with any element in M(F). In particular, *n* is contained in the centralizer of A_M in G(F), that is equal to M(F). Thus, we conclude that

$$n \in M(F) \cap \overline{U}(F) \cdot U(F) = \{1\}.$$

Proof of Proposition 3.4.12. Let $n_1, n_2 \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ and $k_1, k_2 \in K_x$ such that $n_2 = k_1 n_1 k_2$. It suffices to show that $n_1 n_2^{-1} \in K_M$. We write

$$k_2' = n_1 k_2 n_1^{-1} \in n_1 K_x n_1^{-1} = K_{n_1 x}$$

By Axiom 3.4.1(5), there exists $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subset K_{n_1x} \cap U(F)$$
 and $K_{n_1x} \cap \overline{U}(F) \subset K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)$

Then according to Axiom 3.4.1(4a), we have

$$n_{2}n_{1}^{-1} = k_{1}n_{1}k_{2}n_{1}^{-1}$$

$$= k_{1}k'_{2}$$

$$\in K_{x} \cdot K_{n_{1}x}$$

$$= (K_{x} \cap \overline{U}(F)) K_{M} (K_{x} \cap U(F)) \cdot K_{n_{1}x}$$

$$= (K_{x} \cap \overline{U}(F)) \cdot K_{n_{1}x}$$

$$= (K_{x} \cap \overline{U}(F)) \cdot (K_{n_{1}x} \cap \overline{U}(F)) (K_{n_{1}x} \cap U(F)) K_{M}$$

$$= (K_{x} \cap \overline{U}(F)) (K_{n_{1}x} \cap U(F)) K_{M}.$$

Hence, there exists $k_M \in K_M$ such that

$$n_2 n_1^{-1} k_M \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cdot K_M \cap \overline{U}(F) \cdot U(F) \subset N_G(M)(F) \cap \overline{U}(F) \cdot U(F).$$

According to Lemma 3.4.13, we have $n_2 n_1^{-1} k_M = 1$. Thus, we obtain that $n_1 n_2^{-1} = k_M \in K_M$. \Box

From now on, we suppose Axiom 3.4.3 in order to turn the injection in Proposition 3.4.12 into a bijection.

Corollary 3.4.14. Let $x \in A_{gen}$ and assume Axioms 3.4.1 and 3.4.3. Then the inclusion

$$N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \subset I_{G(F)}(\rho_x)$$

induces a bijection

$$N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M \right) \simeq K_x \backslash I_{G(F)}(\rho_x) / K_x.$$

Proof. The corollary follows from Axiom 3.4.3 and Proposition 3.4.12.

Definition 3.4.15. We define the group $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ as

$$W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M \right).$$

Since $K_M \subset M(F)_{x_0}$ fixes every point of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , the action of $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} induces an action of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} .

Remark 3.4.16. Since the kernel of the action of $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} is the group $M(F)_{x_0}$, the action of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} is faithful if and only if

$$N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap M(F)_{x_0}.$$

In particular, if $K_M = M(F)_{x_0}$, then the action of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} is faithful.

Lemma 3.4.17. The group $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ acts on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} properly, that is, for all compact subsets C_1 and C_2 of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , the set $\{w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \mid w(C_1) \cap C_2 \neq \emptyset\}$ is finite.

Proof. Since $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \subset N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$, and the quotient $M(F)_{x_0}/K_M$ is finite, it suffices to show that the group $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}/M(F)_{x_0}$ acts properly on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} . Let S be a maximal split torus of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. Let $Z_G(S)(F)_{cpt}$ denote the maximal compact subgroup of $Z_G(S)(F)$. According to Lemma 3.1.1, we have

$$N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}/M(F)_{x_0} \simeq \left(N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} \cap N_G(S)(F)\right) / (M(F)_{x_0} \cap N_G(S)(F)) \ll \left(N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} \cap N_G(S)(F)\right) / Z_G(S)(F)_{\text{cpt}}.$$

Then the lemma follows from the fact that the Iwahori–Weyl group $N_G(S)(F)/Z_G(S)(F)_{cpt}$ acts properly on the apartment $\mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$ of S. Although the fact is well known, we record the proof

of it for completeness. Since the finite Weyl group $N_G(S)(F)/Z_G(S)(F)$ is finite, it suffices to show that the group $Z_G(S)(F)/Z_G(S)(F)_{cpt}$ acts properly on $\mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. According to [KP23, Proposition 6.2.4], for $z \in Z_G(S)(F)$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$, we have $zx = x + \nu(z)$, where $\nu(z)$ is the element of $X_*(S) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ defined by $\chi(\nu(z)) = -\operatorname{ord}(\chi(z))$ for all $\chi \in X^*(S)$. Thus, the claim follows from the fact that ν identifies the group $Z_G(S)(F)/Z_G(S)(F)_{cpt}$ with a lattice in $X_*(S) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. \Box

For $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, we define $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)_w$ to be $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)_n$ for any representative *n* of *w* in $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, i.e., the subspace of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)$ consisting of functions whose support is contained in $K_x n K_x$.

Proposition 3.4.18. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and assume Axioms 3.4.1 and 3.4.3. Then for each $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, the subspace $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)_w$ is one dimensional. Moreover, we have

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho_x) = \bigoplus_{w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}} \mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho_x)_w$$

as a vector space.

Proof. Let $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. We fix a lift n of w in $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. Then the map $\varphi \mapsto \varphi(n)$ defines an isomorphism of vector spaces

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)_w \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{K_x \cap {}^n K_x}({}^n \rho_x, \rho_x).$$

Since (K_x, ρ_x) is a quasi-*G*-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) , and $({}^nK_x, {}^n\rho_x)$ is a quasi-*G*-cover of $(K_M, {}^n\rho_M)$, Lemma 3.3.5 implies that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K_x \cap {}^n\!K_x}({}^n\!\rho_x, \rho_x) = \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n\!\rho_M, \rho_M).$$

Since $n \in N_{G(F)}(\rho_M)$ and the representation ρ_M is irreducible, the right-hand side is one dimensional. The last claim follows from (2.2.2) and Corollary 3.4.14.

3.5 Intertwining operators and a basis of the Hecke algebra

We keep the notation from the previous subsection including the assumption of Axiom 3.4.1, but we do not assume Axiom 3.4.3 until the last corollary, Corollary 3.5.27. We will define a non-zero element $\varphi_{x,w} \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)_w$ for every $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ below. The element $\varphi_{x,w}$ will correspond to the composition of two intertwining operators via the isomorphism in (2.2.3). The first intertwining operator

$$\Theta_{y|x}$$
: $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x) \to \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(\rho_y)$

for $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ is defined as follows. We note that by Lemma 3.4.9 and Axiom 3.4.1(1), for every $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ and $g \in G(F)$, the element $\theta_y(k) \cdot f(k^{-1}g)$ for $k \in K_{y,+}$ only depends on the image [k] of k in the quotient $K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+})$. For $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$, we define the function

$$\Theta_{y|x}(f) \colon G(F) \to V_{\rho_y}$$

by

$$\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(g) = |K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k] \in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+})} \theta_y(k) \cdot f(k^{-1}g).$$

Here, we regard $|K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})|$ as an element of \mathcal{C} , and it is invertible by Lemmas 3.4.7 and 3.4.8.

Remark 3.5.1. If the characteristic ℓ of C is zero or the group $K_{y,+}$ is a pro-*p*-group, then we can write $\Theta_{y|x}$ as

$$\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(g) = \int_{K_{y,+}} \theta_y(k) \cdot f(k^{-1}g) \, dk$$

for $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ and $g \in G(F)$, where dk denotes the Haar measure on $K_{y,+}$ such that the volume of $K_{y,+}$ is one. In our application of the theory to the setting of [FOAM], the group $K_{y,+}$ will be a pro-*p*-group, see [FOAM, (4.1.3)].

Lemma 3.5.2. The map $\Theta_{y|x}$ defines a G(F)-equivariant map

$$\Theta_{y|x}$$
: $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x) \to \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(\rho_y).$

Proof. We will prove that $\Theta_{y|x}(f) \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_y})$ for all $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$. Since we have $K_y = K_M \cdot K_{y,+}$ and $\rho_y|_{K_M} = \rho_M$, it suffices to show that

$$\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(k_Mg) = \rho_M(k_M)\left(\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(g)\right)$$

and

$$\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(k_{+}g) = \rho_{y}(k_{+})\left(\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(g)\right)$$

for all $g \in G(F)$, $k_M \in K_M$, and $k_+ \in K_{y,+}$. Let $g \in G(F)$ and $k_M \in K_M$. Since we have $K_M \subset K_x \cap K_y$ and the group K_x (resp. K_y) normalizes $K_{x,+}$ (resp. $K_{y,+}$), the group K_M normalizes $K_{x,+}$ and $K_{y,+}$. Moreover, since K_y normalizes $K_{y,+}$ and the restriction of ρ_y to $K_{y,+}$ is θ_y -isotypic, the group K_y normalizes θ_y . Hence, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(k_{M}g) &= |K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k]\in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})} \theta_{y}(k) \cdot f(k^{-1}k_{M}g) \\ &= |K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k]\in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})} \theta_{y}(k) \cdot f(k_{M}k_{M}^{-1}k^{-1}k_{M}g) \\ &= |K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k]\in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})} \theta_{y}(k) \cdot f(k_{M}^{-1}k^{-1}k_{M}g)) \\ &= \rho_{M}(k_{M}) \left(|K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k]\in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})} \theta_{y}(k) \cdot f(k_{M}^{-1}k^{-1}k_{M}g) \right) \\ &= \rho_{M}(k_{M}) \left(|K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k]\in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})} \theta_{y}(k) \cdot f((k_{M}^{-1}k_{M}k_{M})^{-1}g) \right) \\ &= \rho_{M}(k_{M}) \left(|K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k]\in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+}\cap K_{y,+})} \theta_{y}(k_{M}k_{M}k_{M}^{-1}) \cdot f(k^{-1}g) \right) \end{aligned}$$

$$= \rho_M(k_M) \left(|K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k] \in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+})} \theta_y(k) \cdot f(k^{-1}g) \right)$$

= $\rho_M(k_M) \left(\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f) \right)(g) \right).$

Moreover, the definition of $\Theta_{y|x}$ implies that

$$\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(k_+g) = \theta_y(k_+) \cdot \left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(g) = \rho_y(k_+)\left(\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(g)\right)$$

for all $g \in G(F)$ and $k_+ \in K_{y,+}$.

The claim that $\Theta_{y|x}$ is G(F)-equivariant follows from the definition of it.

We can also write $\Theta_{y|x}$ as follows.

Lemma 3.5.3. Let $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$ and $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F)$$
 and $K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)$.

Then we have

$$\left(\Theta_{y|x}(f)\right)(g) = \int_{K_y \cap U(F)} f(u^{-1}g) \, du$$

for all $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ and $g \in G(F)$, where du denotes the Haar measure on the pro-p-group $K_y \cap U(F)$ such that the volume of $K_y \cap U(F)$ is one.

Proof. Since the representation ρ_y is trivial on the group $K_y \cap U(F)$ and the restriction of ρ_y to $K_{y,+}$ is θ_y -isotypic, the character θ_y is trivial on the group $K_{y,+} \cap U(F) = K_y \cap U(F)$. Hence, by Lemma 3.4.7, we obtain that

$$(\Theta_{y|x}(f)) (g) = |K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k] \in K_{y,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+})} \theta_{y}(k) \cdot f(k^{-1}g)$$

$$= |(K_{y} \cap U(F)) / (K_{x} \cap U(F))|^{-1} \sum_{[u] \in (K_{y} \cap U(F))/(K_{x} \cap U(F))} \theta_{y}(u) \cdot f(u^{-1}g)$$

$$= \int_{K_{y} \cap U(F)} \theta_{y}(u) \cdot f(u^{-1}g) du$$

$$= \int_{K_{y} \cap U(F)} f(u^{-1}g) du.$$

Corollary 3.5.4. Let $x, y \in A_{\text{gen}}$ and assume Axiom 3.4.1. For $v \in V_{\rho_x}$, we define $f_v \in \text{ind}_{K_r}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ as

$$f_{v}(g) = \begin{cases} \rho_{x}(g)(v) & (g \in K_{x}), \\ 0 & (otherwise). \end{cases}$$

Then we have

$$\left(\left(\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x}\right)(f_v)\right)(1) = |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|^{-1}v$$

where we regard $|K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|$ as an element of C. This element is invertible by Lemma 3.4.8. In particular, $\Theta_{y|x}$ is non-zero.

Proof. By Axiom 3.4.1(5), there exists $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F)$$
 and $K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)$.

Then according to Lemma 3.4.7 and Lemma 3.5.3, we have

$$\left(\left(\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \right) (f_v) \right) (1) = \int_{K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)} \left(\Theta_{y|x}(f_v) \right) (\overline{u}^{-1}) d\overline{u}$$

$$= \int_{K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)} \int_{K_y \cap U(F)} f_v (u^{-1}\overline{u}^{-1}) du d\overline{u}$$

$$= \int_{K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)} \int_{K_x \cap K_y \cap U(F)} \rho_x (u^{-1}\overline{u}^{-1}) (v) du d\overline{u}$$

$$= \int_{K_x \cap \overline{U}(F)} \int_{K_x \cap U(F)} v du d\overline{u}$$

$$= \left| (K_y \cap U(F)) / (K_x \cap U(F)) \right|^{-1} v$$

$$= \left| K_y / (K_x \cap K_y) \right|^{-1} v$$

We will prove a transitivity property of $\Theta_{y|x}.$

Proposition 3.5.5. We assume Axiom 3.4.1. Let $x, y, z \in A_{gen}$ such that

$$d(x, y) + d(y, z) = d(x, z).$$

 $Then \ we \ have$

$$\Theta_{z|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} = \Theta_{z|x}.$$

Proof. By using Axiom 3.4.1(5), there exists $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subset K_y \cap U(F) \subset K_z \cap U(F)$$

and

$$K_z \cap \overline{U}(F) \subset K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subset K_x \cap \overline{U}(F).$$

Then according to Lemma 3.5.3, for $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ and $g \in G(F)$, we have

$$\left(\left(\Theta_{z|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \right) (f) \right) (g) = \int_{K_z \cap U(F)} \left(\Theta_{y|x}(f) \right) (u_z^{-1}g) \, du_z$$

$$= \int_{K_z \cap U(F)} \int_{K_y \cap U(F)} f(u_y^{-1}u_z^{-1}g) \, du_y \, du_z$$

$$= \int_{K_y \cap U(F)} \int_{K_z \cap U(F)} f(u_z^{-1}u_z^{-1}g) \, du_z \, du_y$$

$$= \int_{K_y \cap U(F)} \int_{K_z \cap U(F)} f(u_z^{-1}g) \, du_z \, du_y$$

$$= \int_{K_z \cap U(F)} f(u_z^{-1}g) \, du_z$$

$$= \left(\Theta_{z|x}(f) \right) (g).$$

We will prove a similar result under a weaker condition below (see Proposition 3.5.15). To do this, we define the notion of \mathcal{K} -relevance for an affine hyperplane $H \in \mathfrak{H}$. The group generated by the reflections across these \mathcal{K} -relevant hyperplanes will form (under additional assumptions) a basis for a subalgebra of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ that is isomorphic to an affine Hecke algebra. (See Theorem 3.10.10.)

Definition 3.5.6. We say that an affine hyperplane $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ is \mathcal{K} -relevant if there exists $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$ and

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_{\pi}}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}.$$
(3.5.7)

We denote the set of \mathcal{K} -relevant hyperplanes in \mathfrak{H} by $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$.

We will later see (in Corollary 3.5.20) that the action of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} preserves the set $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$.

Remark 3.5.8. By the definition of $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, an element $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ is contained in $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ if and only if there exists $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$ and (3.5.7) holds. However, under additional assumptions, we will see in Proposition 3.8.18 below that if $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, then we have that (3.5.7) holds for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$.

The \mathcal{K} -relevant hyperplanes are those for which one has a more complicated description of $\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x}$ for x and y on opposite sides of the hyperplane (see Lemma 3.8.9, Proposition 3.8.19). On the other hand, if $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ is not \mathcal{K} -relevant, then, according to the definition combined with Corollary 3.5.4, we have

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} = |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}$$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$.

We now normalize the operators $\Theta_{x|y}$ so that

$$\Theta_{x|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}$$

in this case (see Lemma 3.5.11). Recall that for an element $c = p^n \in \mathcal{C}$ with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we write $c^{1/2} := (p^{1/2})^n$, where $p^{1/2}$ denotes the fixed square root of p in \mathcal{C} .

Definition 3.5.9. For $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$, we define the G(F)-equivariant map

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \colon \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x) \longrightarrow \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(\rho_y)$$

by

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} = \left| K_y / \left(K_x \cap K_y \right) \right|^{1/2} \cdot \Theta_{y|x}.$$

Lemma 3.5.10. Suppose that $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ is not \mathcal{K} -relevant. Then for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$, we have

$$|K_x/(K_x \cap K_y)| = |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|$$

Note that the image of this number in C is invertible by Lemma 3.4.8.

Proof. According to Corollary 3.5.4, we have

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} = |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}$$

and

$$\Theta_{y|x} \circ \Theta_{x|y} = |K_x/(K_x \cap K_y)|^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(\rho_y)}$$

Hence, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Theta_{y|x} &= \Theta_{y|x} \circ \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x})} \\ &= |K_{y}/(K_{x} \cap K_{y})| \Theta_{y|x} \circ \left(\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x}\right) \\ &= |K_{y}/(K_{x} \cap K_{y})| \left(\Theta_{y|x} \circ \Theta_{x|y}\right) \circ \Theta_{y|x} \\ &= |K_{y}/(K_{x} \cap K_{y})| |K_{x}/(K_{x} \cap K_{y})|^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_{y}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{y})} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \\ &= |K_{y}/(K_{x} \cap K_{y})| |K_{x}/(K_{x} \cap K_{y})|^{-1} \Theta_{y|x}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\Theta_{y|x}$ is non-zero, we obtain the lemma.

Lemma 3.5.11. Suppose that $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ is not \mathcal{K} -relevant. Then we have

$$\Theta_{x|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}$$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}.$

Proof. According to Lemma 3.5.10, we have $|K_x/(K_x \cap K_y)| = |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|$. Then the claim follows from combining this with Corollary 3.5.4 and Definition 3.5.9.

As above, we also obtain a transitivity property for the normalized intertwining operators $\Theta_{x|y}^{\text{norm}}$. Lemma 3.5.12. Let $x, y, z \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$. Suppose that

$$d(x, y) + d(y, z) = d(x, z).$$

Then we have

$$\Theta_{z|y}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{z|x}^{\text{norm}}.$$

Proof. By using Axiom 3.4.1(5), we have $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subset K_y \cap U(F) \subset K_z \cap U(F)$$

and

$$K_z \cap \overline{U}(F) \subset K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subset K_x \cap \overline{U}(F).$$

According to Lemma 3.4.7, we have

$$\begin{cases} |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)| &= |(K_y \cap U(F))/(K_x \cap U(F))|, \\ |K_z/(K_y \cap K_z)| &= |(K_z \cap U(F))/(K_y \cap U(F))|, \\ |K_z/(K_x \cap K_z)| &= |(K_z \cap U(F))/(K_x \cap U(F))|. \end{cases}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)| |K_z/(K_y \cap K_z)| &= |(K_y \cap U(F))/(K_x \cap U(F))| |(K_z \cap U(F))/(K_y \cap U(F))| \\ &= |(K_z \cap U(F))/(K_x \cap U(F))| \\ &= |K_z/(K_x \cap K_z)|. \end{aligned}$$

Combining it with Proposition 3.5.5, we obtain the claim.

The transitivity property holds under a weaker assumption that only takes the \mathcal{K} -relevant hyperplanes into account. In order to state the weaker assumption and stronger result (see Proposition 3.5.15), we first need to introduce some notation.

Notation 3.5.13. For $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, we define the subset $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,y}$ of $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ by

 $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,y} = \{ H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} \mid x \text{ and } y \text{ are on opposite sides of } H \},\$

and write $d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,y) = \#\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel};x,y}$.

Lemma 3.5.14. Let $x, y, z \in A_{gen}$. Then we have

$$d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,y) + d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(y,z) \ge d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,z),$$

and the following conditions are equivalent:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \text{(a)} & & d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel}}(x,y) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel}}(y,z) = d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel}}(x,z), \\ \text{(b)} & & \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel};x,y}, \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel};y,z} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel};x,z}, \\ \text{(c)} & & \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel};x,y} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel};y,z} = \emptyset. \end{array}$$

Moreover, the condition

$$d(x, y) + d(y, z) = d(x, z)$$

implies

$$d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,y) + d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(y,z) = d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,z)$$

Proof. The first and second claim follow from the same arguments as in the proof of Lemma 3.2.1. The last claim follows from the fact $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel};x,y} = \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{x,y}$.

Proposition 3.5.15. Let $x, y, z \in A_{gen}$ and assume Axiom 3.4.1. Suppose that

$$d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,y) + d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(y,z) = d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,z).$$

Then we have

$$\Theta^{\operatorname{norm}}_{z|y} \circ \Theta^{\operatorname{norm}}_{y|x} = \Theta^{\operatorname{norm}}_{z|x}.$$

Proof. We use induction on d(x, y). If d(x, y) = 0, we have

$$d(x, z) = d(y, z) = d(x, y) + d(y, z).$$

Hence, the proposition follows from Lemma 3.5.12. Suppose that d(x, y) > 0. We take $x' \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that d(x, x') = 1 and d(x, x') + d(x', y) = d(x, y). According to Lemma 3.5.12, we have

$$\Theta_{y|x'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}.$$
(3.5.15a)

Recall that we are assuming

$$d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,y) + d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(y,z) = d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,z).$$
(3.5.15b)

On the other hand, since d(x, x') + d(x', y) = d(x, y), according to Lemma 3.5.14, we also have

$$d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,x') + d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x',y) = d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,y).$$
(3.5.15c)

Combining (3.5.15b) with (3.5.15c), we obtain

$$d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,z) = d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,y) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(y,z)$$

= $d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,x') + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x',y) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(y,z)$
 $\geq d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,x') + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x',z)$
 $\geq d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,z).$

Since all of the inequalities above are thus equalities, we have

$$d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x',y) + d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(y,z) = d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x',z)$$
(3.5.15d)

and

$$d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,x') + d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x',z) = d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x,z).$$
(3.5.15e)

Then (3.5.15d) and the induction hypothesis imply that

$$\Theta_{z|y}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x'}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{z|x'}^{\text{norm}}.$$
(3.5.15f)

Combining (3.5.15a) with (3.5.15f), we have

$$\Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{z|y} \circ \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{y|x} = \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{z|y} \circ \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{y|x'} \circ \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{x'|x} = \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{z|x'} \circ \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{x'|x}.$$

Thus it suffices to show that $\Theta_{z|x'}^{norm} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{norm} = \Theta_{z|x}^{norm}$. Let $H \subset \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$ denote the unique affine hyperplane in \mathfrak{H} such that x and x' are on opposite sides of H. If x' and z are on the same side of H, then we have $\mathfrak{H}_{x,x'} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{x',z} = \emptyset$. Then, according to Lemma 3.2.1, we have d(x,x') + d(x',z) = d(x,z). In this case, the claim follows from Lemma 3.5.12. Suppose that x' and z are on opposite sides of H. In this case, x and z are on the same side of H. Hence, we obtain $\mathfrak{H}_{x',x} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{x,z} = \emptyset$, equivalently, d(x',x) + d(x,z) = d(x',z). Then, according to Lemma 3.5.12, we have

$$\Theta_{z|x}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x|x'}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{z|x'}^{\text{norm}}.$$
(3.5.15g)

We also note that $H \notin \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Indeed, if $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, we have

Ì

$$H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathrm{rel};x,x'} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{\mathrm{rel};x',z}
eq \emptyset,$$

contradicting (3.5.15e). Hence, we obtain that H is not \mathcal{K} -relevant. Then, according to Lemma 3.5.11, we have

$$\Theta_{x|x'}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}.$$
(3.5.15h)

Combining (3.5.15g) with (3.5.15h), we obtain

$$\Theta_{z|x'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{z|x}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x|x'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{z|x}^{\text{norm}}.$$

We record a corollary of Proposition 3.5.15, that is a generalization of Lemma 3.5.10 and will be used in Section 4.5 below.

Corollary 3.5.16. Let $x, y \in A_{\text{gen}}$ such that $d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x, y) = 0$ and assume Axiom 3.4.1. Then we have

$$|K_x/(K_x \cap K_y)| = |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|.$$

Proof. Since $d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,y) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(y,x) = d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,x) = 0$, Proposition 3.5.15 implies that $\Theta_{x|y}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} = \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}$. Combining this with Corollary 3.5.4 and Definition 3.5.9, we obtain that

$$|K_x/(K_x \cap K_y)|^{1/2} |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|^{1/2} |K_y/(K_x \cap K_y)|^{-1} = 1$$

Thus, we obtain the claim.

Now we construct the non-zero element $\varphi_{x,w} \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)_w$ for $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. In order to do so, we make the following choice.

Choice 3.5.17. We fix a family of non-zero elements

$$\mathcal{T} = \{T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n\rho_M, \rho_M)\}_{n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}}$$

that satisfies the following conditions:

(1) We have $T_1 = \mathrm{id}_{\rho_M}$.

(2) For all
$$n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$$
 and $k \in K_M \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, we have $T_{nk} = T_n \circ \rho_M(k)$.

We will later refine our choice of \mathcal{T} . See Choices 3.10.3 and 3.11.5.

Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. According to Axiom 3.4.1(4a), the pair (K_{nx}, ρ_{nx}) is a quasi-G-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) . On the other hand, according to Lemma 3.4.10, the pair $(K_{nx}, {}^n\!\rho_x)$ is a quasi-G-cover of $(K_M, {}^n\!\rho_M)$. Hence, according to Lemma 3.3.5, we have

$$T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n\!\rho_M, \rho_M) = \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{nx}}({}^n\!\rho_x, \rho_{nx}).$$

This allows us to define a second type of intertwining operator, whose composition with an appropriate $\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}$ will allow us to define $\varphi_{x,w} \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)_w$ in Definition 3.5.23 below.

Definition 3.5.18. For $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ we define the isomorphism

$$c_{x,n} \colon \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{ind}_{K_{nx}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{nx})$$

by

$$c_{x,n}(f): g \longmapsto T_n(f(n^{-1}g))$$

for $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ and $g \in G(F)$.

Lemma 3.5.19. Let $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. Then we have

$$\Theta_{ny|nx} \circ c_{x,n} = c_{y,n} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \quad and \quad \Theta_{ny|nx}^{\text{norm}} \circ c_{x,n} = c_{y,n} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}$$

Proof. By the definitions of $\Theta_{ny|nx}$ and $c_{x,n}$ we have for $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ and $g \in G(F)$ that $\left(\left(\Theta_{ny|nx} \circ c_{x,n}\right)(f)\right)(g) = |K_{ny,+}/(K_{nx,+} \cap K_{ny,+})|^{-1} \sum_{[k] \in K_{ny,+}/(K_{nx,+} \cap K_{ny,+})} \theta_{ny}(k) \cdot T_n(f(n^{-1}k^{-1}g)).$

On the other hand, by the definitions of $\Theta_{y|x}$ and $c_{y,n}$ and Axiom 3.4.1(3), we have

$$\left(\left(c_{y,n} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \right) (f) \right) (g) = T_n \left(\left| K_{y,+} / \left(K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+} \right) \right|^{-1} \sum_{[k] \in K_{y,+} / (K_{x,+} \cap K_{y,+})} \theta_y(k) \cdot f(k^{-1}n^{-1}g) \right)$$

= $\left| K_{ny,+} / \left(K_{nx,+} \cap K_{ny,+} \right) \right|^{-1} \sum_{[k] \in K_{ny,+} / (K_{nx,+} \cap K_{ny,+})} \theta_y(n^{-1}kn) \cdot T_n(f(n^{-1}k^{-1}g)).$

Now the first claim follows from Lemma 3.4.11, and the second claim follows from the first claim, Definition 3.5.9, and Axiom 3.4.1(3).

Corollary 3.5.20. Assume Axiom 3.4.1 and let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. Then we have $n(H) \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$.

Proof. According to Axiom 3.4.1(2), we have $n(H) \in \mathfrak{H}$. We will prove that n(H) is \mathcal{K} -relevant. Since $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, there exists $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$ and

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}$$

According to Lemma 3.5.19, we have

$$\Theta_{ny|nx} = c_{y,n} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \circ c_{x,n}^{-1}$$
 and $\Theta_{nx|ny} = c_{x,n} \circ \Theta_{x|y} \circ c_{y,n}^{-1}$.

Hence, we obtain that

$$\Theta_{nx|ny} \circ \Theta_{ny|nx} = \left(c_{x,n} \circ \Theta_{x|y} \circ c_{y,n}^{-1}\right) \circ \left(c_{y,n} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \circ c_{x,n}^{-1}\right) = c_{x,n} \circ \Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \circ c_{x,n}^{-1}.$$

Since

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)},$$

we have

$$\Theta_{nx|ny} \circ \Theta_{ny|nx} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_{nx}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{nx})}.$$

Since $\mathfrak{H}_{nx,ny} = n(\mathfrak{H}_{x,y}) = \{n(H)\}$, we conclude that n(H) is \mathcal{K} -relevant.

Lemma 3.5.21. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. Then the isomorphism $c_{x,n}$ only depends on the image of n in $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$.

Proof. Let $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ and $k \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M$. We will prove that $c_{x,n} = c_{x,nk}$. Since $K_M \subset M(F)_{x_0}$ acts trivially on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , we have nkx = nx. Let $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ and $g \in G(F)$.

Then we have

$$(c_{x,nk}(f))(g) = T_{nk}(f(k^{-1}n^{-1}g))$$

= $(T_n \circ \rho_M(k)) (\rho_x(k^{-1})f(n^{-1}g))$
= $(T_n \circ \rho_M(k)) (\rho_M(k^{-1})f(n^{-1}g))$
= $T_n(f(n^{-1}g))$
= $(c_{x,n}(f))(g).$

Thus, we obtain the lemma.

As a consequence of the lemma, we may write

$$c_{x,w} \coloneqq c_{x,n} \tag{3.5.22}$$

for $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, and n any lift of w in $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$.

Definition 3.5.23. For $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ we define the element

$$\Phi_{x,w} \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)\right)$$

by

$$\Phi_{x,w} = c_{w^{-1}x,w} \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}$$

and let $\varphi_{x,w}$ denote the element of $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)$ that corresponds to $\Phi_{x,w}$ via the isomorphism in (2.2.3). We write $\varphi_w \coloneqq \varphi_{x_0,w}$ and $\Phi_w \coloneqq \Phi_{x_0,w}$.

Remark 3.5.24. Since $\Theta_{w^{-1}x|x}^{\text{norm}}$ is non-zero and $c_{w^{-1}x,w}$ is an isomorphism, we obtain that $\Phi_{x,w}$ and $\varphi_{x,w}$ are non-zero. We will see below in Corollary 3.8.13 that under additional assumptions the endomorphism $\Phi_{x,w}$ is an isomorphism.

Remark 3.5.25. The elements $\Phi_{x,w}$ and $\varphi_{x,w}$ depend on the choice of the family

$$\mathcal{T} = \left\{ T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M} \left({}^n \rho_M, \rho_M \right) \right\}_{n \in N(\rho_M)} \underset{[x_0]_N}{\circ}$$

made in Choice 3.5.17 as follows. Let $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ and $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$. If we replace T_n with $c \cdot T_n$ for all lifts n of w in $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, then the elements $\Phi_{x,w}$ and $\varphi_{x,w}$ are replaced by $c \cdot \Phi_{x,w}$ and $c \cdot \varphi_{x,w}$, respectively. We have chosen $T_1 = \mathrm{id}_{\rho_M}$ so that the endomorphism $\Phi_{x,1}$ is the identity map on $\mathrm{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)$ for every $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{gen}}$.

Lemma 3.5.26. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. Then we have $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi_{x,w}) = K_x w K_x$. Moreover, if n is a lift of w in $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, then $(\varphi_{x,w}(n))v = |K_x/(K_{wx} \cap K_x)|^{-1/2} T_n(v)$ for all $v \in V_{\rho_x}$.

Proof. We fix a lift n of w in $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. For $g \in G(F)$ and $v \in V_{\rho_x}$, we obtain using (2.2.4) and Axiom 3.4.1(3) that

$$\begin{aligned} (\varphi_{x,w}(g))v &= (\Phi_{x,w}(f_v))(g) \\ &= \left((c_{w^{-1}x,w} \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}})(f_v) \right)(g) \\ &= T_n \left((\Theta_{w^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}(f_v))(n^{-1}g) \right) \\ &= |K_{w^{-1}x}/(K_x \cap K_{w^{-1}x})|^{-1/2} T_n \left(\sum_{[k] \in K_{w^{-1}x,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{w^{-1}x,+})} \theta_{w^{-1}x}(k) \cdot f_v(k^{-1}n^{-1}g) \right) \\ &= |K_{w^{-1}x}/(K_x \cap K_{w^{-1}x})|^{-1/2} T_n \left(\sum_{[k] \in K_{w^{-1}x,+}/(K_{x,+} \cap K_{w^{-1}x,+})} \theta_{w^{-1}x}(k) \cdot f_v(n^{-1}(nkn^{-1})^{-1}g) \right) \\ &= |K_x/(K_{wx} \cap K_x)|^{-1/2} T_n \left(\sum_{[k] \in K_{x,+}/(K_{wx,+} \cap K_{x,+})} \theta_{w^{-1}x}(n^{-1}kn) \cdot f_v(n^{-1}k^{-1}g) \right). \end{aligned}$$

Since f_v is supported on K_x , the sum vanishes unless $g \in K_{x,+}nK_x \subseteq K_xwK_x$. Hence, since $\varphi_{x,w}$ is non-zero, we obtain that $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi_{x,w}) = K_xwK_x$. Moreover, we have

$$\sum_{[k]\in K_{x,+}/(K_{wx,+}\cap K_{x,+})} \theta_{w^{-1}x}(n^{-1}kn) \cdot f_v(n^{-1}k^{-1}n) = v,$$

which yields the second claim.

Corollary 3.5.27. Let $x \in A_{x_0}$ and assume Axioms 3.4.1 and 3.4.3. As a vector space, we have

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho_x) = \bigoplus_{w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}} \mathcal{C} \cdot \varphi_{x,w}.$$

Proof. The corollary follows from Proposition 3.4.18 and Lemma 3.5.26.

3.6 Relations in the length-additive case

We will now study the structure of the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ as a \mathcal{C} -algebra. In this subsection, we investigate the relations in the length-additive case for a length that we define below in Definition 3.6.3. We keep the notation from the previous subsection and assume Axiom 3.4.1 (but not Axiom 3.4.3). Let $m, n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. Recall that we have fixed an isomorphism

$$T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n\rho_M, \rho_M) \subset \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{C}}(V_{\rho_M})$$

in Choice 3.5.17. Since the subspaces $\operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^{mn}\rho_M, {}^{m}\rho_M)$ and $\operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^{n}\rho_M, \rho_M)$ of $\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{C}}(V_{\rho_M})$ are equal, T_n is also an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^{mn}\rho_M, {}^{m}\rho_M)$. Then we can form the composition $T_m \circ T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^{mn}\rho_M, \rho_M)$. Since $\operatorname{dim}_{\mathcal{C}}(\operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^{mn}\rho_M, \rho_M)) = 1$, the isomorphisms $T_m \circ T_n$ and T_{mn} differ by a non-zero scalar, and it is straightforward to see that this scalar depends only on the images \overline{m} and \overline{n} of m and n in $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$.

Notation 3.6.1. We denote by

$$\mu^{\mathcal{T}} \colon W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \times W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \to \mathcal{C}^{\times}$$

the unique map that satisfies

$$T_m \circ T_n = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(\bar{m}, \bar{n}) \cdot T_{mn}$$

Standard arguments of projective representations imply that $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ is a 2-cocycle. We note that the 2-cocycle $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ depends on the choice of a family $\mathcal{T} = \{T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n\rho_M, \rho_M)\}_{n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}}$, made in Choice 3.5.17, but its cohomology class does not. We will see in the next lemma that the 2-cocycle also determines the composition of the homomorphisms $c_{v^{-1}x,v}$, which we will then use to study the composition of the operators Φ_v .

Lemma 3.6.2. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $v, w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. Then the homomorphism

$$c_{v^{-1}x,v} \circ c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x,w} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x}), \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x})\right)$$

is equal to $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(v, w) \cdot c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x, vw}$.

Proof. We fix a lift m of v and n of w in $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. For $f \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x})$ and $g \in G(F)$, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \left(c_{v^{-1}x,v} \circ c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x,w} \right)(f) \right)(g) = T_m \left(\left(c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x,w}(f) \right)(m^{-1}g) \right) \\ = T_m \left(T_n \left(f(n^{-1}m^{-1}g) \right) \right) \\ = \left(T_m \circ T_n \right) \left(f(n^{-1}m^{-1}g) \right) \\ = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(m,n) \cdot T_{mn} \left(f(n^{-1}m^{-1}g) \right) \\ = \left(\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(v,w) \cdot c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x,vw}(f) \right)(g).$$

Thus, we obtain the lemma.

We equip the group $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ with the following length function.

Definition 3.6.3. For $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, we define

$$\ell_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(w) = d_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(x_0, w^{-1}x_0).$$

Proposition 3.6.4. Let $v, w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ and assume Axiom 3.4.1. If

$$\ell_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(vw) = \ell_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(v) + \ell_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(w),$$

then we have

$$\Phi_v \Phi_w = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(v, w) \cdot \Phi_{vw}$$

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x_0, w^{-1}x_0) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(w^{-1}x_0, w^{-1}v^{-1}x_0) &= d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x_0, w^{-1}x_0) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x_0, v^{-1}x_0) \\ &= d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x_0, v^{-1}x_0) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x_0, w^{-1}x_0) \\ &= \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(v) + \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(w) \\ &= \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(vw) \\ &= d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x_0, w^{-1}v^{-1}x_0). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, according to Proposition 3.5.15, we have

$$\Theta_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_0|w^{-1}x_0}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}x_0|x_0}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_0|x_0}^{\text{norm}}$$

On the other hand, according to Lemma 3.5.19, we have

$$\Theta_{v^{-1}x_0|x_0}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ c_{w^{-1}x_0,w} = c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_0,w} \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_0|w^{-1}x_0}^{\operatorname{norm}}.$$

Thus we obtain using Lemma 3.6.2

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{v}\Phi_{w} &= \left(c_{v^{-1}x_{0},v} \circ \Theta_{v^{-1}x_{0}|x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}} \cdot\right) \circ \left(c_{w^{-1}x_{0},w} \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}x_{0}|x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right) \\ &= c_{v^{-1}x_{0},v} \circ \left(\Theta_{v^{-1}x_{0}|x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ c_{w^{-1}x_{0},w}\right) \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}x_{0}|x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}} \\ &= c_{v^{-1}x_{0},v} \circ \left(c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_{0},w} \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_{0}|w^{-1}x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right) \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}x_{0}|x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}} \\ &= \left(c_{v^{-1}x_{0},v} \circ c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_{0},w}\right) \circ \left(\Theta_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_{0}|w^{-1}x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}x_{0}|x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right) \\ &= \left(\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(v,w) \cdot c_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_{0},vw}\right) \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}v^{-1}x_{0}|x_{0}}^{\operatorname{norm}} \\ &= \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(v,w) \cdot \Phi_{vw}. \end{split}$$

3.7 The structure of the indexing group

We keep the notation from the previous subsection and assume Axioms 3.4.1 and 3.4.3. In this subsection, we will introduce an additional axiom about $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ containing a nice subgroup, Axiom 3.7.1, that allows us to deduce that $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ is a semi-direct product of a normal affine Weyl group with the subgroup of $\ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ -length-zero elements. This generalizes the decomposition that Morris ([Mor93, 7.3. Proposition]) obtains for his group $W(\sigma)$ (using his notation) that indexes a basis for the Hecke algebra of a depth-zero type attached to a parahoric subgroup.

For $H \in \mathfrak{H}$, let s_H denote the orthogonal reflection on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} with respect to the affine hyperplane H. We define $W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ to be the subgroup of the affine transformations of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} generated by $\{s_H \mid H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}\}$, i.e.,

$$W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel}} = \langle s_H \mid H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel}} \rangle.$$

Axiom 3.7.1. There exists a normal subgroup $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ such that the action of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} restricts to an isomorphism

$$W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}} \xrightarrow{\sim} W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}.$$

One way to check that the axiom is satisfied is via the following lemma.

Lemma 3.7.2. Assume Axioms 3.4.1 and 3.4.3, and suppose that there exists a normal subgroup G' of G(F) such that

$$G' \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M = G' \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap M(F)_{x_0}$$

and that for all $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, there exists an element

$$s'_{H} \in \left(G' \cap N(\rho_{M})^{\heartsuit}_{[x_{0}]_{M}}\right) / \left(G' \cap N(\rho_{M})^{\heartsuit}_{[x_{0}]_{M}} \cap K_{M}\right)$$

such that the action of s'_H on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} agrees with the orthogonal reflection s_H . Then Axiom 3.7.1 is satisfied with

$$W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}} = \langle s'_H \mid H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} \rangle.$$

In the depth-zero setting, i.e., in Section 5, we will apply this lemma in the case that the normal subgroup G' is the kernel of the Kottwitz homomorphism to prove that Axiom 3.7.1 is satisfied, see Proposition 5.3.5. In the setting of [FOAM], we will observe that $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ there is the same as the corresponding group in a depth-zero setting and the relevant hyperplanes are a subset of the hyperplanes in the depth-zero setting, so that Axiom 3.7.1 in the setting of [FOAM] follows from the result in the depth-zero setting, see [FOAM, Proposition 4.3.9].

Proof of Lemma 3.7.2. By Remark 3.4.16 and Corollary 3.5.20, the group

$$\left(G' \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}\right) / \left(G' \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M\right)$$

acts faithfully on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} through affine transformations and preserves $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Thus we can identify the former group with a subgroup of the group of affine transformations of \mathcal{A}_{x_0} preserving $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Since the latter contains the group $W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} = \langle s_H \mid H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} \rangle$ as a normal subgroup, the claim follows from the assumption about the existence of $s'_H \in (G' \cap N(\rho_M)^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_M})/(G' \cap N(\rho_M)^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_M} \cap K_M)$ and the observation that $(G' \cap N(\rho_M)^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_M})/(G' \cap N(\rho_M)^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_M} \cap K_M)$ is a normal subgroup of $W(\rho_M)^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_M}$.

We will now show that the group $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ of Axiom 3.7.1 is an affine Weyl group, which explains our choice of notation. For $H \in \mathfrak{H}$, let a_H denote an affine functional on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} such that $H = \{x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \mid a_H(x) = 0\}$. We write Da_H for the gradient of a_H , which is a linear functional on $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. The subspace

$$\ker(Da_H) = \{ v \in X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \mid Da_H(v) = 0 \}$$

of $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ only depends on H and not on the choice of a_H . We define the subspace $V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ of $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ by

$$V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} = \bigcap_{H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}} \ker(Da_H).$$

We define the affine space $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ to be the quotient affine space $\mathcal{A}_{x_0}/V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and write its vector space of translations as

$$V_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}} = \left(X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}\right) / V^{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}$$

According to Corollary 3.5.20, the action of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} induces a well-defined action of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Let $(V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}})^{\perp}$ denote the orthogonal complement of $V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ in $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ with respect to the previously fixed $N_G(M)(F)$ -invariant inner product $(\ ,\)_M$ on $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. Then the natural projection $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \to V_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ restricts to an isomorphism

$$(V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}})^{\perp} \xrightarrow{\sim} V_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}.$$
 (3.7.3)

We define an inner product on $V_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ by restricting the inner product $(,)_M$ to $(V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}})^{\perp}$ and then transporting it to $V_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ via the isomorphism in (3.7.3). This turns the affine space $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ into a Euclidean space. We identify an affine hyperplane $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ with its image on $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$.

Proposition 3.7.4. Assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3 and 3.7.1. Then there exists an affine root system $\Gamma(\rho_M)$ on $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ whose vanishing hyperplanes are $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. In particular, the action of $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ on $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ induces an isomorphism

$$W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}} \simeq W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} = W_{\text{aff}}(\Gamma(\rho_M)),$$

where $W_{\text{aff}}(\Gamma(\rho_M))$ denotes the affine Weyl group of $\Gamma(\rho_M)$. (We allow the affine root system to be empty, with the associated affine Weyl group being the trivial group.)

Proof. We assume that $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ has dimension at least one because the statement is otherwise trivial. According to [Bou68, Chapter V, Section 3.10, Proposition 10] and the proof of [Bou68, Chapter VI, Section 2.5, Proposition 8], it suffices to check the following conditions (see also the proof of [Mor93, 2.7 Theorem (b)]):

- (1) For any $w \in W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, we have $w(H) \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$.
- (2) The group $W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ acts properly on $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$.
- (3) For any $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, there are infinitely many $H' \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ that are parallel to H.

Condition (1) follows from Corollary 3.5.20 and Axiom 3.7.1, and Condition (2) follows from Lemma 3.4.17 and Axiom 3.7.1. It remains to prove Condition (3). Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. We fix an affine functional a on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} such that $H = \{x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \mid a(x) = 0\}$. We write α for the gradient of a. Let $t \in \mathcal{A}_M(F)$. Since $t \in \mathcal{A}_M(F) \subset \mathcal{N}(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, we have $t(H) \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ by Corollary 3.5.20. We define the element $\nu(t) \in X_*(\mathcal{A}_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ by $\chi(\nu(t)) = -\operatorname{ord}(\chi(t))$ for all $\chi \in X^*(\mathcal{A}_M)$. We note that the set $\{\nu(t) \mid t \in \mathcal{A}_M(F)\}$ is a lattice of full rank in $X_*(\mathcal{A}_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \neq \{0\}$. Hence, we can take $t \in \mathcal{A}_M(F)$ such that $\alpha(\nu(t)) \neq 0$. According to [KP23, Proposition 6.2.4], we have $t^{-1}x = x - \nu(t)$. Hence, we obtain that

$$t(H) = \{ tx \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \mid a(x) = 0 \} = \{ x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \mid a(t^{-1}x) = 0 \} = \{ x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \mid a(x - \nu(t)) = 0 \}$$
$$= \{ x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \mid a(x) - \alpha(\nu(t)) = 0 \}.$$

Thus, we obtain that t(H) is parallel to H. Moreover, since $\alpha(\nu(t)) \neq 0$, by applying the same calculations to t^n instead of t for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we obtain that the affine hyperplanes $t^n(H)$ with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ are all pairwise distinct, contained in $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, and parallel to H.

We now construct a complement to $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ in $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$.

Notation 3.7.5. We call the connected components of the complement of $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ in $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ chambers and denote by $C_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ the chamber of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ that contains $x_0 + V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. We define the subgroup $\Omega(\rho_M)$ of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ by

$$\Omega(\rho_M) = \Big\{ w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \, \Big| \, w(C_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}) = C_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} \Big\}.$$

Note that $\Omega(\rho_M)$ consists precisely of the length-zero elements of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ with respect to the length $\ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ introduced in Definition 3.6.3.

Proposition 3.7.6. Assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3 and 3.7.1. Then we have

$$W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = \Omega(\rho_M) \ltimes W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}.$$

Proof. According to Proposition 3.7.4, the action of $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ on the set of all chambers of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ is simply transitive. Hence we obtain that

$$\Omega(\rho_M) \cap W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}} = \{1\}$$

and

$$W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = \Omega(\rho_M) \cdot W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}.$$

Since $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ is a normal subgroup of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, the proposition follows.

3.8 Simple reflections and quadratic relations

In this subsection, we continue our study of the structure of the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$. In Section 3.6, we investigated the relations of basis elements of the Hecke algebra in the lengthadditive case, see Proposition 3.6.4. In this subsection, we will study the relations in the basic non-length-additive case, the case of (simple) reflections, introduced in Notation 3.8.1 below. This will require one further axiom, Axiom 3.8.2 below, which ensures that the Hecke algebra element Φ_s corresponding to a simple reflection *s* satisfies a quadratic relation. This additional axiom also allows us to prove that the endomorphism Φ_w for $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ is invertible, see Corollary 3.8.13.

We keep the notation from the previous subsections and assume all the above axioms, i.e., Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, and 3.7.1.

Notation 3.8.1. We denote by $S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} \subset W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ the subset of *simple reflections* corresponding to the chamber $C_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, i.e., the reflections across the walls of $C_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Using the isomorphism of $W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ with the subgroup $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ from Axiom 3.7.1, we also view $S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ as a subset of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$. For each $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, we denote by $H_s \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ the corresponding wall of $C_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$.

We note that the restriction of the length function $\ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ to $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ agrees with the length function of the Coxeter system $(W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}})$. We will now impose one more axiom that guarantees that the Hecke algebra elements supported on double cosets of lifts of simple reflections satisfy a quadratic relation. **Axiom 3.8.2.** For any $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$, there exists a compact, open subgroup $K'_{x,s}$ of G(F) containing K_x such that

$$W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \supset \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K'_{x,s} \right) / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M \right) = \{1, s\}.$$

Remark 3.8.3. In the depth-zero setting discussed in Section 5, the axiom is satisfied for the group $K'_{x,s} = K_M \cdot G(F)_{h,0}$ for $h \in H_s$ the unique point for which $h = x + t \cdot (sx - x)$ for some 0 < t < 1. For the more general setup in [FOAM] the axiom is satisfied for $K'_{x,s} = K_h$ as defined in [FOAM, Equation (4.1.3)]. This is proven in Corollary 4.3.10 of [FOAM].

Notation 3.8.4. For $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ with $\mathfrak{H}_{x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$, let $K_{x,s_H} \coloneqq \langle K_x, s_H \rangle$. Here, we regard $s_H \in W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ as an element of $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}} \subset W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ via the isomorphism in Axiom 3.7.1.

Remark 3.8.5. If a group $K'_{x,s}$ exists as in Axiom 3.8.2, then we obtain that the axiom also holds for the group $K_{x,s}$ in place of $K'_{x,s}$. This is because $K_{x,s}$ is an open (hence closed) subgroup of $K'_{x,s}$, and thus is compact and

$$\{1,s\} \subseteq \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,s}\right) / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M\right)$$
$$\subseteq \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K'_{x,s}\right) / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M\right) = \{1,s\}.$$

Thus, we conclude that $\left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,s}\right) / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M\right) = \{1,s\}.$

The reason why we state Axiom 3.8.2 with an arbitrary subgroup $K'_{x,s}$ rather than with $K_{x,s}$ is that in Section 4 below, in order to obtain an isomorphism between different Hecke algebras, we will state that Axiom 3.8.2 is satisfied for a specific choice of $K'_{x,s}$, see the beginning of Section 4.4 and Theorem 4.4.8.

Remark 3.8.6. While Axiom 3.8.2 only concerns simple reflections, it implies the same result for other reflections. More precisely, let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$. According to [Bou68, Chapter V, Section 3.1, Lemma 2], there exists $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ and $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ such that $w(H) = H_s$ and hence $s_H = w^{-1}sw$. Thus, from Axiom 3.8.2 and Remark 3.8.5, we obtain that the group $K_{x,s_H} = \langle K_x, s_H \rangle = w^{-1}K_{wx,s}w$ is a compact, open subgroup of G(F) and

$$\left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,s_H}\right) / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M\right) = \{1, s_H\}.$$

We remind the reader that we have shown in Section 2.2, in particular around Diagram (2.2.7), how to view $\operatorname{End}_{K_{x,s_{H}}}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{K_{x,s_{H}}}(\rho_{x}))$ as a subalgebra of $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x}))$.

Lemma 3.8.7. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$. Then the elements Φ_{x,s_H} and $\Phi_{x,1}$ form a basis of $\operatorname{End}_{K_{x,s_H}}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,s_H}}(\rho_x)\right)$.

In particular, we have

$$\dim_{\mathcal{C}} \left(\operatorname{End}_{K_{x,s_{H}}} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{K_{x,s_{H}}} (\rho_{x}) \right) \right) = 2.$$

Proof. According to the isomorphism in (2.2.6), it suffices to show that the elements φ_{x,s_H} and $\varphi_{x,1}$ give a basis of $\mathcal{H}(K_{x,s_H}, \rho_x)$. According to Proposition 3.4.18 and Lemma 3.5.26, a basis of the space $\mathcal{H}(K_{x,s_H}, \rho_x)$ is given by the set

$$\left\{\varphi_{x,w} \mid w \in \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,s_H}\right) / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M\right)\right\}.$$

Thus, the lemma follows from Remark 3.8.6.

Corollary 3.8.8. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$. Then there exist $p_{x,H}, q_{x,H} \in \mathcal{C}$ such that

$$(\Phi_{x,s_H})^2 = p_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H} + q_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,1}$$

Proof. Since Φ_{x,s_H} belongs to the subalgebra $\operatorname{End}_{K_{x,s_H}}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,s_H}}(\rho_x))$ of $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x))$, the same is true of $(\Phi_{x,s_H})^2$. Thus, the corollary follows from Lemma 3.8.7.

The remainder of this subsection is concerned with strengthening the statement of this Corollary by replacing the condition $\mathfrak{H}_{x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$ by the weaker condition $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$ and by proving that the coefficients $p_{x,H}$ and $q_{x,H}$ in the above quadratic relation are non-zero and independent of the choice x. While $q_{x,H} \neq 0$ follows from a standard observation about the endomorphism $\Theta_{x|s_Hx}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{s_Hx|x}^{\text{norm}}$ for a general $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$, to prove $p_{x,H} \neq 0$, the condition $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ is essential. We remind the reader that the condition $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ was defined by the existence of $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ with $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$ and $\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x}$ is a non-scalar operator on $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)$. In order to prove $p_{x,H} \neq 0$, we will show that if $\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x}$ is a non-scalar operator for some $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ with $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$, then the same is true for all such $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, and even for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ satisfying only the weaker condition $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,y} = \{H\}$, see Proposition 3.8.18. Once we know that the coefficients $p_{x,H}$ and $q_{x,H}$ are non-zero and independent of x, we will refine our choice of $\mathcal{T} = \{T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n\rho_M, \rho_M)\}_{n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}}$ that entered the definition of the endomorphism Φ_s to obtain a quadratic relation (Φ_s)² = ($q_s - 1$) $\cdot \Phi_s + q_s \cdot \Phi_1$ with $q_s \in \mathcal{C}^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ for every simple reflection s, see Proposition 3.8.23.

We begin by proving that $q_{x,H}$ is non-zero and independent of x, for which we first record a consequence of Lemma 3.5.19 and Lemma 3.6.2:

Lemma 3.8.9. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$. Then we have

$$(\Phi_{x,s_H})^2 = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s_H, s_H) \cdot \Theta_{x|s_H x}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{s_H x|x}^{\text{norm}}$$

Proof. We write $s = s_H$. Since $s^2 = 1$, Lemma 3.5.19 and Lemma 3.6.2 imply that

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\Phi_{x,s}\right)^2 &= c_{s^{-1}x,s} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ c_{s^{-1}x,s} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \\ &= c_{s^{-1}x,s} \circ c_{x,s} \circ \Theta_{x|s^{-1}x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \\ &= \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s,s) \cdot c_{x,1} \circ \Theta_{x|s^{-1}x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \\ &= \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s,s) \cdot \Theta_{x|s^{-1}x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \\ &= \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s,s) \cdot \Theta_{x|sx}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{sx|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}. \end{aligned}$$

Lemma 3.8.10. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$, and let $q_{x,H}$ be as in Corollary 3.8.8. Then $q_{x,H} = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s_H, s_H)$. In particular, the scalar $q_{x,H}$ is invertible and independent of x.

Proof. We write $s = s_H$. For $v \in V_{\rho_x}$, we define the element $f_v \in \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(V_{\rho_x})$ by

$$f_v(g) = \begin{cases} \rho_x(g)(v) & (g \in K_x), \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases}$$

Then, according to Corollary 3.5.4, we have

$$\left(\left(\Theta_{x|sx}\circ\Theta_{sx|x}\right)(f_v)\right)(1) = \left|K_{sx}/\left(K_x\cap K_{sx}\right)\right|^{-1}v.$$

Hence, we obtain from Definition 3.5.9 and Axiom 3.4.1(3) that

$$\left((\Theta_{x|sx}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{sx|x}^{\text{norm}})(f_v) \right)(1) = |K_x/(K_x \cap K_{sx})|^{1/2} |K_{sx}/(K_x \cap K_{sx})|^{-1/2} v = v.$$

Combining this with Lemma 3.8.9, we obtain that

$$\left(\left(\Phi_{x,s}^{2}\right)\left(f_{v}\right)\right)\left(1\right) = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s,s) \cdot v.$$
(3.8.10a)

Substituting $(\Phi_{x,s})^2$ by $p_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,s} + q_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,1}$ in (3.8.10a), we obtain $q_{x,H} \cdot v = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s,s) \cdot v$. Thus, $q_{x,H} = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s,s) \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$, as desired.

Corollary 3.8.11. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,s_{Hx}} = \{H\}$. Then the endomorphism $\Phi_{x,s_{Hx}}$ is invertible.

Proof. Recall from Remark 3.5.25 that $\Phi_{x,1}$ is the identity endomorphism. Hence by Corollary 3.8.8 and Lemma 3.8.10, the element $q_{x,H}^{-1} \cdot (\Phi_{x,s_H} - p_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,1})$ is a left and right inverse of Φ_{x,s_H} . \Box

From this we can deduce that more generally all endomorphism $\Phi_{x,w}$ with $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ are invertible as well as the operators $\Theta_{x|y}$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ that we used to define $\Phi_{x,w}$.

Proposition 3.8.12. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. Let $x, y \in A_{\text{gen}}$. Then the operators $\Theta_{y|x}$ and $\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}$ are isomorphisms.

Proof. It suffices to show that $\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}$ is an isomorphism. If d(x, y) = 0, according to Lemma 3.5.12, we have

$$\Theta_{x|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \Theta_{x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)} \quad \text{and} \quad \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \Theta_{y|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(\rho_y)}.$$

Hence $\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}$ is an isomorphism. Suppose that $d(x, y) \ge 1$. According to Lemma 3.5.12, we can take points

$$x_1 = x, x_2, x_3, \dots, x_t = y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$$

such that $d(x_i, x_{i+1}) = 1$ for all $1 \le i < t$, and

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{x_t|x_{t-1}}^{\text{norm}} \circ \dots \circ \Theta_{x_2|x_1}^{\text{norm}}$$

Thus, to prove the proposition, it suffices to show that $\Theta_{y|x}^{norm}$ is an isomorphism for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$ such that d(x, y) = 1, so we assume d(x, y) = 1. Let $H \subset \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$ denote the unique affine hyperplane in \mathfrak{H} such that x and y are on opposite sides of H. If H is not \mathcal{K} -relevant, Lemma 3.5.11 implies that $\Theta_{y|x}^{norm}$ is an isomorphism. Suppose that H is \mathcal{K} -relevant. We write $s = s_H$. Then there exists $x' \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$ such that d(x, x') = d(y, sx') = 0 and d(x', sx') = 1. By Lemma 3.5.12, we have

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{y|sx'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{sx'|x'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}}$$

We already showed that the operators $\Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}}$ and $\Theta_{y|sx'}^{\text{norm}}$ are isomorphisms. Moreover, since $c_{sx',s}$ is an isomorphism, it follows from Corollary 3.8.11 that the operator $\Theta_{sx'|x'}^{\text{norm}} = (c_{sx',s})^{-1} \circ \Phi_{x',s}$ is also an isomorphism. Thus $\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}$ is also an isomorphism.

Corollary 3.8.13. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. For $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, the endomorphism $\Phi_{x,w}$ is invertible.

Proof. The claim follows from the definition of $\Phi_{x,w}$ as $c_{w^{-1}x,w} \circ \Theta_{w^{-1}x|x}^{\text{norm}}$, where $c_{w^{-1}x,w}$ is an isomorphism and Proposition 3.8.12.

In order to show that the coefficient $p_{x,H}$ in the quadratic relation in Corollary 3.8.8 is non-zero and independent of x, we need a few more lemmas.

Lemma 3.8.14. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and let $x, x', y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$. We assume that the points x and x' are on the same side of H and $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,y} = \{H\}$. Then we have

$$\Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{x'|x} \circ \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{x|y} = \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{x'|y} \quad and \quad \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{y|x} \circ \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{x|x'} = \Theta^{\mathrm{norm}}_{y|x'}.$$

Proof. Since the points x and x' are on the same side of H and $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,y} = \{H\}$, we have $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,x'} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,y} = \emptyset$. Then Lemma 3.5.14 implies that $d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x',x) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,y) = d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x',y)$ and $d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(y,x) + d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x,x') = d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(y,x')$. Hence, the claim follows from Proposition 3.5.15. \Box

Lemma 3.8.15. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and let $x, x', y, y' \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,y} = \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x',y'} = \{H\}$. Then the following diagram commutes:

$$\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x}) \xrightarrow{\Theta_{x'|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}} \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x'}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x'})$$

$$\left. \begin{array}{c} \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \\ \Theta_{y|x} \\ \Psi_{y} \\ \Theta_{y'|y} \\ \Theta_{y'|y} \\ \Theta_{y'|y} \\ \Theta_{y'|y} \\ \Theta_{y'|x'} \\ \Theta_{y'|x$$

Proof. First, we consider the case that x and x' are on the same side of H. Then our assumptions and Lemma 3.8.14 imply that

$$\Theta_{y'|x'}^{\mathrm{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\mathrm{norm}} = \Theta_{y'|x}^{\mathrm{norm}} = \Theta_{y'|y}^{\mathrm{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\mathrm{norm}}.$$

Thus, we obtain the claim.

Next, we consider the case that x and x' are on opposite sides of H. In this case, the points x and y' are on the same side of H, and the points y and x' are on the same side of H. Then according to Lemma 3.8.14, we have

$$\Theta_{x'|y}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Theta_{y'|x'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|y}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{y'|y}^{\text{norm}}.$$
(3.8.16a)

Combining the equations in (3.8.16a), we obtain that

$$\Theta_{y'|x'}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \Theta_{y'|x'}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \Theta_{y'|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}.$$

Thus, we also obtain the claim in this case.

Now, we obtain the following corollary of Lemma 3.8.15, that will be used to show that the coefficient $p_{x,H}$ is independent of x.

Corollary 3.8.17. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that

$$\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel};x,s_Hx} = \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel};y,s_Hy} = \{H\}.$$

Then we have

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Phi_{x,s_H} \circ \left(\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}\right)^{-1} = \Phi_{y,s_H}$$

Proof. We write $s = s_H$ and recall that by Lemma 3.5.19 we have

$$\Theta^{\operatorname{norm}}_{y|x} \circ c_{s^{-1}x,s} = c_{s^{-1}y,s} \circ \Theta^{\operatorname{norm}}_{s^{-1}y|s^{-1}x}$$

Using this identity, Proposition 3.8.12, and Lemma 3.8.15, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Phi_{x,s} \circ \left(\Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right)^{-1} &= \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \left(c_{s^{-1}x,s} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right) \circ \left(\Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right)^{-1} \\ &= \left(\Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ c_{s^{-1}x,s}\right) \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \left(\Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right)^{-1} \\ &= \left(c_{s^{-1}y,s} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}y|s^{-1}x}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right) \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \left(\Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right)^{-1} \\ &= c_{s^{-1}y,s} \circ \left(\Theta_{s^{-1}y|s^{-1}x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}x|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \left(\Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}}\right)^{-1}\right) \\ &= c_{s^{-1}y,s} \circ \Theta_{s^{-1}y|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} = \Phi_{y,s}. \end{split}$$

By using Lemma 3.8.15, we can also prove the following proposition about \mathcal{K} -relevant hyperplanes.

Proposition 3.8.18. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and let $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,y} = \{H\}$. Then we have

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_{T}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x})}$$

Proof. Since $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, there exists $x', y' \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x',y'} = \{H\}$ and

$$\Theta_{x'|y'} \circ \Theta_{y'|x'} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x'}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x'})},$$

or, equivalently,

$$\Theta_{x'|y'}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y'|x'}^{\operatorname{norm}} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_{i}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x'})}.$$

According to Lemma 3.8.15, we have

$$\Theta_{y'|x'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{y'|y}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} \quad \text{ and } \quad \Theta_{x'|y'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y'|y}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x|y}^{\text{norm}}$$

Combining them, we obtain that

$$\Theta_{x'|y'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y'|x'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{x'|y'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|y}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{x|y}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}.$$

Using Proposition 3.8.12, we have

$$\Theta_{x'|y'}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y'|x'}^{\text{norm}} = \Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}} \circ \left(\Theta_{x|y}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}\right) \circ \left(\Theta_{x'|x}^{\text{norm}}\right)^{-1}$$

Thus, we obtain that

$$\Theta_{x|y}^{\operatorname{norm}} \circ \Theta_{y|x}^{\operatorname{norm}} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)},$$

and hence

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}.$$

Now, we can strengthen the statement of Corollary 3.8.8.

Proposition 3.8.19. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$. Then there exist non-zero $p_{x,H}, q_{x,H} \in \mathcal{C}$ such that

$$(\Phi_{x,s_H})^2 = p_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H} + q_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,1}.$$

Moreover, the coefficients $p_{x,H}$ and $q_{x,H}$ are independent of the point $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ that satisfies $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,s_Hx} = \{H\}.$

Proof. Let $y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{y,s_Hy} = \{H\}$. Then by Corollary 3.8.8 and Lemma 3.8.10 there exist $p_{y,H}, q_{y,H} \in \mathcal{C}$ such that $q_{y,H}$ is non-zero and

$$(\Phi_{y,s_H})^2 = p_{y,H} \cdot \Phi_{y,s_H} + q_{y,H} \cdot \Phi_{y,1}.$$

On the other hand, according to Corollary 3.8.17, we have

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}} \circ \Phi_{x,s_H} \circ \left(\Theta_{y|x}^{\text{norm}}\right)^{-1} = \Phi_{y,s_H}$$

Hence, we also obtain that

$$(\Phi_{x,s_H})^2 = p_{y,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H} + q_{y,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,1}.$$

Since $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$, by combining Proposition 3.8.18 with Lemma 3.8.9, we obtain that $(\Phi_{x,s_H})^2 \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)}$, that is, $p_{y,H} \neq 0$. Moreover, $p_{y,H}$ and $q_{y,H}$ are independent of x.

Scaling the operators Φ_{x,s_H} we can ensure that the coefficients in the above Proposition have a particularly nice form. In order to do so, we choose a partitioning of the coefficient field as follows.

Choice 3.8.20. Let $\mathcal{C}_{>1}$ be a subset of $\mathcal{C}^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ such that

$$\left| \{q, q^{-1}\} \cap \mathcal{C}_{>1} \right| = 1 \quad \text{for all} \quad q \in \mathcal{C}^{\times} \smallsetminus \{1\}.$$

This choice is necessary as the coefficient q_{s_H} in the quadratic relation in the Proposition below is a priori only determined up to taking its inverse, and we can freely choose any of the (at most) two options. Strictly speaking it suffices to only make such a choice for the subset of C that contains all possible values of q_{s_H} . In particular, if $\ell = 0$, then we will see below in Proposition 3.9.1 that q_{s_H} is a quotient of two positive integers, so we only need to choose a subset of the positive rational numbers. One possible choice in that case is to say that $q_{s_H} > 1$, which is the choice that, for example, Howlett and Lehrer [HL80, (3.19) Definition and (4.14) Theorem] and Morris [Mor93, §6.9 and 7.12. Theorem] took in their settings, and which is the reason for our choice of notation " $C_{>1}$ ".

Proposition 3.8.21. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2. Then for $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x,s_Hx} = \{H\}$, there exist unique scalars $d_{s_H} \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ and $q_{s_H} \in \mathcal{C}_{>1}$ such that

$$(d_{s_H} \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H})^2 = (q_{s_H} - 1) \cdot (d_{s_H} \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H}) + q_{s_H} \cdot \Phi_{x,1}$$

Moreover, the scalars d_{s_H} and q_{s_H} do not depend on the choice of the point $x \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$.

Proof. According to Proposition 3.8.19, the endomorphism Φ_{x,s_H} satisfies the quadratic relation

$$(\Phi_{x,s_H})^2 = p_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H} + q_{x,H} \cdot \Phi_{x,1}$$

with $p_{x,H}$ and $q_{x,H}$ non-zero. Hence, for $d \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$, the endomorphism $d \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H}$ satisfies the quadratic relation

$$(d \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H})^2 = p_{x,H} d \cdot (d \cdot \Phi_{x,s_H}) + q_{x,H} d^2 \cdot \Phi_{x,1}.$$

Thus, to prove the first claim of the proposition, it suffices to show that the quadratic equation

$$q_{x,H}d^2 - p_{x,H}d - 1 = 0 (3.8.21a)$$

has a unique solution $d = d_{s_H}$ with $q_{x,H}d_{s_H}^2 \in \mathcal{C}_{>1}$. Since $q_{x,H} \neq 0$ and \mathcal{C} is algebraically closed, Equation (3.8.21a) has two solutions $d_1, d_2 \in \mathcal{C}$ that are possibly equal. Note that d = 0 is not a solution of Equation (3.8.21a), i.e., $d_1, d_2 \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$. Let i = 1 or 2. Since $q_{x,H}, d_i \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$, we have $q_{x,H}d_i^2 \neq 0$. Moreover, since $p_{x,H} \neq 0$, we have $q_{x,H}d_i^2 - 1 = p_{x,H}d_i \neq 0$, that is, $q_{x,H}d_i^2 \neq 1$. Hence, we conclude that $q_{x,H}d_i^2 \in \mathcal{C}^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$. Since the solutions d_1 and d_2 satisfy $d_1d_2 = -1/q_{x,H}$, we have $q_{x,H}d_2^2 = (q_{x,H}d_1^2)^{-1}$. Thus, our choice of $\mathcal{C}_{>1}$ in Choice 3.8.20 implies that

$$|\{q_{x,H}d_1^2, q_{x,H}d_2^2\} \cap \mathcal{C}_{>1}| = 1.$$

If $q_{x,H}d_1^2 \neq q_{x,H}d_2^2$, this equation implies that exactly one of the solutions d_1 and d_2 satisfies $q_{x,H}d_i^2 \in \mathcal{C}_{>1}$, as desired.

It remains to consider the case that $q_{x,H}d_1^2 = q_{x,H}d_2^2$. Then we have

$$p_{x,H}d_1 = (q_{x,H}d_1^2 - 1) = (q_{x,H}d_2^2 - 1) = p_{x,H}d_2,$$

so $d_1 = d_2$. We also note that since $q_{x,H}d_1^2 \neq 1$ and $q_{x,H}d_1^2 = q_{x,H}d_2^2 = (q_{x,H}d_1^2)^{-1}$, we obtain that the characteristic ℓ of C cannot be two in this case, and we have $q_{x,H}d_1^2 = q_{x,H}d_2^2 = -1$. Thus, we conclude that Equation (3.8.21a) has the unique solution $d_{s_H} \coloneqq d_1 = d_2$, and we have $q_{x,H}d_{s_H}^2 = -1 \in \mathcal{C}_{>1}$.

Since the coefficients $p_{x,H}$ and $q_{x,H}$ are independent of the point $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, Equation (3.8.21a) is independent of the point $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$. Hence, the scalars d_{s_H} and $q_{s_H} = q_{x,H} d_{s_H}^2$ are also independent of the point $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$.

Proposition 3.8.21 allows us to refine Choice 3.5.17 by replacing $T_{\tilde{s}}$ in Choice 3.5.17 by $d_s \cdot T_{\tilde{s}}$ for all lifts $\tilde{s} \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ of $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Then noting Remark 3.5.25, we obtain a choice of \mathcal{T} that satisfies the following properties.

Choice 3.8.22. We choose a family of non-zero elements

$$\mathcal{T} = \left\{ T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M} \left({}^n \rho_M, \rho_M \right) \right\}_{n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}}$$

satisfying Conditions (1) and (2) of Choice 3.5.17 and such that for every $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ there exists $q_s \in \mathcal{C}_{>1}$ such that

$$(\Phi_s)^2 = (q_s - 1) \cdot \Phi_s + q_s \cdot \Phi_1.$$

Proposition 3.8.23. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2 and fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20. Then we can choose \mathcal{T} to satisfy all the properties in Choice 3.8.22. This means in particular that for each $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, there exists $q_s \in C_{>1}$ such that the element Φ_s satisfies the quadratic relation

$$(\Phi_s)^2 = (q_s - 1) \cdot \Phi_s + q_s \cdot \Phi_1$$

Moreover, if $s, s' \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ are $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ -conjugate, then we have $q_s = q_{s'}$.

Proof. Since we have $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x_0,sx_0} = \{H_s\}$ for all $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, the claim that we can choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.8.22 follows from Proposition 3.8.21 as explained in the paragraph before Choice 3.8.22 and the quadratic relation is part of the properties stated in Choice 3.8.22. It remains to show that we have $q_s = q_{s'}$ if $s, s' \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ are $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ -conjugate. Let $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ such that $wsw^{-1} = s'$. By replacing w with ws if necessary, we may suppose that

$$\ell_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(ws) = \ell_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(w) + 1 = \ell_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(w) + \ell_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}(s)$$

Then, according to Proposition 3.6.4, we have

$$\Phi_w \Phi_s = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(w, s) \cdot \Phi_{ws}.$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\ell_{\mathcal{K}\operatorname{-rel}}(s'w) = \ell_{\mathcal{K}\operatorname{-rel}}(ws) = \ell_{\mathcal{K}\operatorname{-rel}}(w) + 1 = \ell_{\mathcal{K}\operatorname{-rel}}(s') + \ell_{\mathcal{K}\operatorname{-rel}}(w).$$

Hence, Proposition 3.6.4 also implies that

$$\Phi_{s'}\Phi_w = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s', w) \cdot \Phi_{s'w} = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s', w) \cdot \Phi_{ws}.$$

Writing $d_{s,s'} = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(w,s)/\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s',w) \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ and using that Φ_w is invertible by Corollary 3.8.13, we obtain by combining the above equations that $\Phi_w \Phi_s \Phi_w^{-1} = d_{s,s'} \cdot \Phi_{s'}$. Since $\Phi_w \Phi_s \Phi_w^{-1}$ satisfies the same quadratic relation as Φ_s , we obtain

$$\left(d_{s,s'}\cdot\Phi_{s'}\right)^2 = \left(q_s-1\right)\cdot\left(d_{s,s'}\cdot\Phi_{s'}\right) + q_s\cdot\Phi_1,$$

On the other hand, we have the quadratic relation

$$(\Phi_{s'})^2 = (q_{s'} - 1) \cdot \Phi_{s'} + q_{s'} \cdot \Phi_1.$$

Since $q_s, q_{s'} \in \mathcal{C}_{>1}$, Proposition 3.8.21 implies that $d_{s,s'} = 1$ and $q_s = q_{s'}$.

Remark 3.8.24. The proof of Proposition 3.8.23 implies the following claim. Suppose that $s, s' \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ satisfy $wsw^{-1} = s'$ and $\ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(ws) = \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(w) + \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(s)$. Then we have $\Phi_w \Phi_s \Phi_w^{-1} = \Phi_{s'}$. In particular, for all $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$, we have $\Phi_t \Phi_s \Phi_t^{-1} = \Phi_{tst^{-1}}$.

3.9 The coefficients in the quadratic relations in characteristic zero

In this subsection, we keep the notation from the previous subsection. In addition, we assume that the characteristic ℓ of \mathcal{C} is zero or a banal prime for G(F). Recall that a *banal* prime is one that does not divide the order of any finite quotient of any compact, open subgroup of G(F). This assumption allows us to give in Proposition 3.9.1 below a more explicit description of the coefficients q_s in the quadratic relations in Proposition 3.8.23, as it implies that for every finite quotient H of a compact, open subgroup of G(F), the finite-dimensional \mathcal{C} -representations of H are semisimple. Moreover, the order |H| of H is not zero in \mathcal{C} and neither is the dimension of any irreducible \mathcal{C} -representation of H. Thus, we can divide by these numbers wherever convenient.

Proposition 3.9.1. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20, and choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.8.22.

Let $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$. Then the compactly induced representation $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,s}}(\rho_x)$ decomposes into a direct sum of two inequivalent irreducible representations:

$$\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,s}}(\rho_x) = \rho_1 \oplus \rho_2.$$

We assume without loss of generality that ρ_1 and ρ_2 are chosen so that $\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)/\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_2) \in \mathcal{C}_{>1} \cup \{1\}$. Then

$$q_s = \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_2)}.$$

To prove Proposition 3.9.1, we present a generalization of a result of Howlett and Lehrer [HL80].

Lemma 3.9.2. Let H be a compact topological group and K an open subgroup of H. If $\ell \neq 0$, then we suppose that the order of no finite quotient of H is divisible by ℓ . Let (ρ, V_{ρ}) be an irreducible smooth representation of K. We suppose that the induced representation $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{H}(\rho)$ decomposes into a direct sum of two inequivalent irreducible representations ρ_{1} and ρ_{2} .

Then there exists an element Φ_h of $\operatorname{End}_H(\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho)) \simeq \mathcal{H}(H,\rho)$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(\Phi_h) = KhK$ with $h \in I_H(\rho) \setminus K$, and such that we have

$$(\Phi_h)^2 = (q-1) \cdot \Phi_h + q \cdot \Phi_1$$

where Φ_1 denotes the identity map on $\operatorname{ind}_K^H(V_\rho)$ and $q = \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_2)}$.

Here we define the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(H,\rho)$ associated to (K,ρ) analogously to Section 2.2.

Proof of Lemma 3.9.2. The proof of the lemma is essentially the same as [HL80, Theorem 3.18 (ii)], but we include it here for the convenience of the reader.

Since ρ is a smooth representation of a compact group K, the kernel of ρ is a normal, open subgroup of K. We define the normal, open subgroup N of H by

$$N = \bigcap_{a \in H/K} a(\ker \rho) a^{-1}.$$

By replacing H and K with H/N and K/N, respectively, and regarding ρ as a representation of K/N, we may suppose that H and K are finite groups. Moreover, by our assumption on the order of the finite subquotients of H, if $\ell \neq 0$, then |H| and |K| are coprime to ℓ , and hence $\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)$, $\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_2)$, and $\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho)$ are also coprime to ℓ .

We fix a non-zero element $\Phi'_h \in \operatorname{End}_H(\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho))$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(\Phi'_h) = KhK$. Since $\operatorname{End}_H(\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho))$ is two dimensional by Schur's lemma, Φ_1 and Φ'_h give a basis of $\operatorname{End}_H(\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho))$. We denote by $p_1 \in \operatorname{End}_H(\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho))$ the projection onto ρ_1 with respect to the decomposition $\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho) = \rho_1 \oplus \rho_2$, and we write

$$p_1 = \lambda \cdot \Phi_1 + \mu \cdot \Phi_h' \tag{3.9.2a}$$

for some $\lambda, \mu \in \mathcal{C}$. Since the element p_1 satisfies $p_1^2 = p_1$, Equation (3.9.2a) implies that

$$(\lambda \cdot \Phi_1 + \mu \cdot \Phi'_h)^2 = \lambda \cdot \Phi_1 + \mu \cdot \Phi'_h.$$

Hence, we have

$$\left(\mu \cdot \Phi_h'\right)^2 = (1 - 2\lambda) \cdot \left(\mu \cdot \Phi_h'\right) + \lambda(1 - \lambda) \cdot \Phi_1.$$
(3.9.2b)

We can calculate the value λ as follows. We fix a non-zero element $v \in V_{\rho}$ and define the element $f_v \in \operatorname{ind}_K^H(V_{\rho})$ by

$$f_{v}(h') = \begin{cases} \rho(h')(v) & (h' \in K), \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases}$$

for $h' \in H$. We will apply both sides of (3.9.2a) to f_v and compare the values at the identity element of H. Recall that the projection p_1 can be written as

$$p_1 = \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{|H|} \sum_{h' \in H} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_1(h'^{-1})) \cdot \left(\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho)\right)(h'),$$

where $tr(\rho_1(h'^{-1}))$ denotes the trace of the linear map $\rho_1(h'^{-1})$.

Hence, we have

$$(p_1(f_v))(1) = \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{|H|} \sum_{h \in H} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_1(h'^{-1})) \cdot \left(\left(\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho)\right)(h') \cdot (f_v)\right)(1)$$
$$= \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{|H|} \sum_{h' \in H} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_1(h'^{-1})) \cdot f_v(h')$$
$$= \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{|H|} \sum_{k \in K} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_1(k^{-1})) \cdot \rho(k)(v)$$
$$= \left(\frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{|H|} \sum_{k \in K} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_1(k^{-1})) \cdot \rho(k)\right)(v).$$

Since

$$\frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{|H|} \sum_{k \in K} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_1(k^{-1})) \cdot \rho(k) \in \operatorname{End}_K(\rho),$$

and ρ is an irreducible representation of K, Schur's lemma implies that

$$\frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{|H|} \sum_{k \in K} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_1(k^{-1})) \cdot \rho(k)$$

is a scalar multiplication on V_{ρ} . Moreover, letting $(,)_H$ and $(,)_K$ denote the inner products of finite-dimensional representations of H and K, the scalar is calculated as

$$\frac{1}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho)} \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{1})}{|H|} \sum_{k \in K} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_{1}(k^{-1})) \cdot \operatorname{tr}(\rho(k)) = \frac{1}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho)} \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{1})}{|H|} |K| (\rho_{1}|_{K}, \rho)_{K}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho)} \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{1})}{|H|} |K| (\rho_{1}, \operatorname{ind}_{K}^{H}(\rho))_{H}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho)} \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{1})}{|H|} |K|$$

$$= \dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{1}) \cdot (\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho) \cdot |H/K|)^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{1})}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{H}(\rho))}$$

$$= \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{1})}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{1}) + \dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_{2})}.$$

On the other hand, the right-hand side of (3.9.2a) is calculated as

$$\left(\left(\lambda \cdot \Phi_1 + \mu \cdot \Phi_h'\right)(f_v)\right)(1) = \lambda \cdot v.$$

Thus, we have

$$\frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1) + \dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_2)} = \lambda.$$
(3.9.2c)

Now, we define the element Φ_h of $\operatorname{End}_H(\operatorname{ind}_K^H(\rho))$ by

$$\Phi_h = -\frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1) + \dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_2)}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_2)} \cdot \mu \cdot \Phi'_h.$$

Note that Φ_h is non-zero, because $\lambda(1-\lambda) \neq 0$ implies by (3.9.2b) that μ is non-zero. Then according to (3.9.2b) and (3.9.2c), we have

$$(\Phi_h)^2 = (q-1) \cdot \Phi_h + q \cdot \Phi_1.$$

Proof of Proposition 3.9.1. Since the group $K_{x,s}$ is compact, the representation $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,s}}(\rho_x)$ is semisimple. Hence, the first claim follows from Lemma 3.8.7. To prove the second claim, note that by Proposition 3.8.21, the elements $\Phi_s = \Phi_{x_0,s}$ and $\Phi_{x,s}$ satisfy the same quadratic relation. Hence, we have

$$(\Phi_{x,s})^2 = (q_s - 1) \cdot \Phi_{x,s} + q_s \cdot \Phi_{x,1}.$$
(3.9.1a)

On the other hand, applying Lemma 3.9.2 to $H = K_{x,s}$, $K = K_x$, and $\rho = \rho_x$, we obtain that there exists an element $\Phi \in \mathcal{H}(K_{x,s}, \rho_x)_s$ such that

$$(\Phi)^2 = (q-1) \cdot \Phi + q \cdot \Phi_1,$$
 (3.9.1b)

where $q = \frac{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_1)}{\dim_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_2)}$. Since $\mathcal{H}(K_{x,s}, \rho_x)_s$ is one dimensional by Proposition 3.4.18, there exists $d \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that $\Phi = d \cdot \Phi_{x,s}$. Then comparing (3.9.1a) with (3.9.1b), we have $q \neq 1$, and replacing ρ_1 with ρ_2 if necessary, we may suppose that $q \in \mathcal{C}_{>1}$. Then the proposition follows from Proposition 3.8.21 and Equations (3.9.1a) and (3.9.1b).

3.10 The description of the Hecke algebra

In this subsection, we will prove our main theorem of this section, Theorem 3.10.10, about the structure of the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$. We keep the notation from Section 3.8, i.e., the notation from all previous subsections, but allowing the coefficient field \mathcal{C} again to be of any characteristic other than p. We also assume that all previous axioms hold, i.e., Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, and fix a subset $\mathcal{C}_{>1} \subset \mathcal{C}^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20.

Recall that we defined the elements $\Phi_w \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)\right) \simeq \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)$ for all $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ in Definition 3.5.23 and that these endomorphisms depend on the choice of a family \mathcal{T} , Choice 3.8.22). In this subsection, we will adjust \mathcal{T} , and thus $\{\Phi_w\}$, in a way that makes the latter more compatible with the group structure of $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, see Choice 3.10.3 below, so that we can use these basis elements to write down an explicit isomorphism between the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ and a semi-direct product of an affine Hecke algebra with a twisted group algebra in Theorem 3.10.10. In order to obtain the subalgebra isomorphic to the affine Hecke algebra, we start by proving appropriate braid relations.

Lemma 3.10.1. Let s_1 and s_2 be distinct elements of $S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ such that the order of s_1s_2 in $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ is $m < \infty$. Then we have

$$\underbrace{\Phi_{s_1}\Phi_{s_2}\Phi_{s_1}\cdots}_{m \text{ terms}} = \underbrace{\Phi_{s_2}\Phi_{s_1}\Phi_{s_2}\cdots}_{m \text{ terms}}$$

Proof. According to Proposition 3.6.4, there exists $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$\underbrace{\Phi_{s_1}\Phi_{s_2}\Phi_{s_1}\cdots}_{m \text{ terms}} = c \cdot \underbrace{\Phi_{s_2}\Phi_{s_1}\Phi_{s_2}\cdots}_{m \text{ terms}}.$$

We will prove that c = 1. We write

$$n \coloneqq \begin{cases} 1 & (2 \mid m) \\ 2 & (2 \nmid m) \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \Phi_{2,1} \coloneqq \underbrace{\Phi_{s_2} \Phi_{s_1} \Phi_{s_2} \cdots}_{m-1 \text{ terms}} \quad \text{so that} \quad \Phi_{s_1} \Phi_{2,1} = c \cdot \Phi_{2,1} \Phi_{s_n}.$$

Then we obtain

$$(\Phi_{s_1})^2 \Phi_{2,1} = \Phi_{s_1} \circ c \cdot \Phi_{2,1} \Phi_{s_n} = c^2 \cdot \Phi_{2,1} (\Phi_{s_n})^2.$$

Since Φ_{s_1} and Φ_{s_n} satisfy the quadratic relations

$$(\Phi_{s_1})^2 = (q_{s_1} - 1) \cdot \Phi_{s_1} + q_{s_1} \cdot \Phi_1$$
 and $(\Phi_{s_n})^2 = (q_{s_n} - 1) \cdot \Phi_{s_n} + q_{s_n} \cdot \Phi_1$,

we obtain that

$$(q_{s_1} - 1) \cdot \Phi_{s_1} \Phi_{2,1} + q_{s_1} \cdot \Phi_{2,1} = c^2 \cdot ((q_{s_n} - 1) \cdot \Phi_{2,1} \Phi_{s_n} + q_{s_n} \cdot \Phi_{2,1})$$

= $c \cdot (q_{s_n} - 1) \cdot \Phi_{s_1} \Phi_{2,1} + c^2 \cdot q_{s_n} \cdot \Phi_{2,1}.$

Using that $\Phi_{s_1}\Phi_{2,1}$ and $\Phi_{2,1}$ are linearly independent, we conclude that

$$q_{s_1} - 1 = c \cdot (q_{s_n} - 1). \tag{3.10.1a}$$

Since $s_n = \left(\underbrace{s_2 s_1 s_2 \cdots}_{m-1 \text{ terms}}\right)^{-1} s_1\left(\underbrace{s_2 s_1 s_2 \cdots}_{m-1 \text{ terms}}\right)$, the element s_n is $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ -conjugate to s_1 , and therefore by Proposition 3.8.23 we have $q_{s_1} = q_{s_n} \neq 1$. Thus Equation (3.10.1a) implies that c = 1. \Box

According to Proposition 3.7.4, the group $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}} \simeq W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ is a Coxeter group. Hence, we can define the notion of a reduced expression for $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ in the usual way.

Corollary 3.10.2. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, 3.8.2, and that \mathcal{T} is chosen as in Choice 3.8.22. Let $w \in W(\rho_M)_{aff}$. Then the element $\Phi_{s_1}\Phi_{s_2}\cdots\Phi_{s_r}$ does not depend on the choice of a reduced expression $w = s_1 s_2 \cdots s_r$ for w.

Proof. According to [BB05, Theorem 3.3.1 (ii)], every two reduced expressions for w can be connected via a sequence of braid-moves. Then the corollary follows from Lemma 3.10.1.

We now refine Choice 3.8.22. Let $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}} \setminus \{1\}$ with reduced expression $w = s_1 s_2 \cdots s_r$. According to Proposition 3.6.4, there exists $d_{tw} \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that $d_{tw} \cdot \Phi_{tw} =$ $\Phi_t \Phi_{s_1} \Phi_{s_2} \cdots \Phi_{s_r}$. According to Corollary 3.10.2, the scalar d_{tw} does not depend on the choice of a reduced expression for w. By replacing T_n with $d_{tw} \cdot T_n$ for all lifts n of tw in $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ and noting Remark 3.5.25, we obtain the following refinement of Choice 3.8.22:

Choice 3.10.3. We choose a family of non-zero elements

$$\mathcal{T} = \{T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n \rho_M, \rho_M)\}_{n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}}$$

that satisfies the following conditions:

- (1) We have $T_1 = \mathrm{id}_{\rho_M}$.
- (2) For all $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ and $k \in K_M \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, we have $T_{nk} = T_n \circ \rho_M(k)$.
- (3) For every $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, there exists $q_s \in \mathcal{C}_{>1}$ such that $(\Phi_s)^2 = (q_s 1) \cdot \Phi_s + q_s \cdot \Phi_1$.
- (4) For all $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ with reduced expression $w = s_1 s_2 \cdots s_r$, we have $\Phi_w = \Phi_{s_1} \Phi_{s_2} \cdots \Phi_{s_r}$.
- (5) For all $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$, we have $\Phi_t \Phi_w = \Phi_{tw}$.

Proposition 3.10.4. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2 and fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20. Then we can choose \mathcal{T} to satisfy all the properties in Choice 3.10.3.

Proof. According to Proposition 3.8.23, we can choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.8.22 and the paragraph before Choice 3.10.3 explains a rescaling that yields a choice \mathcal{T} satisfying all the desired properties.

Remark 3.10.5. According to Proposition 3.8.21, Condition (3) of Choice 3.10.3 determines the choices of $T_{\tilde{s}} \in \mathcal{T}$ for all lifts $\tilde{s} \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ of $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Condition (4) then determines the choices of $T_n \in \mathcal{T}$ for all lifts $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ of $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$. On the other hand, we can choose $T_n \in \mathcal{T}$ freely for a set of representatives of lifts $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ of $t \in \Omega(\rho_M) \setminus \{1\}$. Once we fix $T_n \in \mathcal{T}$ for such a set of representatives, Conditions (1) through (5) determine all elements of \mathcal{T} . We will make a special choice of $T_n \in \mathcal{T}$ for lifts $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ of $t \in \Omega(\rho_M) \setminus \{1\}$ in Choice 3.11.5 below.

We also note the following lemma:

Lemma 3.10.6. We choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.10.3. Then we have $\Phi_t \Phi_w = \Phi_{twt^{-1}} \Phi_t$ for all $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$.

Proof. We will prove that $\Phi_{twt^{-1}} = \Phi_t \Phi_w \Phi_t^{-1}$. Since we have $\Phi_w = \Phi_{s_1} \Phi_{s_2} \cdots \Phi_{s_r}$ for a reduced expression $w = s_1 s_2 \cdots s_r$, we may suppose that $w = s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Now, the lemma follows from Remark 3.8.24.

We can rewrite Conditions (4) and (5) of Choice 3.10.3 and Lemma 3.10.6 in terms of the 2-cocycle $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$.

Proposition 3.10.7. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, and we fix $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20 and \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.10.3. Then for $v, w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ such that $\ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(vw) = \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(v) + \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(w)$, we have $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(v, w) = 1$. In addition, for $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$, we have $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(t, w) = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(w, t) = 1$. *Proof.* The first claim follows from Proposition 3.6.4 and Condition (4) of Choice 3.10.3. The second claim follows by combining Proposition 3.6.4 with Condition (5) of Choice 3.10.3 and Lemma 3.10.6 and recalling that $\Omega(\rho_M)$ normalizes $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$.

Notation 3.10.8. We recall several standard notations.

(a) We denote by $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$ the affine Hecke algebra with \mathcal{C} -coefficients associated with the affine Weyl group $W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}$, its set of generators $S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, and the parameter function q. This means $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$ is a \mathcal{C} -algebra with a vector-space basis

$$\{\mathbb{T}_w \mid w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}\},\$$

and relations generated by

$$\mathbb{T}_s^2 = (q_s - 1) \cdot \mathbb{T}_s + q_s \cdot \mathbb{T}_1 \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{T}_w = \mathbb{T}_{s_1} \mathbb{T}_{s_2} \cdots \mathbb{T}_{s_r}$$
(3.10.9)

for all $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and all $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ with a reduced expression $w = s_1 s_2 \cdots s_r$.

- (b) The twisted group algebra $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}]$ is defined to be the vector space $\bigoplus_{t \in \Omega(\rho_M)} \mathcal{C} \cdot b_t$ equipped with the multiplication $b_{t_1} \cdot b_{t_2} = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(t_1, t_2) \cdot b_{t_1t_2}$ for $t_1, t_2 \in \Omega(\rho_M)$.
- (c) We define the C-algebra $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$ to be the vector space

$$\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$$

with multiplication rules given by:

- (1) $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}]$ and $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, q)$ are embedded as subalgebras,
- (2) for $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$, we have $b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w = \mathbb{T}_{twt^{-1}} \cdot b_t$.

Now we obtain the following structure theorem for our Hecke algebra:

Theorem 3.10.10. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, and fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20. Then we can choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.10.3, and the resulting C-linear map

$$\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0}) \colon \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0}) \to \mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q),$$

defined by

$$\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0})(\varphi_{tw}) = b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w \quad (t \in \Omega(\rho_M), w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}})$$

is an isomorphism of C-algebras, where μ^{T} denotes the restriction to $\Omega(\rho_{M}) \times \Omega(\rho_{M})$ of the 2cocycle introduced in Notation 3.6.1 and q denotes the parameter function $s \mapsto q_{s}$ appearing in Choice 3.10.3(3).

Proof. By Proposition 3.10.4 we can choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.10.3. According to Corollary 3.5.27 and Proposition 3.7.6, $\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0})$ is an isomorphism of vector spaces. Moreover, by Proposition 3.6.4 the restriction of $\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0})$ to $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}]$ is an algebra homomorphism, and Conditions (3) and (4) of Choice 3.10.3 imply that the restriction of $\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0})$ to $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, q)$ is also an algebra homomorphism. Combining these observations with Lemma 3.10.6, we obtain that $\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0})$ is an isomorphism of \mathcal{C} -algebras.

3.11 Anti-involution of the Hecke algebra

In this subsection, we keep the notation from the previous subsection, and moreover we assume that \mathcal{C} admits a nontrivial involution $c \mapsto \overline{c}$. The fixed field of this involution will then be a real closed field that we will denote by \mathcal{R} . (See Corollary VI.9.3, Theorem IX.2.2, and Proposition IX.2.4 of [Lan02]. For instance, $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{R}$ if $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$ and $c \mapsto \overline{c}$ denotes complex conjugation. Such an involution exists if and only if \mathcal{C} has characteristic zero. In this case, one can construct the fixed field \mathcal{R} , and thus the involution, by choosing a maximal, totally ordered subfield of \mathcal{C} . Note that the choice of \mathcal{R} , and thus the choice of involution, is never unique. However, in practice, the number of explicit choices that one can make (i.e., choices that do not require the Axiom of Choice), is usually zero (say, for $\mathcal{C} = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$) or one (say, for $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$ or $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$).

Having made such a choice, write $|c| = c\overline{c}$ for $c \in C$, and call \overline{c} the *C*-conjugate of c (which depends on our fixed choice of involution even though it is not reflected in the notation). For a vector space V over C, call a function $\langle , \rangle : V \times V \to C$ Hermitian if it is linear in the first variable, C-conjugate-linear in the second variable, and we have $\langle v, w \rangle = \overline{\langle w, v \rangle}$ for all $v, w \in V$.

Assume that all previous axioms hold, i.e., Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, and fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20, and \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.10.3. Following [Ciu18, Section 4.4], we define a support-inverting, C-conjugate-linear anti-involution $\varphi \mapsto \varphi^*$ on $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ as follows. We fix a K_{x_0} -invariant, positive-definite Hermitian form $\langle , \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}}$ on $V_{\rho_{x_0}}$. Such a form exists because K_{x_0} is compact, and it is unique up to \mathcal{R} -scalar multiples because ρ_{x_0} is irreducible. For $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$, we define $\varphi^* \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ by

$$\langle \varphi^*(g)(v), w \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}} = \langle v, \varphi(g^{-1})(w) \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}} \quad \text{for all } g \in G(F) \text{ and } v, w \in V_{\rho_{x_0}}.$$
(3.11.1)

We note that the map $\varphi \mapsto \varphi^*$ is a support-inverting, \mathcal{C} -conjugate-linear anti-involution that does not depend on the choice of Hermitian form on $V_{\rho_{x_0}}$. Hence, for each $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$, there is some scalar $c_w \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that $\varphi_w^* = c_w \varphi_{w^{-1}}$.

Lemma 3.11.2. For all $w \in W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ of order 2, we have $|c_w| = 1$. Moreover, if $w \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, then $c_w = 1$.

Proof. If $w^2 = 1$, then we have $\varphi_w = \varphi_w^{**} = (c_w \varphi_w)^* = \bar{c}_w (\varphi_w)^* = \bar{c}_w c_w \varphi_w$, so $\bar{c}_w c_w = 1$, as required. Suppose that $w \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Since ()* is an anti-involution, the element $\varphi_w^* = c_w \varphi_w$ satisfies the same quadratic relation as φ_w . Thus, Proposition 3.8.21 implies that $c_w = 1$.

Corollary 3.11.3. We have $c_w = 1$ for all $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$.

Proof. Let $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ with reduced expression $w = s_1 s_2 \cdots s_r$. According to Condition (4) in Choice 3.10.3, we have $\varphi_w = \varphi_{s_1} \varphi_{s_2} \cdots \varphi_{s_r}$ and $\varphi_{w^{-1}} = \varphi_{s_r} \varphi_{s_{r-1}} \cdots \varphi_{s_1}$. Thus, we obtain that

$$\varphi_w^* = (\varphi_{s_1}\varphi_{s_2}\cdots\varphi_{s_r})^* = \varphi_{s_r}^*\varphi_{s_{r-1}}^*\cdots\varphi_{s_1}^* = \varphi_{s_r}\varphi_{s_{r-1}}\cdots\varphi_{s_1} = \varphi_{w^{-1}},$$

as required.

Proposition 3.11.4. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20, and choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.10.3. Then we can choose a set of scalars $\{d_t \in C^{\times} \mid t \in \Omega(\rho_M)\}$ such that $(d_t\varphi_t)^* = d_{t^{-1}}\varphi_{t^{-1}}$ for all $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$.

Proof. Let $d_1 = 1$. For all nontrivial $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ of order 2, from Lemma 3.11.2 and Hilbert's Theorem 90, we can choose $d_t \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that $d_t/\bar{d}_t = c_t$. Then $(d_t\varphi_t)^* = \bar{d}_t c_t \varphi_t = d_t \varphi_t, = d_{t-1}\varphi_{t-1},$ as required.

Now consider the set of elements $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ such that t^2 is nontrivial. Partition this set into pairs $\{t, t^{-1}\}$. Given a pair, let us choose an element arbitrarily, and without loss of generality call it t. Let $d_t = 1$ and $d_{t^{-1}} = c_t$. Then we have $(d_t \varphi_t)^* = \varphi_t^* = c_t \varphi_{t^{-1}} = d_{t^{-1}} \varphi_{t^{-1}}$ and $(d_{t^{-1}} \varphi_{t^{-1}})^* = (c_t \varphi_{t^{-1}})^* = \varphi_t^{**} = \varphi_t = d_t \varphi_t$, as required.

This allows us to refine our choice of $\{T_n\}$ as follows, see Proposition 3.11.6.

Choice 3.11.5. We choose a family of non-zero elements

$$\mathcal{T} = \left\{ T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M} \left({}^n \rho_M, \rho_M \right) \right\}_{n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}}$$

that satisfies all the conditions in Choice 3.10.3, and for all $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$, we have $\varphi_t^* = \varphi_{t^{-1}}$.

Proposition 3.11.6. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2 and fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20. Then we can choose \mathcal{T} to satisfy all the properties in Choice 3.11.5.

Proof. The proposition follows from Remark 3.10.5 by replacing the previous choice of T_n with $d_t \cdot T_n$ for all lifts $n \in N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ of $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$, and Proposition 3.11.4 (see also Remark 3.5.25).

We define a \mathcal{C} -conjugate-linear map ()* on $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$ by

$$(b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w)^* = b_{t^{-1}} \cdot \mathbb{T}_{tw^{-1}t^{-1}} = \mathbb{T}_{w^{-1}} \cdot b_{t^{-1}}$$

for $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$.

Proposition 3.11.7. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2 and fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20. Then we can choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.11.5, and the resulting C-algebra isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0}) \colon \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0}) \to \mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$$

in Theorem 3.10.10 preserves the anti-involutions on both sides. In particular, the C-conjugatelinear map ()* on $C[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^T] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$ is an anti-involution.

Proof. By Proposition 3.11.6 we can choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.11.5. The claim that $\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0})$ preserves the anti-involutions follows from Corollary 3.11.3, the condition $\varphi_t^* = \varphi_{t^{-1}}$ for $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ in Choice 3.11.5, and the anti-involution property. Since $\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0})$ is an isomorphism of \mathcal{C} -algebras, we obtain the last claim.

3.12 (Non)uniqueness of the Hecke algebra isomorphism

In this subsection, we keep the notation from Section 3.10. Hence, we allow the coefficient field C again to be any algebraically closed field of characteristic $\ell \neq p$. We also assume that all previous axioms hold, i.e., Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20, and choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.10.3. We can make explicit how much choice we had in constructing the particular isomorphism in Theorem 3.10.10.

We say that a \mathcal{C} -linear bijection Ψ on $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$ is support-preserving if for all $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}$, we have $\Psi(b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w) = c \, b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w$ for some scalar $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ that might depend on t and w. We also say that a \mathcal{C} -linear bijection $\mathcal{I} \colon \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$ is support-preserving if for all $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}$, we have $\mathcal{I}(\varphi_{tw}) = c \, b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w$ for some scalar $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$. For $\chi \in \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\Omega(\rho_M), \mathcal{C}^{\times})$, we define the support-preserving algebra automorphism Ψ_{χ} of $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q)$ by $\Psi_{\chi}(b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w) = \chi(t) b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w$ for $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}$.

Proposition 3.12.1. A *C*-linear bijection Ψ on $C[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^T] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_C(W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, q)$ is a supportpreserving algebra automorphism if and only if there exists some $\chi \in \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\Omega(\rho_M), \mathcal{C}^{\times})$ such that $\Psi = \Psi_{\chi}$.

If C admits a nontrivial involution $c \mapsto \overline{c}$ and \mathcal{T} satisfies all the properties in Choice 3.11.5, then the isomorphism Ψ_{χ} preserves the anti-involution defined in Section 3.11 if and only if $|\chi(t)| = 1$ for all $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$.

Proof. Suppose that Ψ is a support-preserving algebra automorphism of $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, q)$. Since Ψ preserves support, for all $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$ and $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ we must have that $\Psi(b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w) = \chi(tw)b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w$ for some scalar $\chi(tw) \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$. Since Ψ is an algebra isomorphism, we must have that $\chi(tw) = \chi(t)\chi(w)$. Using the first relation of (3.10.9), we have

$$\chi(s)^{2}((q_{s}-1)\cdot\mathbb{T}_{s}+q_{s}\cdot\mathbb{T}_{1})=(\chi(s)\mathbb{T}_{s})^{2}=\Psi(\mathbb{T}_{s})^{2}=\Psi(\mathbb{T}_{s}^{2})=(q_{s}-1)\cdot(\chi(s)\mathbb{T}_{s})+q_{s}\cdot\mathbb{T}_{1}$$

for all $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Comparing the coefficients of \mathbb{T}_s and using $q_s \in \mathcal{C}^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$, we obtain that $\chi(s) = 1$ for all $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$. Then the second relation in (3.10.9) and the fact that Ψ is an algebra isomorphism imply that $\chi(w) = 1$ for all $w \in W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$. Thus, Ψ acts via the identity on $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}, q)$, and it is determined by the scalars $\chi(t)$ for $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$. The condition of Ψ preserving the multiplication of $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}]$ is equivalent to χ being a homomorphism.

The last claim follows from the definitions of Ψ_{χ} and the anti-involution ()* on $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, q).$

Note that the group $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\Omega(\rho_M), \mathcal{C}^{\times})$ acts on the group of support-preserving algebra automorphisms via $\psi : \Psi_{\chi} \longmapsto \Psi_{\psi\chi}$.

Proposition 3.12.2. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, and 3.8.2, we fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20, and we choose a family \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.10.3. Then the set of support-preserving C-algebra isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho_{x_0}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M),\mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}},q),$$

is a torsor under $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\Omega(\rho_M), \mathcal{C}^{\times})$.

If C admits a nontrivial involution $c \mapsto \overline{c}$ and \mathcal{T} satisfies all the properties in Choice 3.11.5, then the set of such isomorphisms that also preserve the anti-involutions defined in Section 3.11 is a torsor under the group $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\Omega(\rho_M), \{z \in C^{\times} \mid |z| = 1\}).$

Proof. Fix such an isomorphism \mathcal{I} , which exists by Theorem 3.10.10. For every $\chi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\Omega(\rho_M), \mathcal{C}^{\times})$, we have a support-preserving \mathcal{C} -algebra automorphism Ψ_{χ} of $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\operatorname{aff}}, q)$, as in the proof of Proposition 3.12.1. Let \mathcal{I}_{χ} denote the composition $\Psi_{\chi} \circ \mathcal{I}$. Then it is clear that this is a support-preserving algebra isomorphism from $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ to $\mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M), \mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\operatorname{aff}}, q)$, and that all such isomorphisms arise in this way.

Suppose that \mathcal{C} admits a nontrivial involution $c \mapsto \overline{c}$ and \mathcal{T} satisfies all the properties in Choice 3.11.5. If we also assume that \mathcal{I} preserves the anti-involution (such an isomorphism exists by Proposition 3.11.7), then the last part of Proposition 3.12.1 implies that \mathcal{I}_{χ} preserves the anti-involution if and only if $\chi \in \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\Omega(\rho_M), \{z \in \mathcal{C}^{\times} \mid |z| = 1\})$.

4 Comparison of Hecke algebras

We have seen in Section 3 that if a pair (K, ρ) consisting of a compact, open subgroup K of G(F) and an irreducible representation ρ of K satisfies some axioms, then we can determine the structure of the attached Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$. Now we consider a pair (K^0, ρ^0) for a subgroup G^0 of G. We will show that if the two pairs (K, ρ) and (K^0, ρ^0) are related according to some axioms, Axioms 4.1.2, 4.2.1, and 4.3.1, then we have a support-preserving algebra isomorphism $\mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho^0) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho)$, see Theorem 4.4.8 and Theorem 4.4.11.

As a special case, in [FOAM, Theorem 4.3.11], we will obtain an isomorphism between the Hecke algebra attached to a type of a Bernstein block of arbitrary depth constructed by Kim and Yu and the Hecke algebra of a depth-zero type. Readers interested in this case might find it helpful to first read Sections 4.1 and 4.2 of [FOAM] to have an example in mind for the objects appearing in the axiomatic set-up below. A reader solely interested in the setting of [FOAM] might also completely replace all the below objects by those introduced in [FOAM, Section 4] with the same symbols.

4.1 The set-up

We let G^0 be a connected reductive subgroup of G of same rank as G and let $j: \mathcal{B}(G^0, F) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{B}(G, F)$ be an admissible embedding of enlarged Bruhat–Tits buildings in the sense of [KP23, §14.2]. We note that an admissible embedding exists by [KP23, Proposition 14.6.1, Corollary 14.7.3, Proposition 14.8.4]. For example, in the setting of types constructed by Kim and Yu, G^0 is a twisted Levi subgroup of G, see [FOAM, Definition 4.1.1].

Let M^0 be a Levi subgroup of G^0 for which $A_{M^0} = A_M$, where M denotes the centralizer $Z_G(A_{M^0})$ of A_{M^0} in G. Recall that A_{M^0} , respectively, A_M , denotes the maximal split torus in the center of M^0 , respectively M. Note that M is a Levi subgroup of G and we have $G^0 \cap M = M^0$. We fix a commutative diagram

of admissible embeddings of buildings and identify $\mathcal{B}(M^0, F)$, $\mathcal{B}(M, F)$, and $\mathcal{B}(G^0, F)$ with their images in $\mathcal{B}(G, F)$. Let $x_0 \in \mathcal{B}(M^0, F)$. Then the affine spaces $x_0 + (X_*(A_{M^0}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R})$ and $x_0 + (X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R})$ attached to (G^0, M^0, x_0) and (G, M, x_0) in Section 3.1 agree, so we may denote both by the same symbol \mathcal{A}_{x_0} without ambiguity. By our definition of M, the subgroups $N_{G^0}(M^0)(F)_{[x_0]_{M^0}}$ of $G^0(F)$ and $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ of G(F) introduced in Section 3.1 satisfy the relation

$$N_{G^0}(M^0)(F)_{[x_0]_{M^0}} = G^0(F) \cap N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}.$$
(4.1.1)

We fix a locally finite set of affine hyperplanes \mathfrak{H} in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} that do not contain x_0 . We let K_{M^0} , resp., K_M , be a compact, open subgroup of $M^0(F)_{x_0}$, resp., $M(F)_{x_0}$, and $(\rho_{M^0}, V_{\rho_{M^0}})$, resp., (ρ_M, V_{ρ_M}) , be an irreducible smooth representation of K_{M^0} , resp., K_M . Let $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ be a subgroup of $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}$ containing $A_{M^0}(F)$. For example, in [FOAM], we take $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} =$ $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}$, and (K_{M^0}, ρ_{M^0}) and (K_M, ρ_M) are depth-zero and positive-depth supercuspidal types as constructed by Yu ([Yu01]) if $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$.

We will assume the following axiom that relates the general pairs (K_{M^0}, ρ_{M^0}) and (K_M, ρ_M) .

Axiom 4.1.2.

- (1) There exists a compact, open subgroup $K_{M,0+}$ of M(F) that is normalized by $N(\rho_{M^0})^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_{M^0}} \cdot K_{M^0}$ such that the group $M^0(F) \cap K_{M,0+}$ is contained in the kernel of ρ_{M^0} , and we have $K_M = K_{M^0} \cdot K_{M,0+}$.
- (2) There exists an irreducible smooth representation (κ_M, V_{κ_M}) of K_M that extends to a smooth representation $\tilde{\kappa}_M$ of the group

$$\widetilde{K}_M \coloneqq N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cdot K_M$$

such that

$$\rho_M \simeq \inf \left(\rho_{M^0} \right) \otimes \kappa_M,$$

where $\inf (\rho_{M^0})$ is the inflation of ρ_{M^0} to K_M via the surjection

$$K_M = K_{M^0} \cdot K_{M,0+} \twoheadrightarrow (K_{M^0} \cdot K_{M,0+}) / K_{M,0+} \simeq K_{M^0} / (K_{M^0} \cap K_{M,0+}).$$

Remark 4.1.3. In the setting of [FOAM], the group $K_{M,0+}$ is defined in [FOAM, (4.1.3)], κ_M is a twist of a Weil–Heisenberg representation defined in [FOAM, Section 4.1, p. 42], and the extension $\tilde{\kappa}_M$ of κ_M is constructed explicitly in [FOAM, Definition 4.3.3] and the preceding text. That Axiom 4.1.2 holds in this setting is proven in [FOAM, Proposition 4.3.4]. The existence of an extension $\tilde{\kappa}_M$ of κ_M as required in this axiom was the key challenge in proving that all our axioms are satisfied in the setting of [FOAM].

Remark 4.1.4. Axiom 4.1.2(1) in particular includes the statement that $M^0(F) \cap K_{M,0+} \subset K_{M^0}$, and hence the requirement $K_M = K_{M^0} \cdot K_{M,0+}$ of the axiom implies that $M^0(F) \cap K_M = K_{M^0}$. Since $G^0 \cap M = M^0$ and $K_M \subset M(F)$, we also have $G^0(F) \cap K_M = K_{M^0}$.

It will be convenient for us to choose the subgroup $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$ as $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$, but in order to do so, we first need the following lemma.

Lemma 4.1.5. We have

$$N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \subset N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$$

Proof. Let $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$. According to Equation (4.1.1), we have $n \in N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$. Hence, it suffices to prove that $n \in N_{G(F)}(\rho_M)$. According to Axiom 4.1.2(1), the element *n* normalizes the group K_M . We will prove that *n* normalizes the representation ρ_M . Let $T_n^0: {}^n\rho_{M^0} \xrightarrow{\sim} \rho_{M^0}$ be an isomorphism. Then the morphism

$$T_n^0 \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n): \ {}^n\!\rho_M = {}^n\!\rho_{M^0} \otimes {}^n\!\kappa_M \xrightarrow{\sim} \rho_{M^0} \otimes \kappa_M = \rho_M$$

is an isomorphism as well, hence $n \in N_{G(F)}(\rho_M)$.

4.2 Compatible families of quasi-G-covers

We keep the notation and assumption from the previous subsection, i.e., Axiom 4.1.2 holds. In this subsection, we will define the quasi- G^0 -cover $(K_{x_0}^0, \rho_{x_0}^0)$ of (K_{M^0}, ρ_{M^0}) and the quasi-G-cover (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) of (K_M, ρ_M) to which we attach the Hecke algebras that we prove are isomorphic in Theorem 4.4.8. For example, if $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$, we can take (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) to be a type for a Bernstein block constructed by Kim and Yu as a G-cover of a supercuspidal type (K_M, ρ_M) . In this case, the pair $(K_{x_0}^0, \rho_{x_0}^0)$ can be taken as the twist by a quadratic character introduced in [FKS23] of the depth-zero type included in the input for the construction of (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) . (See [FOAM, Section 4.1] for details, where we include the twist by the quadratic character in the construction of (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) and therefore can take $(K_{x_0}^0, \rho_{x_0}^0)$ as the depth-zero type input for this twisted construction.) As in Section 3.4, we will define not only one quasi-cover, but a whole family of quasi-covers. Moreover, we will formulate a compatibility condition between the family of quasi- G^0 -covers and the family of quasi-G-covers, see Axiom 4.2.1.

Let

$$\mathcal{K}^{0} = \left\{ (K_{x}^{0}, K_{x,+}^{0}, (\rho_{x}^{0}, V_{\rho_{x}^{0}})) \right\}_{x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}}$$

be a family of quasi- G^0 -cover-candidates that satisfies Axiom 3.4.1 with the subgroup $N(\rho_{M^0})^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_{M^0}}$ of $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}$. According to Lemma 4.1.5, $N(\rho_{M^0})^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_{M^0}}$ is also a subgroup of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$. Let

$$\mathcal{K} = \{ (K_x, K_{x,+}, (\rho_x, V_{\rho_x})) \}_{x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}}$$

be a family of quasi-G-cover-candidates that satisfies Axiom 3.4.1 with the subgroup $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} := N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$. Examples for such families are presented in the paragraph after [FOAM, Lemma 4.1.9] on p. 43 of [FOAM]. We assume that the two families satisfy the following compatibility properties.

Axiom 4.2.1. For each $x \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$, the following properties hold.

(1) There exists a compact, open subgroup $K_{x,0+}$ of K_x that is normalized by K_x^0 such that the group $G^0(F) \cap K_{x,0+}$ is contained in the kernel of ρ_x^0 , and we have $K_x = K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,0+}$.

(2) There exists an irreducible smooth representation (κ_x, V_{κ_x}) of K_x such that

$$\rho_x = \inf\left(\rho_x^0\right) \otimes \kappa_x,$$

where $\inf (\rho_x^0)$ is the inflation of ρ_x^0 to K_x via the surjection

$$K_x = K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,0+} \twoheadrightarrow K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,0+} / K_{x,0+} \simeq K_x^0 / \left(K_x^0 \cap K_{x,0+} \right).$$

(3) We have

$$I_{G(F)}(\rho_x) = K_x \cdot I_{G^0(F)}(\rho_x^0) \cdot K_x.$$

This axiom is verified for the setting of [FOAM] in [FOAM, Proposition 4.3.5].

4.3 \mathcal{K} -relevance vs. \mathcal{K}^0 -relevance

We keep the notation and assumptions, i.e., Axioms 3.4.1, 4.1.2, and 4.2.1, from the previous subsection. Recall that we defined in Section 3.5 intertwining operators $\Theta_{y|x}$ for $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$. In order to distinguish the intertwining operators attached to G and \mathcal{K} from the intertwining operators attached to G^0 and \mathcal{K}^0 we will denote the former by

$$\Theta_{y|x}$$
: $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x) \to \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(\rho_y)$

and the latter by

$$\Theta^0_{y|x} \colon \operatorname{ind}_{K^0_x}^{G^0(F)}(\rho^0_x) \to \operatorname{ind}_{K^0_y}^{G^0(F)}(\rho^0_y).$$

This means that an affine hyperplane $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ is called \mathcal{K}^0 -relevant if there exists $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$ and $\Theta^0_{x|y} \circ \Theta^0_{y|x} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{G^0(F)}(\rho_x^0)}$. In this subsection, we will exhibit the relation between $\Theta_{y|x}$ and $\Theta^0_{y|x}$, see Lemma 4.3.6, and show that the notions of \mathcal{K} -relevant and \mathcal{K}^0 -relevant coincide, see Corollary 4.3.7, under the assumption of the following axiom that ensures a compatibility between the data $\{K_x^0, K_{x,0+}, \kappa_x\}$ for different $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$.

Axiom 4.3.1. For any $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$ such that d(x, y) = 1, there exists a compact, open subgroup $K_{x,y}^0$ of $G^0(F)$, a compact, open subgroup $K_{x,y;0+}$ of G(F), and an irreducible smooth representation $(\kappa_{x,y}, V_{\kappa_{x,y}})$ of $K_{x,y} := K_{x,y}^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+}$ such that

- (1) $K_{x,y}^0$ contains K_x^0 and K_y^0 .
- (2) $K_{x,y;0+}$ is normalized by the group $K_{x,y}^0$, and we have

$$K_{x,0+} \subset (G^0(F) \cap K_{x,0+}) \cdot K_{x,y;0+}$$
 and $K_{y,0+} \subset (G^0(F) \cap K_{y,0+}) \cdot K_{x,y;0+}$.

(3) The group $G^0(F) \cap K_{x,y;0+}$ is contained in the kernels of ρ_x^0 and ρ_y^0 .

- (4) The restriction of $\kappa_{x,y}$ to $K_{x,y;0+}$ is irreducible.
- (5) We have isomorphisms

$$\kappa_{x,y}|_{K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+}}(\kappa_x) \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa_{x,y}|_{K_y^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{K_y^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+}}(\kappa_y)$$

Since the conditions of Axiom 4.3.1 are symmetric with respect to x and y, we may and do assume that $K_{x,y}^0 = K_{y,x}^0$, $K_{x,y;0+} = K_{y,x;0+}$, and $\kappa_{x,y} = \kappa_{y,x}$.

In Section 4.4 below, where we will also assume Axioms 3.7.1 and 3.8.2, $K_{x,sx}^0$ and $K_{x,sx}$ will play the role of $K'_{x,s}$ in Axiom 3.8.2.

Remark 4.3.2. In the setting of [FOAM], the objects $K_{x,y}^0$, $K_{x,y;0+}$ and $\kappa_{x,y}$ are defined in [FOAM, Notation 4.3.6], and [FOAM, Lemma 4.3.7] shows that these objects satisfy Axiom 4.3.1 for the families \mathcal{K}^0 and \mathcal{K} considered in [FOAM]. Axiom 4.3.1(5) is a reason why we need to twist the construction of Kim and Yu ([KY17]) in [FOAM] by a quadratic character following [FKS23]. Without this twist, the Hecke algebra isomorphism in [FOAM, Theorem 4.3.11], which is Theorem 4.4.8 applied in that setting, would not be true in general, see [FOAM, Section A.2] for an example.

Remark 4.3.3. Axiom 4.3.1(1) and (2) imply that

$$K_x \subset K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+} \subset K_{x,y}$$
 and $K_y \subset K_y^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+} \subset K_{x,y}$.

We assume Axiom 4.3.1 from now on. Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ and $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$. Let $(K^0_{x,y}, K_{x,y;0+}, \kappa_{x,y})$ be the triple from Axiom 4.3.1. Since the representation ρ^0_x is trivial on the group $K^0_x \cap K_{x,y;0+} \subset G^0(F) \cap K_{x,y;0+}$, we can inflate ρ^0_x to the group $K^0_x \cdot K_{x,y;0+}$ via the surjection

$$K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+} \longrightarrow K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0+} / K_{x,y;0+} \simeq K_x^0 / \left(K_x^0 \cap K_{x,y;0+} \right).$$

We use the same notation $\inf(\rho_x^0)$ for this inflation as for the inflation of ρ_x^0 to K_x , which is just the restriction of the former to K_x . Then, by using Axiom 4.3.1(5), we have

$$\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{K_{x,y}}(\rho_{x}) = \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{K_{x,y}}\left(\operatorname{inf}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}\right) \otimes \kappa_{x}\right) \simeq \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{K_{x,y}}\left(\operatorname{inf}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}\right) \otimes \kappa_{x}\right) \simeq \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{K_{x},y;0+}\left(\operatorname{inf}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}\right) \otimes \kappa_{x}\right)\right)$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{K_{x},y;0+}\left(\operatorname{inf}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}\right) \otimes \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}}^{K_{x}^{0} \cdot K_{x,y;0+}} \kappa_{x}\right) \simeq \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}^{0} \cdot K_{x,y;0+}}^{K_{x,y;0+}}\left(\operatorname{inf}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}\right) \otimes \kappa_{x,y}\right)$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}^{0} \cdot K_{x,y;0+}}^{K_{x,y;0+}}\left(\operatorname{inf}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}\right)\right) \otimes \kappa_{x,y} = \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}^{0} \cdot K_{x,y;0+}}^{K_{x},y;0+}\left(\operatorname{inf}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}\right)\right) \otimes \kappa_{x,y}$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{inf}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}^{0}}^{K_{0}^{0}}(\rho_{x}^{0})\right) \otimes \kappa_{x,y},$$

where $\inf\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,y}^0}(\rho_x^0)\right)$ denotes the inflation of the representation $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,y}^0}(\rho_x^0)$ to $K_{x,y}$ via the surjection

$$K_{x,y} = K_{x,y}^{0} \cdot K_{x,y;0+} \longrightarrow K_{x,y}^{0} \cdot K_{x,y;0+} / K_{x,y;0+} \simeq K_{x,y}^{0} / \left(K_{x,y}^{0} \cap K_{x,y;0+} \right).$$

We write this isomorphism as

$$I_x^{x,y} \colon \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,y}}(\rho_x) \xrightarrow{\sim} \inf \left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,y}^0}(\rho_x^0) \right) \otimes \kappa_{x,y}.$$

Similarly, we obtain an isomorphism

$$I_y^{x,y} \colon \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{K_{x,y}}(\rho_y) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{inf}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_y^0}^{K_{x,y}^0}(\rho_y^0)\right) \otimes \kappa_{x,y}.$$

According to Axiom 4.3.1(1), Remark 4.3.3, and the definitions of $\Theta_{y|x}$ and $\Theta_{y|x}^0$, we have

$$\Theta_{y|x} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x), \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{G(F)}(\rho_y)\right)_{K_{x,y}} \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{x,y}}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,y}}(\rho_x), \operatorname{ind}_{K_y}^{K_{x,y}}(\rho_y)\right)$$
(4.3.4)

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{0} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G^{0}(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}^{0}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x}^{0}), \operatorname{ind}_{K_{y}^{0}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{y}^{0})\right)_{K_{x,y}^{0}} \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{x,y}^{0}}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}^{0}}^{K_{x}^{0},y}(\rho_{x}^{0}), \operatorname{ind}_{K_{y}^{0}}^{K_{x,y}^{0}}(\rho_{y}^{0})\right)$$
(4.3.5)

(see Lemma 2.2.8) and therefore we may view $\Theta_{y|x}$ and $\Theta_{y|x}^0$ as elements of the latter spaces. Hence, we obtain an element

$$I_y^{x,y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \circ (I_x^{x,y})^{-1} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{x,y}} \left(\inf \left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_x^0,y}(\rho_x^0) \right) \otimes \kappa_{x,y}, \inf \left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_y^0}^{K_x^0,y}(\rho_y^0) \right) \otimes \kappa_{x,y} \right)$$

Lemma 4.3.6. There exists $c \in C^{\times}$ such that

$$I_y^{x,y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \circ (I_x^{x,y})^{-1} = c \cdot \Theta_{y|x}^0 \otimes \operatorname{id}_{V_{\kappa_{x,y}}}.$$

Proof. Since $K_{x,y;0+}$ is contained in the kernels of the two representations $\inf\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,y}^0}(\rho_x^0)\right)$ and $\inf\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_y^0}^{K_{x,y}^0}(\rho_y^0)\right)$, and the restriction of $\kappa_{x,y}$ to $K_{x,y;0+}$ is irreducible by Axiom 4.3.1(4), we can write

$$I_y^{x,y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \circ (I_x^{x,y})^{-1} = \Theta' \otimes \mathrm{id}_{V_{\kappa_{x,y}}}$$

for some

$$\Theta' \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K^0_{x,y}} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{K^0_x}^{K^0_{x,y}}(\rho^0_x), \operatorname{ind}_{K^0_y}^{K^0_{x,y}}(\rho^0_y) \right).$$

It remains to show that there exists $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that $\Theta' = c \cdot \Theta_{y|x}^{0}$. The definition of $\Theta_{y|x}^{0}$ implies that

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{0}\left(V_{\rho_{x}^{0}}\right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_{y}^{0}}^{K_{y}^{0} \cdot K_{x}^{0}}\left(V_{\rho_{y}^{0}}\right).$$

$$(4.3.6a)$$

On the other hand, we can prove

$$\Theta'\left(V_{\rho_x^0}\right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_y^0}^{K_y^0 \cdot K_x^0}\left(V_{\rho_y^0}\right)$$
(4.3.6b)

as follows. Let $v^0 \in V_{\rho_x^0}$ and $w \in V_{\kappa_x}$, and consider $v^0 \otimes w \in V_{\rho_x^0} \otimes V_{\kappa_x} = V_{\rho_x} \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,y}}(V_{\rho_x})$. By tracing through the definition of $I_x^{x,y}$, we obtain that

$$I_x^{x,y}(v^0 \otimes w) = v^0 \otimes w \in V_{\rho_x^0} \otimes V_{\kappa_x} \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,y}^0}(V_{\rho_x^0}) \otimes V_{\kappa_{x,y}},$$

where we regard κ_x as a K_x -subrepresentation of $\kappa_{x,y}$ via $\kappa_x \hookrightarrow \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_x \cdot K_{x,y;0^+}}(\kappa_x)|_{K_x} \simeq \kappa_{x,y}|_{K_x}$. Hence, we obtain that $I_x^{x,y}(V_{\rho_x}) = V_{\rho_x^0} \otimes V_{\kappa_x}$, equivalently, $(I_x^{x,y})^{-1} (V_{\rho_x^0} \otimes V_{\kappa_x}) = V_{\rho_x}$. The definitions of $I_y^{x,y}$ and $\Theta_{y|x}$, and the observation $K_y^0 \cdot K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0^+} = K_y^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0^+} \cdot K_x^0 \cdot K_{x,y;0^+} \supseteq K_y \cdot K_x$ then imply that

$$\left(I_y^{x,y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \circ (I_x^{x,y})^{-1}\right) \left(V_{\rho_x^0} \otimes V_{\kappa_x}\right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_y^0}^{K_y^0 \cdot K_x^0} \left(V_{\rho_y^0}\right) \otimes V_{\kappa_{x,y}}.$$

Thus, we conclude (4.3.6b).

According to (4.3.6a) and (4.3.6b), we have

$$\Theta_{y|x}^{0}|_{V_{\rho_{x}^{0}}}, \ \Theta'|_{V_{\rho_{x}^{0}}} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{x}^{0}}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}, \operatorname{ind}_{K_{y}^{0}}^{K_{y}^{0} \cdot K_{x}^{0}}(\rho_{y}^{0})\right) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{x}^{0}}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}, \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}^{0} \cap K_{y}^{0}}^{K_{x}^{0}}(\rho_{y}^{0}|_{K_{x}^{0} \cap K_{y}^{0}})\right),$$

where the isomorphism comes from the isomorphism $\operatorname{ind}_{K_y^0}^{K_y^0,K_x^0}(\rho_y^0) \to \operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0\cap K_y^0}^{K_x^0}(\rho_y^0|_{K_x^0\cap K_y^0})$ of K_x^0 -representations given by $f \mapsto f|_{K_x^0}$. Since K_x^0 is a compact group, the compact induction functor $\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0\cap K_y^0}^{K_x^0}$ is not only the left-adjoint but also the right-adjoint of the restriction functor. Hence, according to Lemma 3.3.5, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K_{x}^{0}}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}, \operatorname{ind}_{K_{x}^{0} \cap K_{y}^{0}}^{K_{x}^{0}}\left(\rho_{y}^{0}|_{K_{x}^{0} \cap K_{y}^{0}}\right)\right) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{x}^{0} \cap K_{y}^{0}}\left(\rho_{x}^{0}|_{K_{x}^{0} \cap K_{y}^{0}}, \rho_{y}^{0}|_{K_{x}^{0} \cap K_{y}^{0}}\right) = \operatorname{End}_{K_{M^{0}}}(\rho_{M^{0}}).$$

Since ρ_{M^0} is an irreducible representation of K_{M^0} , we obtain that

$$\dim_{\mathcal{C}} \left(\operatorname{Hom}_{K_x^0} \left(\rho_x^0, \operatorname{ind}_{K_y^0}^{K_y^0 \cdot K_x^0} (\rho_y^0) \right) \right) = \dim_{\mathcal{C}} \left(\operatorname{End}_{K_{M^0}} (\rho_{M^0}) \right) = 1$$

Thus, there exists $c \in \mathcal{C}$ such that $\Theta'|_{V_{\rho_x^0}} = c \cdot \Theta_{y|x}^0|_{V_{\rho_x^0}}$. Since the $K_{x,y}^0$ -representation $(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_x^0,y}(\rho_x^0), \operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_x^0,y}(V_{\rho_x^0}))$ is generated by the subspace $V_{\rho_x^0}$, and the homomorphisms Θ' and $\Theta_{y|x}^0$ are $K_{x,y}^0$ -equivariant, we also obtain that $\Theta' = c \cdot \Theta_{y|x}^0$. Since $\Theta_{y|x}^0$ and $\Theta_{y|x}$ are non-zero (see Corollary 3.5.4), we obtain the lemma.

Corollary 4.3.7. We assume Axioms 3.4.1, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, and 4.3.1. Then an affine hyperplane $H \in \mathfrak{H}$ is \mathcal{K}^0 -relevant if and only if H is \mathcal{K} -relevant.

Proof. Let $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$. To prove the corollary, in light of Equations (4.3.4) and (4.3.5), it suffices to show that

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \in \mathcal{C} \cdot \mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,y}}(\rho_x)} \quad \text{ if and only if } \quad \Theta_{x|y}^0 \circ \Theta_{y|x}^0 \in \mathcal{C} \cdot \mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,y}^0}(\rho_x^0)}$$

According to Lemma 4.3.6, there exists $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$I_y^{x,y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \circ (I_x^{x,y})^{-1} = c \cdot \Theta_{y|x}^0 \otimes \mathrm{id}_{V_{\kappa_{x,y}}}$$

Replacing x with y, we also obtain that there exists $c' \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$I_x^{x,y} \circ \Theta_{x|y} \circ \left(I_y^{x,y}\right)^{-1} = c' \cdot \Theta_{x|y}^0 \otimes \operatorname{id}_{V_{\kappa_{x,y}}}.$$

Hence, we have $I_x^{x,y} \circ (\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x}) \circ (I_x^{x,y})^{-1} = cc' \cdot \Theta_{x|y}^0 \circ \Theta_{y|x}^0 \otimes \mathrm{id}_{V_{\kappa_{x,y}}}$, from which we deduce the desired equivalence.

4.4 Hecke algebra isomorphism

We keep the notation and assumptions, i.e., Axioms 3.4.1, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, and 4.3.1, from the previous subsection. In this subsection, we are going to show that the Hecke algebras attached to $(K_{x_0}^0, \rho_{x_0}^0)$ and to (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) , respectively, are isomorphic, see Theorem 4.4.8.

In order to use the structure of the Hecke algebras as a semi-direct product of an affine Hecke algebra with a twisted group algebra that we exhibited in Theorem 3.10.10, we will also need to assume the axioms that were used in that theorem. More precisely, from now on, we suppose that the family \mathcal{K}^0 also satisfies Axiom 3.4.3. Starting from after Lemma 4.4.1 we also assume that the

group $W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ satisfies Axiom 3.7.1 for a normal subgroup $W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}}$ of $W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$, and that the family \mathcal{K}^0 satisfies Axiom 3.8.2 with the groups $K'_{x,s} = K^0_{x,sx}$ for $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}^0\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ with $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$, and where $K^0_{x,sx}$ denotes the group in Axiom 4.3.1. We will first show that the analogous axioms also hold for \mathcal{K} .

Lemma 4.4.1. The family \mathcal{K} with the subgroup $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$ satisfies Axiom 3.4.3.

Proof. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$. Since the group $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ and the family \mathcal{K}^0 satisfy Axiom 3.4.3, we have

$$I_{G^{0}(F)}(\rho_{x}^{0}) = K_{x}^{0} \cdot N(\rho_{M^{0}})_{[x_{0}]_{M^{0}}}^{\heartsuit} \cdot K_{x}^{0}$$

Combining this with Axiom 4.2.1(3), we have

$$I_{G(F)}(\rho_x) = K_x \cdot I_{G^0(F)}(\rho_x^0) \cdot K_x = K_x \cdot N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cdot K_x.$$

To show that \mathcal{K} also satisfies the remaining axioms, recall that we chose the group $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ to be $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \subset G^0(F)$. Hence we have

$$N(\rho_M)^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_M} \cap K_M = N(\rho_{M^0})^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_{M^0}} \cap K_M = N(\rho_{M^0})^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_{M^0}} \cap K_{M^0}$$
(4.4.2)

by Remark 4.1.4. Thus, we obtain that $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$. Moreover, according to Corollary 4.3.7, we have $W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} = W_{\mathcal{K}^0\text{-rel}}$.

Lemma 4.4.3. The family \mathcal{K} satisfies Axiom 3.8.2 with the group $K'_{x,s} = K_{x,sx}$ for $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} = S_{\mathcal{K}^0\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ with $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$, where $K_{x,sx}$ denotes the group in Axiom 4.3.1.

Proof. According to Remark 4.3.3, the group $K_{x,sx}$ is a compact, open subgroup of G(F) containing K_x . According to Axiom 4.3.1(3), we have

$$N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,sx} = N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,sx}^0 \cdot K_{x,sx;0+} = N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap G^0(F) \cap K_{x,sx}^0 \cdot K_{x,sx;0+}$$
$$= N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,sx}^0 \cdot \left(G^0(F) \cap K_{x,sx;0+}\right) = N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,sx}^0.$$

Combining this with (4.4.2), we obtain that

$$\left(N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,sx} \right) / \left(N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M \right) = \left(N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{x,sx}^0 \right) / \left(N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_{M^0} \right) = \{1,s\}$$

where the last equality follows from \mathcal{K}^0 satisfying Axiom 3.8.2 for the group $K'_{x,s} = K^0_{x,sx}$.

We fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20. According to our assumptions and Proposition 3.10.4, we can choose a family

$$\mathcal{T}^{0} = \left\{ T_{n}^{0} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_{M^{0}}}({}^{n}\rho_{M^{0}}, \rho_{M^{0}}) \right\}_{n \in N(\rho_{M^{0}})_{[x_{0}]_{M^{0}}}^{\heartsuit}}$$

as in Choice 3.10.3.

Proposition 4.4.4. Assume Axioms 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.7.1, 3.8.2, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, and 4.3.1 for the relevant objects as described above. Then there exists a unique family

$$\mathcal{T} = \{T_n \in \operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n\!\rho_M, \rho_M)\}_{n \in N(\rho_M 0)} {}^{\heartsuit}_{[x_0]_M 0}$$

that satisfies all the properties in Choice 3.10.3 and the condition that

$$T_n = T_n^0 \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n)$$

for all $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ whose projections to $W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ are contained in $\Omega(\rho_{M^0})$.

Proof. According to our assumptions, Lemma 4.4.1, Lemma 4.4.3, and Proposition 3.10.4, we can choose a family \mathcal{T} to satisfy all the properties in Choice 3.10.3. Moreover, according to Remark 3.10.5, there exists a unique family \mathcal{T} satisfying all the properties in Choice 3.10.3 together with the condition that $T_n = T_n^0 \otimes \tilde{\kappa}_M(n)$ for a set of representatives of lifts $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of $t \in \Omega(\rho_{M^0}) \smallsetminus \{1\}$. Since $\tilde{\kappa}_M$ is an extension of κ_M and we have $\rho_M \simeq \inf(\rho_{M^0}) \otimes \kappa_M$, we also obtain that $T_n = T_n^0 \otimes \tilde{\kappa}_M(n)$ for all lifts $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of elements of $\Omega(\rho_{M^0})$.

We fix a family \mathcal{T}^0 as in Choice 3.10.3 and let \mathcal{T} denote the family satisfying the conditions in Proposition 4.4.4. We define non-zero elements $\Phi_{x,w}^0 \in \operatorname{End}_{G^0(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{G^0(F)}(\rho_x^0)\right)$ and $\Phi_{x,w} \in$ $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)\right)$ for $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ and $w \in W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ as in Definition 3.5.23, and let $\varphi_{x,w}^0$, resp., $\varphi_{x,w}$, denote the element of $\mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_x^0)$, resp., $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_x)$, that corresponds to $\Phi_{x,w}^0$, resp., $\Phi_{x,w}$, via the isomorphism in (2.2.3). We write $\varphi_w^0 \coloneqq \varphi_{x_0,w}^0, \varphi_w \coloneqq \varphi_{x_0,w}, \Phi_w^0 \coloneqq \Phi_{x_0,w}^0$, and $\Phi_w \coloneqq \Phi_{x_0,w}$.

According to Theorem 3.10.10, the map

$$\varphi_{tw}^0 \mapsto b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w \qquad (t \in \Omega(\rho_{M^0}), w \in W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}})$$

defines an isomorphism of C-algebras

$$\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0}^0) \colon \mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_{x_0}^0) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_{M^0}), \mu^{\mathcal{T}^0}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_{M^0})_{\mathrm{aff}}, q^0),$$

and the map

$$\varphi_{tw} \mapsto b_t \cdot \mathbb{T}_w \left(t \in \Omega(\rho_{M^0}), w \in W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}} \right)$$

defines an isomorphism of C-algebras

$$\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0})\colon \mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho_{x_0}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_{M^0}),\mu^{\mathcal{T}}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_{M^0})_{\mathrm{aff}},q),$$

where $\mu^{\mathcal{T}^0}$ and $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ denote the restrictions to $\Omega(\rho_{M^0}) \times \Omega(\rho_{M^0})$ of the 2-cocycles introduced in Notation 3.6.1, and q^0 and q denote the parameter functions $s \mapsto q_s^0$ and $s \mapsto q_s$ from $S_{\mathcal{K}^0\text{-rel}}$ to $\mathcal{C}_{>1}$ such that the elements Φ_s^0 and Φ_s satisfy the quadratic relations

$$(\Phi_s^0)^2 = (q_s^0 - 1) \cdot \Phi_s^0 + q_s^0 \cdot \Phi_1^0$$
 and $(\Phi_s)^2 = (q_s - 1) \cdot \Phi_s + q_s \cdot \Phi_1.$ (4.4.5)

Thus, in order to prove that the two Hecke algebras $\mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_{x_0}^0)$ and $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ are isomorphic, we will prove that $\mu^{\mathcal{T}^0} = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ and $q^0 = q$. **Lemma 4.4.6.** We have $\mu^{\mathcal{T}^0} = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ on $\Omega(\rho_{M^0}) \times \Omega(\rho_{M^0})$.

Proof. Let $v, w \in \Omega(\rho_{M^0})$. We fix lifts m of v and n of w in $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$. Since $\widetilde{\kappa}_M$ is a representation, we have $\widetilde{\kappa}_M(mn) = \widetilde{\kappa}_M(m) \circ \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n)$. Hence, our choice of \mathcal{T} implies that

$$\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(v,w) \cdot T_{mn} = T_m \circ T_n = \left(T_m^0 \circ T_n^0\right) \otimes \left(\widetilde{\kappa}_M(m) \circ \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n)\right) \\ = \left(T_m^0 \circ T_n^0\right) \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(mn) = \mu^{\mathcal{T}^0}(v,w) \cdot T_{mn}^0 \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(mn) = \mu^{\mathcal{T}^0}(v,w) \cdot T_{mn}. \quad \Box$$

Lemma 4.4.7. We have $q_s^0 = q_s$ for all $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}^0\text{-rel}}$.

Proof. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$. Since $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel};x_0,sx_0} = \{H_s\}$, by Proposition 3.8.21 and Equation (4.4.5) we have

$$\left(\Phi_{x,s}^{0}\right)^{2} = (q_{s}^{0}-1) \cdot \Phi_{x,s}^{0} + q_{s}^{0} \cdot \Phi_{x,1}^{0} \quad \text{and} \quad (\Phi_{x,s})^{2} = (q_{s}-1) \cdot \Phi_{x,s} + q_{s} \cdot \Phi_{x,1}.$$
(4.4.7a)

Hence, using Proposition 3.8.21, the lemma follows once we show that there exists $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$(c \cdot \Phi_{x,s})^2 = (q_s^0 - 1) \cdot (c \cdot \Phi_{x,s}) + q_s^0 \cdot \Phi_{x,1}.$$
(4.4.7b)

Recall that we have an isomorphism

$$I_x^{x,sx} \colon \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,sx}}(\rho_x) \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{inf}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_x^0,sx}(\rho_x^0)\right) \otimes \kappa_{x,sx}$$

Since the representation $\inf\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,sx}^0}(\rho_x^0)\right)$ is trivial on $K_{x,sx;0+}$, and the restriction of the representation $\kappa_{x,sx}$ to $K_{x,sx;0+}$ is irreducible, for any $\Phi \in \operatorname{End}_{K_{x,sx}}\left(\inf\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,sx}^0}(\rho_x^0)\right) \otimes \kappa_{x,sx}\right)$, there exists a unique $\Phi' \in \operatorname{End}_{K_{x,sx}^0}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,sx}^0}(\rho_x^0)\right)$ such that $\Phi = \Phi' \otimes \operatorname{id}_{V_{\kappa_{x,sx}}}$. Thus, we have an isomorphism of \mathcal{C} -algebras

$$\eta_x^{x,sx} \colon \operatorname{End}_{K_{x,sx}^0}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_{x,sx}^0}(\rho_x^0)\right) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}_{K_{x,sx}}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,sx}}(\rho_x)\right)$$

defined by

$$\eta_x^{x,sx}\left(\Phi'\right) = (I_x^{x,sx})^{-1} \circ \left(\Phi' \otimes \mathrm{id}_{V_{\kappa_{x,sx}}}\right) \circ I_x^{x,sx}.$$

Since we assume that the family \mathcal{K}^0 satisfies Axiom 3.8.2 with the group $K^0_{x,sx}$, we have a lift of s in $K^0_{x,sx}$, which we also denote by s. Combining this with Axiom 4.3.1(1) and Remark 4.3.3, we have $K^0_x s K^0_x \subset K^0_{x,sx}$ and $K_x s K_x \subset K_{x,sx}$. Hence, according to Lemma 2.2.5 and Lemma 3.5.26, we have

$$\Phi^{0}_{x,s} \in \operatorname{End}_{G^{0}(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K^{0}_{x}}^{G^{0}(F)}(\rho^{0}_{x})\right)_{K^{0}_{x,sx}} \simeq \operatorname{End}_{K^{0}_{x,sx}}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K^{0}_{x}}^{K^{0}_{x,sx}}(\rho^{0}_{x})\right)$$

and

$$\Phi_{x,s} \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x)\right)_{K_{x,sx}} \simeq \operatorname{End}_{K_{x,sx}}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,sx}}(\rho_x)\right)$$

We regard $\Phi^0_{x,s}$ and $\Phi_{x,s}$ as elements of the latter spaces and claim that there exists $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$\eta_x^{x,sx}\left(\Phi_{x,s}^0\right) = c \cdot \Phi_{x,s}.$$

Since $\eta_x^{x,sx}$ is an algebra isomorphism, the first equation of (4.4.7a) would then imply Equation (4.4.7b) as desired.

It remains to prove the claim. The proof is essentially the same as the proof of Lemma 4.3.6. According to Proposition 3.4.18 and Lemma 3.5.26, it suffices to show that $\operatorname{supp}\left((\eta_x^{x,sx})^{-1}(\Phi_{x,s})\right) \subset K_x^0 s K_x^0$. As explained in the proof of Lemma 4.3.6, we have $(I_x^{x,sx})^{-1}(V_{\rho_x^0} \otimes V_{\kappa_x}) = V_{\rho_x}$, where we regard κ_x as a K_x -subrepresentation of $\kappa_{x,sx}$ via $\kappa_x \to \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_x^0,K_{x,sx;0^+}}(\kappa_x)|_{K_x} \simeq \kappa_{x,sx}|_{K_x}$. Moreover, since $\operatorname{supp}(\Phi_{x,s}) = K_x s K_x$, Lemma 2.2.5 implies that

$$\left(\Phi_{x,s}\circ(I_x^{x,sx})^{-1}\right)\left(V_{\rho_x^0}\otimes V_{\kappa_x}\right) = \Phi_{x,s}\left(V_{\rho_x}\right)\subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_x s K_x}\left(V_{\rho_x}\right).$$
(4.4.7c)

Since we have $s \in K_{x,sx}^0$ and $K_x^0 \subset K_{x,sx}^0$, we obtain from Axiom 4.3.1(2) that the element s and the group K_x^0 normalize the group $K_{x,sx;0+}^0$, and hence

$$K_x s K_x \subseteq K_x^0 K_{x,sx;0+} s K_x^0 K_{x,sx;0+} = K_x^0 s K_x^0 K_{x,sx;0+}$$

by Remark 4.3.3. Using the definition of $I_x^{x,sx}$, this allows us to deduce $I_x^{x,sx} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_x s K_x} (V_{\rho_x}) \right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_x^0 s K_x^0} (V_{\rho_x^0}) \otimes V_{\kappa_{x,y}}$. Precomposing with (4.4.7c), we have $\left(I_x^{x,sx} \circ \Phi_{x,s} \circ (I_x^{x,sx})^{-1} \right) \left(V_{\rho_x^0} \otimes V_{\kappa_x} \right) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_x^0 s K_x^0} (V_{\rho_x^0}) \otimes V_{\kappa_{x,y}}$. Thus, we obtain that $\left((\eta_x^{x,sx})^{-1} (\Phi_{x,s}) \right) (V_{\rho_x^0}) \subset \operatorname{ind}_{K_x^0}^{K_x^0 s K_x^0} (V_{\rho_x^0})$. Using Lemma 2.2.5 we conclude that $\sup \left((\eta_x^{x,sx})^{-1} (\Phi_{x,s}) \right) \subset K_x^0 s K_x^0$.

Theorem 4.4.8. We assume the following:

- (1) The family \mathcal{K}^0 satisfies Axioms 3.4.1 and 3.4.3 with the subgroup $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}$.
- (2) The family \mathcal{K} satisfies Axiom 3.4.1 with the subgroup $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$.
- (3) The group $W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ satisfies Axiom 3.7.1 with a normal subgroup $W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}}$ of $W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$.
- (4) The family \mathcal{K}^0 satisfies Axiom 3.8.2 with the group $K'_{x,s} = K^0_{x,sx}$ for each $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}^0\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$.

We also assume Axioms 4.1.2, 4.2.1, and 4.3.1. We fix a subset $C_{>1} \subset C^{\times} \setminus \{1\}$ as in Choice 3.8.20, choose a family \mathcal{T}^0 as in Choice 3.10.3 and let \mathcal{T} denote the family satisfying the conditions in Proposition 4.4.4. Then the map

$$\mathcal{I} \coloneqq (\mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0}))^{-1} \circ \mathcal{I}(\rho_{x_0}^0) \colon \mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_{x_0}^0) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$$

is a support-preserving algebra isomorphism.

Proof of Theorem 4.4.8. Combine Theorem 3.10.10 with Lemma 4.4.6 and Lemma 4.4.7. \Box

We will provide a more explicit description of \mathcal{I} in Theorem 4.4.11 below. In order to do so, we keep the set-up from Theorem 4.4.8 and describe \mathcal{T} more explicitly.

Lemma 4.4.9. There exists a unique quadratic character $\epsilon : N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \to \{\pm 1\}$ that factors through $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \twoheadrightarrow W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ and is trivial on $\Omega(\rho_{M^0})$ such that

$$T_n = \epsilon(n) \cdot T_n^0 \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n) \quad \text{for every} \quad n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}.$$

Proof. Let $w \in W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ and choose a lift $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of w. Since T_n and $T_n^0 \otimes \tilde{\kappa}_M(n)$ are non-zero elements in the one-dimensional space $\operatorname{Hom}_{K_M}({}^n\rho_M, \rho_M)$, there exists $\epsilon(n) \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}$ such that $T_n = \epsilon(n) \cdot T_n^0 \otimes \tilde{\kappa}_M(n)$. We note that since $\tilde{\kappa}_M$ is an extension of κ_M and we have $\rho_M \simeq \inf(\rho_{M^0}) \otimes \kappa_M$, our choices of \mathcal{T}^0 and \mathcal{T} imply that the scalar $\epsilon(n)$ does not depend on the choice of lift n, but only on w. We write $\epsilon(w) = \epsilon(n)$ for any lift $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of $w \in W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$. Since we chose the family \mathcal{T} to satisfy the condition in Proposition 4.4.4, we have $\epsilon(t) = 1$ for all $t \in \Omega(\rho_{M^0})$. We will prove that $\epsilon(w) \in \{\pm 1\}$ for all $w \in W(\rho_{M^0})_{\operatorname{aff}}^{\frown}$. First, let $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}^0\text{-rel}}$. We fix a lift n_s in $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of s and note that n_s^{-1} is also a lift of $s = s^{-1}$. Using the definitions of $\mu^{\mathcal{T}^0}$ and $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$, we obtain

$$\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s,s) \cdot T_1 = T_{n_s} \circ T_{n_s^{-1}} = \epsilon(s)^2 \cdot \left(T_{n_s}^0 \circ T_{n_s^{-1}}^0\right) \otimes \left(\widetilde{\kappa}_M(n_s) \circ \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n_s^{-1})\right)$$
$$= \epsilon(s)^2 \mu^{\mathcal{T}^0}(s,s) \cdot T_1^0 \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(1) = \epsilon(s)^2 \mu^{\mathcal{T}^0}(s,s) \cdot T_1.$$

According to Lemma 3.8.10 and Lemma 4.4.7, we have $\mu^{\mathcal{T}^0}(s,s) = q_s^0 = q_s = \mu^{\mathcal{T}}(s,s)$. Thus, we conclude that $\epsilon(s)^2 = 1$, that is, $\epsilon(s) \in \{\pm 1\}$, as desired. Next, we consider a general $w \in W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}}$. We fix a reduced expression $w = s_1 s_2 \cdots s_r$ for w. We fix lifts of s_i for $1 \leq i \leq r$ in $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ and denote them by n_i . We write $n = n_1 n_2 \cdots n_r \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$. Then according to Proposition 3.10.7, we have $T_n^0 = T_{n_1}^0 \circ T_{n_2}^0 \circ \cdots \circ T_{n_r}^0$ and $T_n = T_{n_1} \circ T_{n_2} \circ \cdots \circ T_{n_r}$. Hence, we obtain that $\epsilon(w) = \prod_{i=1}^r \epsilon(s_i) \in \{\pm 1\}$. Moreover, since $W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}}$ is a Coxeter group, the arguments above imply that the map $w \mapsto \epsilon(w)$ defines a group homomorphism $W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}} \to \{\pm 1\}$. To prove the lemma, it suffices to show that the character $\epsilon \colon W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}} \to \{\pm 1\}$ is invariant under the conjugation action by $\Omega(\rho_{M^0})$. Let $t \in \Omega(\rho_{M^0})$ and $w \in W(\rho_{M^0})_{\text{aff}}$ with lifts \tilde{t} and n in $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$, respectively. Then according to Proposition 3.10.7, we have $T_{\tilde{t}n}^0 = T_{\tilde{t}n}^0 \circ T_{\tilde{t}n}^0$, hence $T_{\tilde{t}n\tilde{t}^{-1}}^0 = T_{\tilde{t}}^0 \circ T_n^0 \circ (T_{\tilde{t}}^0)^{-1}$, and $T_{\tilde{t}n\tilde{t}^{-1}} = T_{\tilde{t}}^\circ \circ T_{\tilde{t}}^{-1}$. Thus, the definition of ϵ implies that $\epsilon(twt^{-1}) = \epsilon(w)$, as required.

Remark 4.4.10. The quadratic character ϵ from Lemma 4.4.9 extends uniquely to a quadratic character of \widetilde{K}_M that is trivial on K_M . Hence $\epsilon \cdot \widetilde{\kappa}_M$ is a smooth representation of \widetilde{K}_M that extends κ_M . Thus if we had chosen $\epsilon \cdot \widetilde{\kappa}_M$ as the lift $\widetilde{\kappa}_M$ of κ_M in Axiom 4.1.2, then we would obtain $T_n = T_n^0 \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n)$ for every $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$.

The above allows us to describe the isomorphism of Theorem 4.4.8 more explicitly. Note that, as explained in Remark 4.4.10, if one chooses $\tilde{\kappa}_M$ appropriately, then $\epsilon = 1$.

Theorem 4.4.11. We assume the same set-up as in Theorem 4.4.8. Then there exists a unique quadratic character $\epsilon : N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \to \{\pm 1\}$ that factors through $N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit} \to W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ and is trivial on $\Omega(\rho_{M^0})$ such that the isomorphism \mathcal{I} is given as follows. If $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_{x_0}^0)$ is supported on $K_{x_0}^0 n K_{x_0}^0$ for some $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$, then $\mathcal{I}(\varphi)$ is supported on $K_{x_0} n K_{x_0}$ and satisfies

$$\mathcal{I}(\varphi)(n) = d_n \cdot \varphi(n) \otimes \left(\epsilon(n) \cdot \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n)\right) \quad \text{with} \quad d_n = \left(\frac{\left|K_{x_0}^0 / \left(K_{nx_0}^0 \cap K_{x_0}^0\right)\right|}{\left|K_{x_0} / \left(K_{nx_0} \cap K_{x_0}\right)\right|}\right)^{1/2} \in \mathcal{C}^{\times}.$$

Proof. If $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_{x_0}^0)$ is supported on $K_{x_0}^0 n K_{x_0}^0$ for some $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$, then φ is a scalar multiple of $\varphi_{x_0,w}^0 = \varphi_w^0$ where w denotes the image of n in $W(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$. By the definition of the \mathcal{C} -linear isomorphism \mathcal{I} , we have $\mathcal{I}(\varphi_w^0) = \varphi_w$. Hence the claim follows using Lemma 3.5.26 and Lemma 4.4.9.

4.5 Preserving the anti-involutions

In this subsection, we keep the notation from the previous subsection, and we also assume that \mathcal{C} admits a nontrivial involution $c \mapsto \bar{c}$, and that all of the assumptions of Theorem 4.4.8 hold. We fix a family \mathcal{T}^0 as in Choice 3.11.5 and let \mathcal{T} denote the family satisfying the conditions in Proposition 4.4.4. We say that a representation (π, V) of a group H is unitary if there exists an H-invariant, positive-definite Hermitian form \langle , \rangle_{π} on V.

Lemma 4.5.1. Suppose that the representation $\tilde{\kappa}_M$ of \tilde{K}_M is unitary. Then the family \mathcal{T} satisfies all the properties in Choice 3.11.5.

Proof. Let $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$. We will prove that $\varphi_t^* = \varphi_{t^{-1}}$. Since $\varphi_t^*, \varphi_{t^{-1}} \in \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})_{t^{-1}}$, it suffices to show that $\varphi_t^*(n^{-1}) = \varphi_{t^{-1}}(n^{-1})$ for a lift $n \in N(\rho_M^0)_{[x_0]_{M^0}}^{\heartsuit}$ of t. According to Equation (3.11.1), it suffices to show that $\langle \varphi_{t^{-1}}(n^{-1}) \cdot v, w \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}} = \langle v, \varphi_t(n) \cdot w \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}}$ for all $v, w \in V_{\rho_{x_0}}$. We may suppose that v and w are of the form $v = v_0 \otimes v_{\kappa}$ and $w = w_0 \otimes w_{\kappa}$ for $v_0, w_0 \in V_{\rho_{x_0}}^0$ and $v_{\kappa}, w_{\kappa} \in V_{\kappa_{x_0}}$. We fix a $K_{x_0}^0$ -invariant, positive-definite Hermitian form $\langle , \rangle_{\tilde{\kappa}_M}$ on $V_{\tilde{\kappa}_M} = V_{\kappa_M}$. Then the Hermitian form $\langle , \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}^0} \otimes \langle , \rangle_{\tilde{\kappa}_M}$ is a K_M -invariant form on $V_{\rho_M} = V_{\rho_{M^0}} \otimes V_{\kappa_M}$. Moreover, since (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) is a quasi-G-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) , the Hermitian form $\langle , \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}^0} = \langle , \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}^0} \otimes \langle , \rangle_{\tilde{\kappa}_M}$. According to Theorem 4.4.11, we have

$$\varphi_t(n) \cdot w = \left(\frac{\left|K_{x_0}^0 / \left(K_{tx_0}^0 \cap K_{x_0}^0\right)\right|}{\left|K_{x_0} / \left(K_{tx_0} \cap K_{x_0}\right)\right|}\right)^{1/2} \varphi_t^0(n) \cdot w_0 \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n) \cdot w_\kappa$$

and

$$\varphi_{t^{-1}}(n^{-1}) \cdot v = \left(\frac{\left|K_{x_0}^0 / \left(K_{t^{-1}x_0}^0 \cap K_{x_0}^0\right)\right|}{\left|K_{x_0} / \left(K_{t^{-1}x_0} \cap K_{x_0}\right)\right|}\right)^{1/2} \varphi_{t^{-1}}^0(n^{-1}) \cdot v_0 \otimes \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n^{-1}) \cdot v_{\kappa}$$

Hence, we have

$$\langle \varphi_{t^{-1}}(n^{-1}) \cdot v, w \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}} = \left(\frac{\left| K_{x_0}^0 / \left(K_{t^{-1}x_0}^0 \cap K_{x_0}^0 \right) \right|}{\left| K_{x_0} / \left(K_{t^{-1}x_0} \cap K_{x_0} \right) \right|} \right)^{1/2} \langle \varphi_{t^{-1}}^0(n^{-1}) \cdot v_0, w_0 \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}^0} \cdot \langle \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n^{-1}) \cdot v_\kappa, w_\kappa \rangle_{\widetilde{\kappa}_M}$$

$$(4.5.1a)$$

and

$$\langle v, \varphi_t(n) \cdot w \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}} = \left(\frac{|K_{x_0}^0 / (K_{tx_0}^0 \cap K_{x_0}^0)|}{|K_{x_0} / (K_{tx_0} \cap K_{x_0})|} \right)^{1/2} \langle v_0, \varphi_t^0(n) \cdot w_0 \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}^0} \cdot \langle v_\kappa, \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n) \cdot w_\kappa \rangle_{\widetilde{\kappa}_M}.$$
(4.5.1b)

Since $t \in \Omega(\rho_M)$, we have $d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(x_0, t^{-1}x_0) = \ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(t) = 0$. Hence, according to Corollary 3.5.16, we have $|K_{x_0}/(K_{t^{-1}x_0} \cap K_{x_0})| = |K_{t^{-1}x_0}/(K_{t^{-1}x_0} \cap K_{x_0})|$. Combining this with Axiom 3.4.1(3), we obtain that

$$\left|K_{x_{0}}/\left(K_{t^{-1}x_{0}}\cap K_{x_{0}}\right)\right| = \left|K_{t^{-1}x_{0}}/\left(K_{t^{-1}x_{0}}\cap K_{x_{0}}\right)\right| = \left|K_{x_{0}}/\left(K_{tx_{0}}\cap K_{x_{0}}\right)\right|.$$
(4.5.1c)

Similarly, we can prove that

$$\left|K_{x_{0}}^{0}/\left(K_{t^{-1}x_{0}}^{0}\cap K_{x_{0}}^{0}\right)\right| = \left|K_{x_{0}}^{0}/\left(K_{tx_{0}}^{0}\cap K_{x_{0}}^{0}\right)\right|.$$
(4.5.1d)

Since the family \mathcal{T}^0 satisfies all the properties in Choice 3.11.5, we have

$$\langle \varphi_{t^{-1}}^0(n^{-1}) \cdot v_0, w_0 \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}^0} = \langle (\varphi_t^0)^*(n^{-1}) \cdot v_0, w_0 \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}^0} = \langle v_0, \varphi_t^0(n) \cdot w_0 \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}^0}.$$
 (4.5.1e)

Moreover, since the Hermitian form $\langle \ , \ \rangle_{\widetilde{\kappa}_M}$ on $V_{\widetilde{\kappa}_M} = V_{\kappa_M}$ is \widetilde{K}_M -invariant, we have

$$\langle \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n^{-1}) \cdot v_{\kappa}, w_{\kappa} \rangle_{\widetilde{\kappa}_M} = \langle v_{\kappa}, \widetilde{\kappa}_M(n) \cdot w_{\kappa} \rangle_{\widetilde{\kappa}_M}.$$
(4.5.1f)

Combining (4.5.1c), (4.5.1d), (4.5.1e), and (4.5.1f) with (4.5.1a) and (4.5.1b), we obtain that $\langle \varphi_{t^{-1}}(n^{-1}) \cdot v, w \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}} = \langle v, \varphi_t(n) \cdot w \rangle_{\rho_{x_0}}$, as desired.

Corollary 4.5.2. We assume the same set-up as in Theorem 4.4.8. We also suppose that there exists a \tilde{K}_M -invariant, positive-definite Hermitian form $\langle , \rangle_{\tilde{\kappa}_M}$ on $V_{\tilde{\kappa}_M} = V_{\kappa_M}$. Then the isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I} \colon \mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho^0_{x_0}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$$

in Theorem 4.4.8 preserves the anti-involutions on both sides defined in Section 3.11.

Proof. The corollary follows from Proposition 3.11.7 and Lemma 4.5.1.

4.6 Application: Equivalence of Bernstein blocks

Throughout this subsection, we suppose that $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$. We only do so because the literature on types currently makes this assumption.

Let $\operatorname{Rep}(G(F))$ denote the category of smooth \mathbb{C} -representations of G(F). The Bernstein decomposition (see [Ber84]) expresses this category as a direct product of full subcategories:

$$\operatorname{Rep}(G(F)) = \prod_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{I}(G)} \operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{s}}(G(F)).$$

Here $\mathfrak{I}(G)$ is the set of *inertial equivalence classes*, i.e., equivalence classes $[L, \sigma]_G$ of cuspidal pairs (L, σ) in G, where L is a Levi subgroup of G, σ is an irreducible supercuspidal representation of L(F), and where the equivalence is given by conjugation by G(F) and twisting by unramified characters of L(F). If $\mathfrak{s} = [L, \sigma]_G$, then the block $\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{s}}(G(F))$ consists of those representations (π, V) for which each irreducible subquotient of π appears as a subquotient in a parabolic induction of $\sigma \otimes \chi$ for some unramified character χ of L(F).

Let K denote a compact, open subgroup of G(F), and (ρ, V_{ρ}) an irreducible smooth \mathbb{C} -representation of K. Let $\operatorname{Rep}_{\rho}(G(F))$ denote the full subcategory of $\operatorname{Rep}(G(F))$ whose objects are the \mathbb{C} representations (π, V) of G(F) generated by their ρ -isotypic subspaces. Following [BK98, (2.8) and Theorem 4.3(ii)], we have a functor

$$\mathbf{M}_{\rho} \colon \operatorname{Rep}_{\rho}(G(F)) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Mod} - \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho) \quad \text{given by} \quad \pi \longmapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho), \pi),$$

where $\operatorname{Mod}-\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho)$ denotes the category of unital right modules over $\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho)$. Here, the right action of $\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho)$ on $\operatorname{Hom}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho),\pi)$ is given by precomposition using the isomorphism $\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}_{G(F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho))$ in (2.2.3).

For $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{I}(G)$, the pair (K, ρ) is called an \mathfrak{s} -type if $\operatorname{Rep}_{\rho}(G(F)) = \operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{s}}(G(F))$. More generally, if \mathfrak{S} is a finite subset of $\mathfrak{I}(G)$, then the pair (K, ρ) is called an \mathfrak{S} -type if

$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\rho}(G(F)) = \operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{S}}(G(F)) \coloneqq \prod_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{S}} \operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{s}}(G(F)).$$

In either case, by [BK98, (4.3) Theorem (ii)], the functor \mathbf{M}_{ρ} gives an equivalence of categories

$$\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{S}}(G(F)) = \operatorname{Rep}_{\rho}(G(F)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Mod} - \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho).$$

$$(4.6.1)$$

We write

$$\mathcal{I}^* \colon \mathrm{Mod} - \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Mod} - \mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_{x_0}^0)$$
(4.6.2)

for the equivalence of categories associated to the isomorphism $\mathcal{I}: \mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_{x_0}^0) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ of Theorem 4.4.8.

Theorem 4.6.3. Let $\mathfrak{S} \subset \mathfrak{I}(G)$ and $\mathfrak{S}_0 \subset \mathfrak{I}(G^0)$ be finite subsets. We suppose that the pairs (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) and $(K_{x_0}^0, \rho_{x_0}^0)$ are an \mathfrak{S} -type and an \mathfrak{S}_0 -type, respectively. Then the functor $(\mathbf{M}_{\rho_{x_0}^0})^{-1} \circ \mathcal{I}^* \circ \mathbf{M}_{\rho_{x_0}}$ gives an equivalence of categories

$$\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{S}}(G(F)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{S}_0}(G^0(F)).$$

Proof. This follows from combining the equivalences in 4.6.1 and 4.6.2.

Theorem 4.6.4. We choose Haar measures ν and ν^0 on G(F) and $G^0(F)$, and let $\hat{\nu}$ and $\hat{\nu}^0$ denote the corresponding Plancherel measures on the Borel spaces $\operatorname{Irr}_t^{\mathfrak{S}}(G(F))$ and $\operatorname{Irr}_t^{\mathfrak{S}_0}(G^0(F))$ of irreducible, tempered representations in $\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{S}}(G)$ and $\operatorname{Rep}^{\mathfrak{S}_0}(G^0)$. We suppose that there exists a \widetilde{K}_M -invariant, positive-definite Hermitian form $\langle , \rangle_{\widetilde{\kappa}_M}$ on $V_{\widetilde{\kappa}_M} = V_{\kappa_M}$. Then the isomorphism $\mathcal{I}: \mathcal{H}(G^0(F), \rho_{x_0}^0) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ of Theorem 4.4.8 induces a homeomorphism

$$\mathcal{J}\colon \operatorname{Irr}_t^{\mathfrak{S}_0}(G^0(F)) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Irr}_t^{\mathfrak{S}}(G(F)), \text{ such that } \hat{\nu} \circ \mathcal{J} = \dim \kappa_{x_0} \frac{\nu^0(K_{x_0}^0)}{\nu(K_{x_0})} \hat{\nu}^0.$$

Proof. The support-preserving isomorphism of Hecke algebras from Theorem 4.4.8 preserves the anti-involutions by Corollary 4.5.2 and hence by [BHK11, 5.2 Proposition] is an isomorphism of Hilbert algebras as defined in [BHK11, §4.1]. From [BHK11, §5.1], one has a homeomorphism $\mathcal{J}: \operatorname{Irr}_t^{\mathfrak{S}_0}(G^0(F)) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Irr}_t^{\mathfrak{S}}(G(F))$, such that $\frac{\nu(K_{x_0})}{\dim \rho_{x_0}} \hat{\nu} \circ \mathcal{J} = \frac{\nu^0(K_{x_0}^0)}{\dim \rho_{x_0}^0} \hat{\nu}^0$. Our result then follows from the fact that $\dim \rho_{x_0}/\dim \rho_{x_0}^0 = \dim \kappa_{x_0}$.

5 Hecke algebras of depth-zero pairs

In this section, we will show that all of the axioms of Section 3 apply to the special case of a pair (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) where K_{x_0} is a normal, compact, open subgroup of $G(F)_{[x_0]}$ that contains the parahoric subgroup $G(F)_{x_0,0}$, and the restriction of ρ_{x_0} to $G(F)_{x_{0,0}}$ contains the inflation of a cuspidal representation of $\mathsf{G}_{x_0}(\mathfrak{f}) = G(F)_{x_{0,0}}/G(F)_{x_{0,0}+1}$. Thus, Theorem 3.10.10 applies to such pairs. This means that we obtain an explicit description of the corresponding Hecke algebras as a semi-direct product of an affine Hecke algebra with a twisted group algebra, see Theorem 5.3.6. The special case where $K_{x_0} = G(F)_{x_{0,0}}$ and $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$ has already been treated by Morris [Mor93, Theorem 7.12]. The resulting types describe certain finite products of Bernstein blocks. Our construction also includes the case $K_{x_0} = G(F)_{x_0}$, when the resulting types describe single Bernstein blocks.

5.1 Construction of depth-zero pairs

We recall the notion of a depth-zero G-datum following Kim and Yu ([KY17]), but adjusted to our more general coefficient field C, from which the pair (K_{x_0}, ρ_{x_0}) will be constructed.

Definition 5.1.1 (cf. [KY17, 7.1]). A depth-zero G-datum is a triple $((G, M), (x_0, \iota), (K_M, \rho_M))$ such that

- (1) M is a Levi subgroup of G.
- (2) $x_0 \in \mathcal{B}(M, F)$ is a point whose image under the projection to $\mathcal{B}^{red}(M, F)$ is a vertex, and $\iota: \mathcal{B}(M, F) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{B}(G, F)$ is a 0-generic admissible embedding relative to x_0 in the sense of [KY17, Definition 3.2], i.e., $M(F)_{x_0,0}/M(F)_{x_0,0+} \simeq G(F)_{\iota(x_0),0}/G(F)_{\iota(x_0),0+}$. We use this embedding to identify $\mathcal{B}(M, F)$ with its image in $\mathcal{B}(G, F)$.
- (3) K_M is a compact, open subgroup of $M(F)_{x_0}$ containing $M(F)_{x_{0,0}}$, and ρ_M is an irreducible smooth \mathcal{C} -representation of K_M such that $\rho_M|_{M(F)_{x_{0,0}}}$ is the inflation of a cuspidal representation of $\mathsf{M}_{x_0}(\mathfrak{f}) = M(F)_{x_{0,0}}/M(F)_{x_{0,0}+}$.

If $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$, a depth-zero *G*-datum is used to construct types for all depth-zero Bernstein blocks based on works of Moy and Prasad ([MP96]) and Bushnell and Kutzko ([BK98]), which is a special case of the construction below.

From now on, we let $\Sigma = ((G, M), (x_0, \iota), (K_M, \rho_M))$ be a depth-zero *G*-datum. We note that for each $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \coloneqq x_0 + (X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R})$ such that $\iota : \mathcal{B}(M, F) \to \mathcal{B}(G, F)$ is 0-generic relative to x, the triple $\Sigma_x = ((G, M), (x, \iota), (K_M, \rho_M))$ is also a *G*-datum. For $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$, we set

$$K_x = K_M \cdot G(F)_{x,0}$$
 and $K_{x,+} = G(F)_{x,0+},$ (5.1.2)

which are compact, open subgroups of G(F). We note that if $\iota : \mathcal{B}(M, F) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{B}(G, F)$ is 0-generic relative to x, then we have $K_x = K_M \cdot K_{x,+}$ since K_M contains $M_{x_0,0} = M_{x,0}$. In this case, by [KY17, 4.3 Proposition (b)], the inclusion $K_M \subseteq K_x$ induces an isomorphism

$$K_M/M(F)_{x,0+} \xrightarrow{\sim} K_x/K_{x,+},$$

and we define the irreducible smooth representation ρ_x of $K_x/K_{x,+}$ as the composition of ρ_M with the inverse of the isomorphism above. We also regard ρ_x as an irreducible smooth representation of K_x that is trivial on $K_{x,+}$. If $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$, the pair (K_x, ρ_x) is a type. If $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ normalizes the group K_M , e.g., if $K_M = M(F)_{x_0}$ or $M(F)_{x_0,0}$, then we will show in Section 5.3 that the objects G, M, x_0, K_M, ρ_M and the families $\{(K_x, K_{x,+}, \rho_x)\}$ (for appropriate $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$) satisfy all the desired axioms of Section 3 for the choice of $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$.

5.2 Affine hyperplanes

In order to apply Section 3 to the objects introduced in Section 5.1, we also need an appropriate set of affine hyperplanes as in Section 3.2. We define these hyperplanes as follows. For a maximal split torus S of G, let $\Phi(G, S)$ denote the relative root system of G with respect to S and let $\Phi_{\text{aff}}(G, S)$ denote the (relative) affine root system associated to (G, S) by the work of Bruhat and Tits [BT72]. We fix a maximal split torus S of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. For $a \in \Phi_{\text{aff}}(G, S) \setminus \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M, S)$, we define the affine hyperplane H_a in $\mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$ by

$$H_a = \{x \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F) \mid a(x) = 0\}.$$

Since $a \notin \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M, S)$, the intersection $\mathcal{A}_{x_0} \cap H_a$ is an affine hyperplane in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} . We define the locally finite set \mathfrak{H}_S of affine hyperplanes in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} by

$$\mathfrak{H}_S = \{ \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \cap H_a \mid a \in \Phi_{\mathrm{aff}}(G, S) \smallsetminus \Phi_{\mathrm{aff}}(M, S) \}.$$

Lemma 5.2.1. The set of affine functionals $\{a|_{\mathcal{A}_{x_0}} \mid a \in \Phi_{\mathrm{aff}}(G, S) \setminus \Phi_{\mathrm{aff}}(M, S)\}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} and the set \mathfrak{H}_S do not depend on the choice of a maximal split torus S of M.

Proof. Let S' be another maximal split torus of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S', F)$. Then there exists an element $m \in M(F)_{x_0,0}$ such that $mSm^{-1} = S'$, and we obtain a bijection between $\Phi_{\text{aff}}(G, S) \setminus \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M, S)$ and $\Phi_{\text{aff}}(G, S') \setminus \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M, S')$ by sending $a \in \Phi_{\text{aff}}(G, S) \setminus \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M, S)$ to the affine root $ma \in \Phi_{\text{aff}}(G, S') \setminus \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M, S')$ defined by $(ma)(x) = a(m^{-1}x)$ for $x \in \mathcal{A}(G, S', F) = m\mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. Since the group $M(F)_{x_0,0}$ acts trivially on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , for every $a \in \Phi_{\text{aff}}(G, S) \setminus \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M, S)$, we have (ma)(x) = a(x) for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$, i.e., $(ma)|_{\mathcal{A}_{x_0}} = a|_{\mathcal{A}_{x_0}}$ and

$$\mathcal{A}_{x_0} \cap H_a = \{ x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \mid a(x) = 0 \} = \{ x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \mid (ma)(x) = 0 \} = \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \cap H_{ma}$$

Thus, we obtain that $\mathfrak{H}_S = \mathfrak{H}_{S'}$.

Based on the lemma, we can set $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{H}_S$, where S is any maximal split torus of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. Then $\iota : \mathcal{B}(M^0, F) \to \mathcal{B}(G^0, F)$ is 0-generic relative to $x \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$ if and only if x is not contained in any affine hyperplane $H \in \mathfrak{H}$, that is, $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}} = \mathcal{A}_{x_0} \setminus (\bigcup_{H \in \mathfrak{H}} H)$. In particular, we have $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$.

Lemma 5.2.2. The action of $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} preserves the set \mathfrak{H} .

Proof. Let $n \in N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$. We fix a maximal split torus S of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. Then the torus nSn^{-1} is also a maximal split torus of M, and we have

$$x_0 \in nx_0 + (X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}) \subseteq n\mathcal{A}(G, S, F) = \mathcal{A}(G, nSn^{-1}, F).$$

Since the set \mathfrak{H}_S does not depend on the choice of such a maximal split torus of M, we obtain that $n(\mathfrak{H}_S) = \mathfrak{H}_{nSn^{-1}} = \mathfrak{H}_S$. Thus, we conclude that $n(\mathfrak{H}) = \mathfrak{H}$.

5.3 The structure of Hecke algebras attached to depth-zero pairs

From now on, we suppose that the group K_M is normalized by $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$. For instance, if we choose $K_M = M(F)_{x_0}$ or $M(F)_{x_{0,0}}$, then this assumption is satisfied. We impose this assumption to show that the support of the Hecke algebra attached to (K_x, ρ_x) is given by $K_x \cdot N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cdot K_x$, see Proposition 5.3.2 below. If $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{C}$, then the case of $K_M = M(F)_{x_0}$ corresponds to types for single Bernstein blocks, while the case $K_M = M(F)_{x_0,0}$ is the one that Morris ([Mor93]) studied.

In this subsection, we will prove Theorem 5.3.6, i.e., that the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G(F), \rho_{x_0})$ is isomorphic to a semi-direct product of an affine Hecke algebra with a twisted group algebra, by verifying all the required axioms from Section 3 that allow us to apply Theorem 3.10.10. We recall that we have constructed in Section 5.1 the family

$$\mathcal{K} = \{ (K_x, K_{x,+}, (\rho_x, V_{\rho_x})) \}_{x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}}$$

of quasi-G-cover-candidates as defined at the beginning of Section 3.4. We will now prove that the family also satisfies Axioms 3.4.1 and 3.4.3 for the group $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \coloneqq N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$.

Lemma 5.3.1.

- (1) For every $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, we have
 - (a) $K_{nx} = nK_x n^{-1}$ and $K_{nx,+} = nK_{x,+} n^{-1}$ for $n \in N(\rho_{M^0})_{[x_0]_{M^0}}$,
 - (b) the pair (K_x, ρ_x) is a quasi-G-cover of (K_M, ρ_M) ,
 - (c) $K_x = K_M \cdot K_{x,+},$
 - (d) $K_{x,+} = (K_{x,+} \cap U(F)) \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap M(F)) \cdot (K_{x,+} \cap \overline{U}(F))$ for all $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$.

Moreover, the group $K_{x,+} \cap M(F)$ is independent of the point $x \in \mathcal{A}_{gen}$.

(2) For $x, y, z \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that d(x, y) + d(y, z) = d(x, z), there exists $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F) \subseteq K_z \cap U(F) \quad and \quad K_z \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F).$$

Thus, the family \mathcal{K} satisfies Axiom 3.4.1 for the group $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$.

Proof. The first claim follows from the definitions and [KY17, 4.3 Proposition, Theorem 7.5]. We will prove the second claim. Let $x, y, z \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that d(x, y) + d(y, z) = d(x, z). Recall that z - x is an element of $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. We take $U \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that $\alpha(z - x) \geq 0$ for any non-zero weight $\alpha \in X^*(A_M)$ occurring in the adjoint representation of A_M on the Lie algebra of U. Then the definition of the groups K_x and K_z implies that

$$\begin{cases} K_x \cap U(F) &\subseteq K_z \cap U(F), \\ K_z \cap \overline{U}(F) &\subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F). \end{cases}$$
(5.3.1a)

We will prove that

$$K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F) \subseteq K_z \cap U(F).$$

Suppose that $K_x \cap U(F) \not\subseteq K_y \cap U(F)$. Then the definitions of K_x and K_y imply that there exists $a \in \Phi_{\text{aff}}(G, S)$ such that the gradient $Da \in \Phi(G, S)$ occurs in the adjoint representation of S on the Lie algebra of U, and

$$a(x) > 0$$
 and $a(y) < 0$.

In particular we have $\mathcal{A}_{x_0} \cap H_a \in \mathfrak{H}_{x,y}$. Since d(x, y) + d(y, z) = d(x, z), Lemma 3.2.1 implies that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y}, \mathfrak{H}_{y,z} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$. Hence, we also obtain that $\mathcal{A}_{x_0} \cap H_a \in \mathfrak{H}_{x,z}$. Since a(x) > 0, we have a(z) < 0. Then the definitions of K_x and K_z imply that $K_x \cap U_{Da}(F) \not\subseteq K_z \cap U_{Da}(F)$, where U_{Da} denotes the root subgroup corresponding to Da. However, this contradicts (5.3.1a). Hence, we obtain that $K_x \cap U(F) \subseteq K_y \cap U(F)$. Similarly, we can prove that $K_y \cap U(F) \subseteq K_z \cap U(F)$. Replacing x with z and U with \overline{U} , we also obtain that

$$K_z \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_y \cap \overline{U}(F) \subseteq K_x \cap \overline{U}(F).$$

This proves the second claim. The first two properties of Axiom 3.4.1 follow from Lemma 5.2.2, the remaining properties from the first two claims proven above. \Box

Next, we will prove that the family \mathcal{K} satisfies Axiom 3.4.3. The following proposition is essentially a translation of [Mor93, 4.15 Theorem] into our slightly more general setting.

Proposition 5.3.2. We have

$$K_x \cdot N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cdot K_x = I_{G(F)}(\rho_x)$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, that is, the family \mathcal{K} satisfies Axiom 3.4.3 for $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$.

To prove Proposition 5.3.2, we prepare the following lemma. For a maximal split torus S of G and $x \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$, we write

$$\Phi_{\mathrm{aff},x}(G,S) = \{ a \in \Phi_{\mathrm{aff}}(G,S) \mid a(x) = 0 \}.$$

Lemma 5.3.3. Let $x, y \in A_{x_0}$. As above, we denote by S a maximal split torus of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. Suppose that $x \in A_{gen}$. Then we have

$$\Phi_{\operatorname{aff},x}(G,S) \subseteq \Phi_{\operatorname{aff},y}(G,S).$$

Proof. Let $b \in \Phi_{\operatorname{aff},x}(G,S)$. Since $x \notin H_a$ for all $a \in \Phi_{\operatorname{aff}}(G,S) \setminus \Phi_{\operatorname{aff}}(M,S)$, we have $b \in \Phi_{\operatorname{aff}}(M,S)$. Thus, using that $y - x \in X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, we obtain b(y) = b(x + (y - x)) = b(x) + Db(y - x) = b(x) = 0. Hence $\Phi_{\operatorname{aff},x}(G,S) \subseteq \Phi_{\operatorname{aff},y}(G,S)$.

Proof of Proposition 5.3.2. Let $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$. It suffices to prove that $K_x \cdot N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cdot K_x \supseteq I_{G(F)}(\rho_x)$ because the reverse inclusion follows from Corollary 3.3.6. Hence let $g \in I_{G(F)}(\rho_x)$. We fix a maximal split torus S of M such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{A}(G, S, F)$. According to [KP23, Theorem 7.8.1], we have $G(F) = K_x \cdot N_G(S)(F) \cdot K_x$. Hence, we may suppose that $g \in I_{G(F)}(\rho_x) \cap N_G(S)(F)$. Since $\operatorname{Hom}_{K_x \cap {}^gK_x}({}^g\rho_x, \rho_x) \neq \{0\}$, and the representation ${}^g\rho_x$ is trivial on the group ${}^gG(F)_{x,0+}$, we obtain that ρ_x has a non-zero $(K_x \cap {}^gG(F)_{x,0+})$ -fixed vector. In particular, we obtain that the representation ρ_x has a non-zero $(G(F)_{x,0} \cap {}^gG(F)_{x,0+})$ -fixed vector. We have that

$$(G(F)_{x,0} \cap {}^{g}G(F)_{x,0+}) G(F)_{x,0+} / G(F)_{x,0+} = (G(F)_{x,0} \cap G(F)_{gx,0+}) G(F)_{x,0+} / G(F)_{x,0$$

is the group of \mathfrak{f} -points of the unipotent radical of a parabolic subgroup of G_x , and the restriction of ρ_x to $\mathsf{G}_x(\mathfrak{f}) = \mathsf{M}_x(\mathfrak{f})$ is a cuspidal representation, so we obtain that

$$(G(F)_{x,0} \cap G(F)_{gx,0+}) G(F)_{x,0+} / G(F)_{x,0+} = \{1\}.$$

In particular, we have

$$(M(F)_{x,0} \cap M(F)_{gx,0+}) M(F)_{x,0+} / M(F)_{x,0+} = \{1\}.$$

Since the point $[x]_M$ is a vertex in $\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{red}}(M, S, F)$, this equation implies that $[gx]_M = [x]_M$, that is,

$$gx \in x + (X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}) = \mathcal{A}_{x_0}.$$

Since $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$, Lemma 5.3.3 implies that $\Phi_{\text{aff},x}(G,S) \subset \Phi_{\text{aff},gx}(G,S)$. Since $|\Phi_{\text{aff},x}(G,S)| = |g\Phi_{\text{aff},x}(G,S)| = |\Phi_{\text{aff},gx}(G,S)|$, we obtain that $\Phi_{\text{aff},x}(G,S) = \Phi_{\text{aff},gx}(G,S)$. In particular, we have $gx \notin H_a$ for all $a \in \Phi_{\text{aff}}(G,S) \setminus \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M,S)$. Since $x, gx \notin H_a$ for all $a \in \Phi_{\text{aff}}(G,S) \setminus \Phi_{\text{aff}}(M,S)$, and the projection $[gx]_M = [x]_M$ is a vertex, we have

$$A_M = \left(\bigcap_{a \in \Phi_{\mathrm{aff},x}(G,S)} \ker(Da)\right)^\circ = \left(\bigcap_{a \in \Phi_{\mathrm{aff},gx}(G,S)} \ker(Da)\right)^\circ = {}^g\!A_M.$$

Thus, we obtain that $g \in N_G(M)(F)$. Moreover, since $gx \in \mathcal{A}_{x_0}$, Corollary 3.1.3 implies that $g \in N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$. As $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}$ normalizes K_M , this also implies that g normalizes the group K_M . Combining this with the assumption $g \in I_{G(F)}(\rho_x)$ and Lemma 3.3.5, we obtain that $g \in N_{G(F)}(\rho_M)$. Hence $g \in N_{G(F)}(\rho_M) \cap N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M} = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$.

We recall from Definition 3.4.15 that

$$W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} / \left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} \cap K_M \right) = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} / K_M$$

and from Section 3.7 that $W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} = \langle s_H \mid H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}} \rangle$ with set of simple reflections $S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, see Notation 3.8.1. To prove Axioms 3.7.1 and 3.8.2 we first introduce some notation.

Notation 5.3.4. Let $x, y \in A_{\text{gen}}$ with d(x, y) = 1. We denote by $H_{x,y} \in \mathfrak{H}$ the unique hyperplane that satisfies $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H_{x,y}\}$ and define the compact, open subgroup $K_{x,y}$ of G(F) by $K_{x,y} = K_h = K_M \cdot G(F)_{h,0}$, where $h \in H_{x,y}$ is the unique point for which $h = x + t \cdot (y - x)$ for some 0 < t < 1.

Since d(x, y) = 1, the definition of \mathfrak{H} implies that we have $G(F)_{x,0}, G(F)_{y,0} \subseteq G(F)_{h,0}$. Thus, we have $K_x, K_y \subseteq K_{x,y}$.

Proposition 5.3.5.

(1) There exists a normal subgroup $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ such that the action of $W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$ on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} restricts to an isomorphism

$$W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}} \xrightarrow{\sim} W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}},$$

that is, Axiom 3.7.1 is satisfied. Moreover, the elements of $W(\rho_M)_{\text{aff}}$ can be represented by elements in $G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$, where $G_{\text{cpt},0}$ denotes the kernel of the Kottwitz homomorphism on G(F).

(2) For every $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$, we have

$$(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cap K_{x,sx})/K_M = \{1, s\},\$$

where $K_{x,sx}$ denotes the group in Notation 5.3.4. Thus, the family \mathcal{K} satisfies Axiom 3.8.2 with $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit} = N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$ and the group $K'_{x,s} = K_{x,sx}$ for each $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$.

Proof. First, we will prove (1). Note that we have $G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap M(F)_{x_0} = G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap M(F)_{x_0,0}$. Hence, according to Lemma 3.7.2, to prove (1), it suffices to show that for all $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, there exists an element

$$s'_H \in \left(G_{\operatorname{cpt},0} \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}\right) / \left(G_{\operatorname{cpt},0} \cap K_M\right)$$

such that the action of s'_H on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} agrees with the orthogonal reflection s_H . Let $H \in \mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$, and $x, y \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$ and

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \notin \mathcal{C} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{ind}_{K_{\infty}}^{G(F)}(\rho_{x})}.$$
(5.3.5a)

Since $K_x, K_y \subset K_{x,y}$, the definitions of $\Theta_{x|y}$ and $\Theta_{y|x}$ imply that

$$\Theta_{x|y} \circ \Theta_{y|x} \in \operatorname{End}_{G(F)} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{G(F)}(\rho_x) \right)_{K_{x,y}} \simeq \operatorname{End}_{K_{x,y}} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,y}}(\rho_x) \right),$$

where the isomorphism follows from Lemma 2.2.8. Hence, (5.3.5a) implies that the dimension of the C-vector space

$$\operatorname{End}_{K_{x,y}}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K_x}^{K_{x,y}}(\rho_x)\right) \simeq \mathcal{H}(K_{x,y},\rho_x)$$

is greater than one. According to Proposition 3.4.18, a basis of the space $\mathcal{H}(K_{x,y},\rho_x)$ is indexed by the group

$$\left(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cap K_{x,y}\right)/K_M \subset W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}$$

In particular, we can take a non-trivial element $s'_H \in (N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cap K_{x,y})/K_M$. Recall that $K_{x,y} = K_M \cdot G(F)_{h,0}$, where $h \in H$ is the unique point such that $h = x + t \cdot (y - x)$ for some 0 < t < 1. Hence, we have

$$s'_{H} \in \left(N(\rho_{M})_{[x_{0}]_{M}} \cap K_{x,y} \right) / K_{M} \simeq \left(G_{h,0} \cap N(\rho_{M})_{[x_{0}]_{M}} \right) / \left(G_{h,0} \cap K_{M} \right) \\ \subset \left(G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap N(\rho_{M})_{[x_{0}]_{M}} \right) / \left(G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap K_{M} \right),$$

where the isomorphism is given by the inclusion of $G_{h,0}$ into $K_{x,y}$. We will prove that the action of the element s'_H on the space \mathcal{A}_{x_0} agrees with the orthogonal reflection with respect to the affine hyperplane H. It suffices to show the following three properties.

- (i) The gradient of the action of s'_H on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} preserves the inner product $(,)_M$ on $X_*(A_M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$.
- (ii) The action of s'_H on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} is nontrivial.
- (iii) For any $z \in H$, we have $s'_H(z) = z$.

The first property follows from the fact that $(,)_M$ is preserved by $N_G(M)(F)$. The second property follows from the facts that $s'_H \neq 1$ and that the group $(G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M})/(G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap K_M)$ acts faithfully on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} by Remark 3.4.16 combined with $G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap M(F)_{x_0} = G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap K_M$.

We will prove the third property. It suffices to show that there exists a non-empty open subset U of H such that $s'_H(z) = z$ for all $z \in U$. Since $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y} = \{H\}$, the definitions of \mathfrak{H} and the parahoric subgroups imply that there exists an open ball U in H with center h such that $G_{h,0} = G_{z,0}$ for all $z \in U$. Hence, we have $s'_H \in (G_{z,0} \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}) / (G_{z,0} \cap K_M)$ for all $z \in U$. In particular, $s'_H(z) = z$ for all $z \in U$.

Next, we will prove (2). Let $s \in S_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}$ such that $\mathfrak{H}_{x,sx} = \{H_s\}$. By Part (1) the element s can be represented by an element in $G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}$, which we also denote by s. Since s fixes H_s pointwise, we have $s \in G_{\text{cpt},0} \cap N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cap G_{h'}$ for any $h' \in H_s$. Hence $s \in K_{x,sx}$. Thus $(N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cap K_{x,sx})/K_M \supset \{1,s\}$. If $s'_H \in (N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M} \cap K_{x,sx})/K_M$ is nontrivial, then the same arguments as in the proof of Part (1) show that that $s'_H = s$.

Now we have shown that all the axioms of Section 3 are satisfied in the setting of the present section. Thus, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.3.6. We have an isomorphism of C-algebras

$$\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho_{x_0}) \simeq \mathcal{C}[\Omega(\rho_M),\mu^{\prime}] \ltimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}},q),$$

where $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}$ denotes the restriction to $\Omega(\rho_M) \times \Omega(\rho_M)$ of the 2-cocycle introduced in Notation 3.6.1 for a choice of a family \mathcal{T} satisfying the properties of Choice 3.10.3 and q denotes the parameter function $s \mapsto q_s$ appearing in Choice 3.10.3(3). If \mathcal{C} admits a nontrivial involution, then we can choose \mathcal{T} as in Choice 3.11.5, and the above isomorphisms can be chosen to preserve the antiinvolutions on each algebra defined in Section 3.11.

Proof. The statement follows from Theorem 3.10.10 and Proposition 3.11.7, whose assumptions are satisfied by Lemma 5.3.1, Proposition 5.3.2, and Proposition 5.3.5. \Box

In the case where K_{x_0} is a parahoric subgroup of G(F), this result was proven by Morris ([Mor93, 7.12 Theorem]).

List of axioms

Axiom 3.4.1, p. 20 Axiom 3.4.3, p. 21 Axiom 3.7.1, p. 39 Axiom 3.8.2, p. 43 Axiom 4.1.2, p. 62 Axiom 4.2.1, p. 63 Axiom 4.3.1, p. 64

Selected notation

 $(,)_M, 16$ $()^*$ (*C*-conjugate-linear anti-involution), 58, 591/2 in a superscript, 11 $\mathcal{A}_{\text{gen}}, 18$ $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{K}\text{-}\mathrm{rel}}, 40$ $A_{x_0}, 16$ \mathcal{C} (coefficient field), 11 $C_{>1}, 49$ $c_{x,n}, 34$ $c_{x,w}, 36$ d(,), 18 $d_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}(,), 32$ $\operatorname{End}_{G(F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{G(F)}(\rho)\right)_{K'}, 15$ $G_x, 11$ $G^0, 61$ $\mathcal{H}(G(F), (K, \rho)), 12$ $\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho), 13$ $\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho)_q, 13$ $\mathcal{H}(G(F),\rho_x)_w, 26$ $\mathcal{H}(K',\rho), 14$ $\mathcal{H}(W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}},q), 57$ $\mathfrak{H}, 18, 62, 77$ $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}, 30$ $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel};x,y}, 32$ $\mathfrak{H}_{x,y}, 18$ $H_a, 77$ $H_s, 42$ id, 12 $\operatorname{ind}_{K}^{K'}(V_{\rho})$ $(K' \subset G(F) \text{ a subset}), 14$ $I_x^{x,y}, 65$ $\kappa_M, 62$ $\widetilde{\kappa}_M, 62$ $\kappa_x, 64$ $\kappa_{x,y}, 64$ $\mathcal{K}, 20$

 $K_M, 62$ $K_{M^0}, 62$ $K_M, 62$ K_x , 20, 63, 76 $K_{x,+}, 20, 63, 76$ $K_{x,s}, 43$ $K_{x,y}, 64, 80$ $K_{x,y;0+}, 64$ $K_x^0, \, 63$ $K_{x,+}^{0}, 63$ $K_{x,y}^{0}, 64$ ℓ (characteristic of C), 11 $\ell_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}$ (length function), 38 $M, \, 61$ $M^0, \, 61$ $\mu^{\mathcal{T}}(\quad,\quad),\ 38$ $N_G(M)(F)_{[x_0]_M}, 16$ $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}, 19$ $N(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}, 20$ $\Omega(\rho_M), 42$ $\Phi(G, S), 77$ $\Phi_w^{\hat{0}}, 69 \\ \varphi_w^0, 69$ $\Phi_{\rm aff}(G,S),\,77$ $\Phi_{\operatorname{aff},x}(G,S), 79$ $\Phi_w, 36$ $\varphi_w, 36$ $\Phi_{x,w}, 36$ $\varphi_{x,w}, 36$ $q_s, \, 50$ $\rho_x^0, 63$ $\rho_M, 62$ $\rho_{M^0},\,62$ $\rho_x, 20, 63, 76$ $s_H, 39$ $S_{\mathcal{K}-\mathrm{rel}}, 42$ Σ , 76

$\Sigma_x, 76$
$\mathcal{T}, 34$ $T_n, 34$ $\theta_x, 20$ $\Theta_{y x}, 26$ $\Theta_{y x}^{\text{norm}}, 30$
$\mathcal{U}(M), 12$
$V_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}, 40$ $V^{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}, 40$
$ \begin{array}{l} W_{\mathcal{K}\text{-rel}}, 39 \\ W(\rho_M)_{\mathrm{aff}}, 39 \\ W(\rho_{M^0})_{\mathrm{aff}}, 68 \\ W(\rho_M)_{[x_0]_M}^{\heartsuit}, 25 \end{array} $

References

- [BB05] A. Björner and F. Brenti. Combinatorics of Coxeter groups, volume 231 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, 2005.
- [Ber84] J. N. Bernstein. Le "centre" de Bernstein. In Representations of reductive groups over a local field, Travaux en Cours, pages 1–32. Hermann, Paris, 1984. Edited by P. Deligne.
- [BHK11] C. J. Bushnell, G. Henniart, and P. C. Kutzko. Types and explicit Plancherel formulæ for reductive p-adic groups. In On certain L-functions, volume 13 of Clay Math. Proc., pages 55–80. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2011.
- [BK93a] C. J. Bushnell and P. C. Kutzko. The admissible dual of GL(N) via compact open subgroups, volume 129 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993. doi:10.1515/9781400882496.
- [BK93b] C. J. Bushnell and P. C. Kutzko. The admissible dual of SL(N). I. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 26(2):261-280, 1993. URL http://www.numdam.org/item?id=ASENS_ 1993_4_26_2_261_0.
- [BK94] C. J. Bushnell and P. C. Kutzko. The admissible dual of SL(N). II. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 68(2):317–379, 1994. doi:10.1112/plms/s3-68.2.317.
- [BK98] C. J. Bushnell and P. C. Kutzko. Smooth representations of reductive p-adic groups: structure theory via types. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 77(3):582–634, 1998. doi:10.1112/S0024611598000574.
- [Bor91] A. Borel. *Linear algebraic groups*, volume 126 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1991. doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-0941-6.
- [Bou68] N. Bourbaki. Eléments de mathématique. Fasc. XXXIV. Groupes et algèbres de Lie. Chapitre IV: Groupes de Coxeter et systèmes de Tits. Chapitre V: Groupes engendrés par des réflexions. Chapitre VI: systèmes de racines. Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles [Current Scientific and Industrial Topics], No. 1337. Hermann, Paris, 1968.
- [BT72] F. Bruhat and J. Tits. Groupes réductifs sur un corps local. Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci. Publ. Math., (41):5-251, 1972. URL http://www.numdam.org/item?id=PMIHES_1972_ _41_5_0.
- [Ciu18] D. Ciubotaru. Types and unitary representations of reductive p-adic groups. Invent. Math., 213(1):237–269, 2018. doi:10.1007/s00222-018-0790-4.
- [Fin21a] J. Fintzen. On the construction of tame supercuspidal representations. *Compos. Math.*, 157(12):2733–2746, 2021. doi:10.1112/S0010437X21007636.
- [Fin21b] J. Fintzen. Types for tame p-adic groups. Ann. of Math. (2), 193(1):303–346, 2021. doi:10.4007/annals.2021.193.1.4.
- [FKS23] J. Fintzen, T. Kaletha, and L. Spice. A twisted Yu construction, Harish-Chandra characters, and endoscopy. Duke Math. J., 172(12):2241–2301, 2023. doi:10.1215/00127094-2022-0080.

- [FOAM] J. D. Adler, J. Fintzen, M. Mishra, and K. Ohara. Reduction to depth zero for tame *p*-adic groups via Hecke algebra isomorphisms.
- [Gol90] D. J. Goldstein. Hecke algebra isomorphisms for tamely ramified characters. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1990. URL http://gateway.proquest.com/openurl?url_ver= Z39.88-2004&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:dissertation&res_dat=xri: pqdiss&rft_dat=xri:pqdiss:T-31331. Thesis (Ph.D.)-The University of Chicago.
- [GR02] D. Goldberg and A. Roche. Types in SL_n . Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 85(1):119–138, 2002. doi:10.1112/S002461150201359X.
- [GR05] D. Goldberg and A. Roche. Hecke algebras and SL_n -types. *Proc. London Math. Soc. (3)*, 90(1):87–131, 2005. doi:10.1112/S0024611504014881.
- [Hei11] V. Heiermann. Opérateurs d'entrelacement et algèbres de Hecke avec paramètres d'un groupe réductif p-adique: le cas des groupes classiques. Selecta Math. (N.S.), 17(3):713– 756, 2011. doi:10.1007/s00029-011-0056-0.
- [HL80] R. B. Howlett and G. I. Lehrer. Induced cuspidal representations and generalised Hecke rings. Invent. Math., 58(1):37–64, 1980. doi:10.1007/BF01402273.
- [IM65] N. Iwahori and H. Matsumoto. On some Bruhat decomposition and the structure of the Hecke rings of p-adic Chevalley groups. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (25):5–48, 1965. URL http://www.numdam.org/item?id=PMIHES_1965__25__5_0.
- [KP23] T. Kaletha and G. Prasad. Bruhat-Tits theory—a new approach, volume 44 of New Mathematical Monographs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2023.
- [KY17] J.-L. Kim and J.-K. Yu. Construction of tame types. In Representation theory, number theory, and invariant theory, volume 323 of Progr. Math., pages 337–357. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2017.
- [Lan02] S. Lang. Algebra, volume 211 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, third edition, 2002. doi:10.1007/978-1-4613-0041-0.
- [Lus95] G. Lusztig. Classification of unipotent representations of simple p-adic groups. Internat. Math. Res. Notices, (11):517–589, 1995. doi:10.1155/S1073792895000353.
- [Lus02] G. Lusztig. Classification of unipotent representations of simple p-adic groups. II. Represent. Theory, 6:243–289, 2002. doi:10.1090/S1088-4165-02-00173-5.
- [Mor93] L. Morris. Tamely ramified intertwining algebras. Invent. Math., 114(1):1–54, 1993. doi:10.1007/BF01232662.
- [Mor99] L. Morris. Level zero **G**-types. Compositio Math., 118(2):135–157, 1999. doi:10.1023/A:1001019027614.
- [MP94] A. Moy and G. Prasad. Unrefined minimal K-types for p-adic groups. Invent. Math., 116(1-3):393–408, 1994. doi:10.1007/BF01231566.

- [MP96] A. Moy and G. Prasad. Jacquet functors and unrefined minimal K-types. Comment. Math. Helv., 71(1):98–121, 1996. doi:10.1007/BF02566411.
- [MS14] M. Miyauchi and S. Stevens. Semisimple types for p-adic classical groups. Math. Ann., 358(1-2):257-288, 2014. doi:10.1007/s00208-013-0953-y.
- [Oha24a] K. Ohara. A comparison of endomorphism algebras. Journal of Algebra, 659:183–343, 2024. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2024.07.002.
- [Oha24b] K. Ohara. Hecke algebras for tame supercuspidal types. *Amer. J. Math.*, 146(1):277–293, 2024, 2101.01873.
- [Roc98] A. Roche. Types and Hecke algebras for principal series representations of split reductive p-adic groups. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 31(3):361–413, 1998. doi:10.1016/S0012-9593(98)80139-0.
- [Sol22] M. Solleveld. Endomorphism algebras and Hecke algebras for reductive *p*-adic groups. J. Algebra, 606:371–470, 2022. doi:10.1016/j.jalgebra.2022.05.017.
- [Sol23] M. Solleveld. A local Langlands correspondence for unipotent representations. Am. J. Math., 145(3):673–719, 2023. doi:10.1353/ajm.2023.a897494.
- [SS08] V. Sécherre and S. Stevens. Représentations lisses de $GL_m(D)$. IV. Représentations supercuspidales. J. Inst. Math. Jussieu, 7(3):527–574, 2008. doi:10.1017/S1474748008000078.
- [Vig96] M.-F. Vignéras. Représentations l-modulaires d'un groupe réductif p-adique avec $l \neq p$, volume 137 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1996.
- [Yu01] J.-K. Yu. Construction of tame supercuspidal representations. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 14(3):579-622, 2001. doi:10.1090/S0894-0347-01-00363-0.

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, American University, 4400 Massachusetts Ave NW, Washington, DC 20016-8050, USA

$E\text{-}mail \ address: jadler@american.edu$

UNIVERSITÄT BONN, MATHEMATISCHES INSTITUT, ENDENICHER ALLEE 60, 53115 BONN, GERMANY *E-mail address*: fintzen@math.uni-bonn.de

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, IISER PUNE, DR. HOMI BHABHA ROAD, PUNE, MAHARASHTRA 411008, INDIA *E-mail address:* manish@iiserpune.ac.in

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, THE UNIVERSITY OF TOKYO, 3-8-1 KOMABA, MEGUROKU, TOKYO 153-8914, JAPAN

E-mail address: kohara@ms.u-tokyo.ac.jp